
Notice of City Council 

AGENDA 

April 26, 2022 at 6:00 PM 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Meeting of the Montgomery City Council will be held on Tuesday, 

April 26, 2022, at  6:00 PM at  the City of Montgomery City Hall, 101 Old Plantersville Road, 

Montgomery, Texas. 

 

Members of the public may view the meeting live on the City’s website www.montgomerytexas.gov 

under Agenda/Minutes and then select Live Stream Page (located at the top of the page). The Meeting 

Agenda Pack will be posted online at www.montgomerytexas.gov. The meeting will be recorded and 

uploaded to the City’s website. 

CALL TO ORDER 

INVOCATION 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO FLAGS 

VISITOR/CITIZENS FORUM: 

Citizens are invited to speak for three (3) minutes on matters relating to City Government that relate to 

agenda or non agenda items. Prior to speaking, each speaker must be recognized by the Presiding 

Officer.  All speakers should approach the podium to address Council and give their name and address 

before sharing their comments.  City Council may not discuss or take any action on an item but may place 

the issue on a future agenda. 

CONSENT AGENDA: 

CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: 

1. Recognition of Montgomery resident Ryan Kadlubar in honor of his achieving the rank of Eagle 

Scout. 

2. Consideration and possible action to approve an Ordinance of the City of Montgomery, Texas 

amending its Municipal Budget for the Fiscal Year 2020-2021, Budget amendment No. 1; 

providing a repealing clause and a Texas Open Meetings Act Clause; and providing an 

immediate effective date. 

3. Consideration and Possible Action regarding the Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year 

ending September 30, 2021, as prepared by Belt Harris Pechacek, LLP. 

4. Consideration and possible action on applicants for Place 3 on the Planning & Zoning 

Commission. 

5. Consideration and possible action on Porter Farms Public Improvement District Presentation. 

6. Consideration and possible action on the acceptance of public infrastructure and commencement 

of the one-year warranty period for Town Creek Crossing Section One. 

7. Consideration and possible action on a variance request to storm water conveyance requirements 

of City of Montgomery Design Criteria Manual for the Hills of Town Creek Section Five 

development. 

8. Discussion and consideration of mid-year cost of living adjustment for City staff. 
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DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS: 

9. City Administrator's Report. 

10. Sales Tax Report  

11. Municipal Court Report 

12. Public Works Report 

13. Finance Report 

14. Police Department Report 

15. Utility Operations Report  

16. March 2022 Utility Report 

17. City Engineers Report 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

The City Council reserves the right to discuss any of the items listed specifically under this heading or for 

any items listed above in executive closed session as permitted by law including if they meet the 

qualifications in Sections of Chapter 551 of the Government Code of the State of Texas.: 

> 551.071(consultation with attorney),  

> 551.072 (deliberation regarding real property)  

POSSIBLE ACTION FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION: 

COUNCIL INQUIRY: 
Pursuant to Texas Government Code Sect. 551.042 the Mayor and Council Members may inquire about a 

subject not specifically listed on this Agenda. Responses are limited to the recitation of existing policy or a 

statement of specific factual information given in response to the inquiry. Any deliberation or decision shall 

be limited to a proposal to place on the agenda of a future meeting.  

ADJOURNMENT 

 

/s/Nici Browe 

Nici Browe, City Secretary 

 

I certify that the attached notice of meeting was posted on the bulletin board at City of Montgomery City 

Hall, 101 Old Plantersville Road, Montgomery, Texas, on April 22, 2022 at 4:45 p.m. I further certify that 

the following news media was notified of this meeting as stated above:  The Courier 

 

This facility is wheelchair accessible and accessible parking spaces are available. Please contact the City 

Secretary’s office at 936-597-6434 for further information or for special accommodations. 

2



Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Administration Prepared By: Richard Tramm 

 

Subject 

Recognition of Montgomery resident Ryan Kadlubar in honor of his achieving the rank of Eagle Scout. 

 

 

Recommendation 

No action is necessary for this item.   

 

 

Discussion 

Montgomery resident Ryan Kadlubar officially received the rank of Eagle Scout on April 19, 2022, 

after many years of scouting, as well as the hard work that goes towards completing the requirements 

of becoming an Eagle Scout. In honor of Ryan’s hard work and dedication towards achieving his goal 

of becoming an Eagle Scout, the City would like to present him with a flag that was flown over 

Montgomery City Hall on the same date he was to receive the rank of Eagle Scout – April 19, 2021. 

 

 

 

Approved By 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

City Administrator 

 

Richard Tramm 

 

Date: April 20, 2022 
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Administration Prepared By: Anthony Lasky 

 

Subject 

Consideration and possible action to approve an ordinance to Approve Budget Amendment No. 1 for the 

City of Montgomery FY 2020-2021 Budget. 

 

 

Recommendation 

Approve the Attached Budget Amendment ordinance for Budget Amendment No. 1 for the City of 

Montgomery FY 2020-2021.  

 

 

Discussion 

In relation to wrapping up the 2020-2021 audit, and after discussions with the City’s Auditor, it was 

found that one of the City’s budget funds needed a year end budget amendment for finalization.  These 

changes attached will properly allow these accounts to be completed in the audit without a management 

letter provided by the auditor for these items.  This amendment has been prepared in coordination with 

the auditor and is similar to previous year’s action that has been taken after the end of a fiscal year.  

  

 

 

Approved By 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

City Administrator 

 

Richard Tramm 

 

Date: April 21, 2022 
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ORDINANCE NO. 2022-__ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF MONTGOMERY, TEXAS, 

AMENDING ITS MUNICIPAL BUDGET FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 2020-2021, BUDGET 

AMENDMENT NO. 1; PROVIDING A REPEALING CLAUSE AND A TEXAS OPEN MEETINGS 

ACT CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN IMMEDIATE EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, in accordance with applicable law, the City Council of the City of Montgomery, Texas adopted 

an operating municipal budget for the fiscal year 2020-2021 on September 08, 2020. 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and the City Administrator of the City have submitted to the City Council certain 

proposed amendments to the municipal budget as permitted by law, which amended budget is set forth in and 

incorporated herein in the attached Exhibit “A;” and   

 

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the proposed budget amendments and considers them warranted 

by law and in the best interest of the municipal taxpayers;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

MONTGOMERY, TEXAS THAT: 

 

SECTION 1 That such proposed municipal budget as amended is hereby approved and adopted as Budget 

Amendment No. 1 for the City of Montgomery for the fiscal year 2020-2021, as detailed in Exhibit “A.” 

 

SECTION 2.   That the amended municipal budget may be amended from time to time as provided by law for 

the purposes of authorizing emergency expenditures or for other municipal purposes; provided, however, no 

obligation shall be incurred or any expenditure made except in conformity with the budget. 

  

SECTION 3.  Texas Open Meetings Clause.  It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting 

at which this Ordinance was considered was open to the public as required and that the public notice of the 

time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the Open Meetings Act, Chapter 551 of 

the Texas Government Code. 

 

SECTION 5.  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective immediately from the date of its 

adoption. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 26th day of April 2022. 

 

 

       __________________________________ 

       Sara Countryman, Mayor 

 ATTEST: 

 

 

 

______________________________ 

Nici Browe, City Secretary 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Alan P. Petrov, City Attorney 
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Administration Prepared By: Richard Tramm 

 

Subject 

Consideration and Possible Action regarding the Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ending 

September 30, 2021, as prepared by Belt Harris Pechacek, LLP. 

 

 

Recommendation 

Please consider this item for approval. 

 

 

Discussion 

The Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2021, will be prepared by the 

City’s auditing firm, Belt Harris Pechacek, LLP. Due to its large size, an electronic copy of the report 

has been sent to the City Council by email and a written copy will be presented to City Council at the 

meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approved By 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

City Administrator 

 

Richard Tramm 

 

Date: April 21, 2022 
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IN D E P E N D E NT A U D ITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and
City Council MembeB of the

City of Montgomery, Texas:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the govemmental activities, the business-type
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information ofthe city of Montgomery, Texas (the "city") as ofand for rhe year ended September 30, 2021,
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial
statements as listed in the table ofcontents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design. implementation. and maintenance of intemal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
offinancial statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibiliqv

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. we conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditos' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement ofthe financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the City's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe City's intemal control. Accordingly,
we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of significant accounling estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation ofthe financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opiniom.

Houston' Austin . Bellville' Woodville
3210 Bingle Rd., Ste.300, Houston,fi 77055 // P:713.263.1123 // inf@E^rditors.com // www.texasauditors.com E\o,.ro

I
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Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the govemmental activities, the business-type activities, the discretely presented component
unit. each major fund, and the €gregate remaining fund information of the City as of September 30,2021, and the
respective changes in financial position and. where applicable. cash flows thereof for the year then ended, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that lhe Management's
Discussion and Analysis, budgetary comparison information, schedule of changes in net pension liability and total
other postemployment benefits and related ratios, and schedule of contributions, identified as Required
Supplementary Information on the table of contents. be presented to supplement the basic financial statements.
Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Govemmental
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential pafi of financial reporting for placing the basic
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical contex. We have applied certain
limited procedures to the Required Supplementary lnformation in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of Americ4 which consisted of inquiries of man€ement about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial stalements. The combined statements and schedules listed as supplementary
information on the table of contents are presented for purposes ofaddirional analysis and are not a required pan of
the basic financial statements.

The combining statements and schedules are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements
and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America In our opinion, the combining statements and schedules are fairly stated in all
material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

3fo,Toors @cnecex, *p
Certifi ed P ublic Accountants
Houston, Texas
Apil 18,2022
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Grv oF MoNTGoMERY, Texas
MANAGE MENT'S D ISC USS ION AND ANALYSIS

For the Year Etrded Sept€mber 30, 2021

The purpose ofthe Management's Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is to give the readen an objective and easily
readable analysis of the financial activities of the City of Montgomery, Texas (he "City) for the year ending
September 30,2021. The analysis is based on currently known facts, decisions, or economic conditions. It
presents short and long-term analysis ofthe City's activities, compares current year results with those of the prior
year, and discusses the positive and negative aspects of thal comparison. Please read the MD&A in conjunction
with the City's financial statements, which follow this section.

THE STRUCTURE OF OLTR ANNUAL REPORT

Components of the Financial Sectiotr

Govemment-Wide
Financial

Staiements

Fund Financial
Statements

Component Unit
Fhancial

Statemeots

Summary Detail

The City's basic financial statements include (l) govemment-wide financial statements. (2) individual fund
financial statements, and (3) notes to the financial statements. This report also includes supplementary
information intended to fumish additional detail to support the basic financial slatements themselves.

Goyern men t-Wide Statements

The govemment-wide statements report information for the City as a whote. These statements include
transactions and balances relating to all assets. including infrastructure capital assets. These statements are
designed to provide information about cost of services, operating results, and financial position of the City as an
economic entity. The Statement ofNet Position and the Statement of Activities, whictr appear first in the City,s
financial statemenls. report information on the City's activities that enable the reader to understand the finaniial
condition ofthe City. These statements are prepared usingthe accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the
accounting used by most private-sector companies. All ofthe current year's revenues and expenses are taken into
account even ifcash has not yet changed hands.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City's assets. liabilities. and defened
outflows/inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in
net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or
deteriorating. Other nonfinalcial factors. such as the City's property tax base and the condition of the City's
infrastructure, need to be considered in order to assess the overall health ofthe Citv-

5

Management's
Discussion and

Analysis

Basic Financial
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Audito.s' Report
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CITY oF MoNTGoMERY, Tex^l,s
MANAGEM E NT'S D ISC ASS IO N AN D ANA LYS/J (Co nti n ued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed during the most
recent year. All changes in net position are reported.is soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change
occurs, regardless of the timing of relaled cash flows - the accrual method rather than modified accrual that is
used in the fund level statements.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities divide the City's financials into two classes of
activities:

l. Goyernmental Acttvities - Most ofthe City's basic services are reported here including general

government, municipal cour! public safety, and public works. Sales ta:r, property tax, franchise
fees, municipal court fines, and permit fees finance most ofthese activities.

2. Business-Type Activities - Services involving a fee for those services are reported here. These

services include the City's water, sewer, and sanitation services.

The govemment-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (known as the primary govemment),

but also a legally separate economic development corporation, the Montgomery Economic Development

Corporation for which the City is financially accountable. Financial information for this component unit is

reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary govemment itself The Public

Improvement District No. l. allhough also legally separate. functions for all practical purposes:LS a department of
the City and. therefore. has been included as an integral part ofthe primary govemment.

The govemment-wide financial statements can be found after the MD&A.

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMI NTS

Funds may be considered as operating companies ofthe parent corporation, which is the City. They are usually

segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate

compliance with finance related legal reporting requirements. The two categories of City funds are govemmental

and proprietary.

Governmental Funds

Govemmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in

the govemment-wide financial statements. However, unlike the govemment-wide financial statements,

govemmental fund financial statements focts on near-lerm tnflows and outJlows of spendable resources, as well
as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the year. Such information may be useful in

evaluating the City's near-term financing requirements.

Because the focus of govemrnental funds is narrower than that of the govemrnent-wide financial statements. it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental ftmds with similar information presented for
governmental ictivrtles in the govemment-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand

the long-term impact ofthe City's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and

the govimmentai fund statement of revenues. expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation

to facilitate this comparison between governmenlal funds utd gotternmental activities.

The City maintains eight individual govemmental funds. Information is presented separately in the govemmental

fund bilance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund

balances for the general fund, the debt service fun4 and the capital projects fund, which are considered to be

major ftrnds for reporting purposes.
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CITY oF MoNTGoMERY, TEXAS
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSS ION AND ANALYSIS (Contin ued)

For the Year Etrded September 30, 2021

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund, debt service frrnd, and certain special revenue
funds. Budgetary comparison schedules have been provided for these funds to demonstrate compliance with these

budgets.

Proprietan' Funds

The City maintains one type of proprietary fund. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented
as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City uses an enterprise fund to
accounl for its water, sewer, and sanitation services. The proprietary fund financial statements provide
information for the water, sewer, and sanitation flmd. The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be
found in the basic financial statements ofthis report.

Notes to Financial Statements

The notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding ofthe
data provided in the governrnent-wide and fund financial statements. The notes are the last section of the basic
financial statements.

Other Information

ln addition to the basic financial statements, MD&A, and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain
Required Supplementary Information (RSD. The RSI includes a budgetary comparison schedule for the general
fund and a schedule of changes in net pension and total other postemployment benefits liability and related ratios
and schedule of contributions for the Texas Municipal Retirement System. RSI can be found after the notes to the
basic fi nancial statements.

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator ofthe City's financial position. Assets and
deferred outflows of resources exceed liabilities and defened inflows of resources by $12,848,049 as of
September 30, 2021. A portion ofthe City's net position, 7l%, reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land,
building, equipment, improvements, construction in progress, and infrastructure), less any debt used to acquire
those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capilal assets to provide services to citizens;
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital
assels is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be
provided from other sources, since the assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

A portion of the City's net position, $281,782 or 2olo, represents resources that are subject to extemal restriction
on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $3,411,557 or 27olo, may be used to
meet the City's ongoing obligation to citizens and creditors.

7
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERy, To<ns
ll[,4NAG EMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Co ntinued)

For the Year Erded September 30, 2021

Statement of Net Position

The following table reflects the condensed Statement ofNet Position:

Sedember 30- 2021

Cowrnmental
Actirities

Business-Tvpe

-\ctifities

Total
Primar,

Gortrtrmcnt
Cu(ent ard other assets

Capital assets, net

Totrl Assets

Defened outflows - pensions

Defered outflows - OPEB

Defened charge on refunding
Toaal lxferrcd Outf,om ofResources

lrng-term liab ities

Other liabilities

Toral Lialilities
Deferred inflovrs - pensions

Tot I Dcferred lrtro$s ofRcsourc€s

Net Po6iliotr:

Net investrEnt in capitalassets
Restricted

Unrestricted
Tml N.tP6ition

Cunent and otherassets
Capitalassets, net

Toaal Assets

Deferred outflo*s - pensions

Deferred charBe on refundhg
Total Deferred Outfi osa of Resources

l-org-term liabilities
other liabilities

Tolrl Lielilities

Deferred inflo, ls - peasioas

Total Dcferrcd lnfors ofRcsources

NetPodiiion:
Net hvestment in capital assets

Restricted
Unres tricted

Total Net P6itiotr

$ 4531,840 S

5.,t04,05i
\327,85 S

t023s2n
$ 6,859,525

15.639_330

9,935.893 I 962 22.498.855

128,836

I1,I54
44,874

ll,0
953

I &1.86.1 I t.96.r 196.828

8.060,687

1.317,725

9.,1j8..112

8.083,99,r

1.6i7.100

9.ntD4282_682

126-5.10

t26_5.+0

(7,823,722)

7.n3;122

$ 565,4% $ 12282.553 $- s r2.8.r8.0+9

September 30,2020

116,849

I 16.8.19

9,691

9.691

6.743.155

281.7n
(6.,159.4,1 r )

fi23s2n

2.U7276

9,154.7t0

28t,7n
3,411.557

C,ort rnmental

Actirities
Bus ines s-TlTe

-\ctirilies

Totd
Primar]'

Ca\ernmcntReconciliation
s 4.9m,2'. $

4.7192%
r,893,5&4 $
9,s8 r,966

$ 6,793,855

t4.36t,26t
9.619j6

7?j24
2416

1I.475.550

6,412

21,t55,1t6

7\%6
24f6

74.vn 6..t12 81.-102

8,151,506

880.165

9,005

278207
8.160.511

r.r58.372

9.03t.671 287 212 9_3 | 8.E83

9.188 120.1.17

9.188 120,t17

s I1.797--188

The City has issued and repaid debt in its governrnental activities for which the proceeds were used to construct
capital assets for the govemmental and business-type activities. With one activity carrying the carrying the debt,
the result is an unusual net position presentation. The City has included a reconciliation column in the Statement
ofNet Position adjusting the net investment in capital assets. Debt associated with govemmental activities, in the
amount of $7,823,722, is being used to finance capital assets reported. Accordingly, this amount has been added
back to unrestricted net position and deducted from net investment in capital assets in total for the primary
govemment.

110.959

110.959

6.i21.923

510.952

\6.220.9491

9,581,966

1.603.5%

(8.M2,626)

8.C52.46

7,8,{.1263

51q952
3.44s273

$ 6tt,926 $ 11,185,562 $

8

Reconcilialiotr

t39.847

12107

44,874
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, TE:<ls
II,L4NAGEMENT'S DISC USS ION AND ANALYSIS (Contin ued)

For the Year Ended September 30,2021

The City's total net position increased by $1,050,561 as compared to the prior year. Both the deferred outflows
and deferred inflows ofresources related to the City's pension and other postemployment benefits plans increased
during the fiscal year when compared to the prior year. This is primarily due to the City's adoption of
supplemental death benefits for active employees and retirees in the current year. Long-term liabilities
experienced a slight decrease during the year due to the refunding of series 2012 debt from a debt refund issuance
and scheduled debt principal payments. Other liabilities experienced an increase due to an increase in uneamed
revenue from grant awards and tax rebates payable. Total assets experienced an increase primarily due to capital
additions net of depreciation.

Statement of ActiYities

The following table provides a summary ofthe City's changes in net position

Business-TlTe
Actiiities

Total
Primary

Croarnment
2021 2020

520,720 $ L016,795 $ 1,819,370

773,613

$ ,.693.865

537,&t
$ ?,340,090

1'73.6',13

2021
Re!tnues

Program revenues :

Charges for services

Operating grants and contnbutions
Ceneral revenues :

Property ta'es
Sales ta..€s

Other fees and taes
Otherrevenues

Total Rerenues

275.858 211.3r7

1.232084

3.008.921

158.600

545.173

s 617.010 $

531,404

l-232084

3,m8.921

158-600

269-315

1,1M,122

z3@;n2
rs13%
175.650

5.823.394 5.086.873 L35L653 2,Cff.87 8.176.0.17 1-1t7-5@

ExpeNes
CEneral govemrrent
Municipal court
Public safetv
Public vvor*s

lnterest and fiscal agent fees

Water- se*er, and sanitation
Totrl Expenses

1.882.94i

5.244i.13 4.051-25 t 1.882.943

1.828.212

1.828.212 7.125.18(; 5.879..163

1.716093

1,],L 18.1

1.839.730

910.768

331.768

1,303.043

329.86)

1,315,651

89n.,712

2tt.E16

1.303.043

329,869

1-315.6i1

890,712

211.9'.16

r.828.212

1.7r6.093
,!14,184

t.839,730

910.768

331.768

1.882943

Increase in,\"et Position
Before Transfers 1.050.561 t-268-@7580.851

621281\

1.035,622

(l.6lzl08)

469-710

627.281

23L475

r.612,108

(576.480

l.l8&412
$ 565,4% $ 6i-96 $ 12282553 $ 11.185.562 $lZ 8.18,049 $ 11.797,488

For the year ended September 30, 2021, revenues from governmental activities totaled $5,823,394, which is a net
increase of$736,521 from the prior year. Significant increases were reported in sales and property taxes due to an
increase in economic activity and increases in property tax collections related to increases in property valuations
within the City. These increases were offset by a decrease in operating grants and contributions, which were
attributed to Federal Emergency Management Agency revenues received in the prior year for disaster-related
expenses.

TEnsfers in (out)

Change id Nct Po6 ition
Beginning net position

frdog Net Po6itiod

t.096.991

I l-185.562

1.8,u,583

9.340,979

r,050,561

tt-197-488
1.268.097

10.529.i91

(46,430)

6|-926

9

Golernmental
.\ctirities

2021 2020 2020

I,tM;722

L3A,7D
151,3%

416^967
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C]TY oF MoNTGoMERY, Trrns
MANAGEMENT'S D ISCUSSION AND ANALVSB (Contin ued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

For the year ended September 30, 2021, expenses for govemmental activities totaled 55,242,543, which was an
overall increase of $1,191,292 from the prior year. The largest increases were in the general govemment due to
HOME Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) grant expenses and increased 380 agreement reimbursements,
and in the public safety related to payroll expenses.

Net position before transfers for business-type activities increased $237,235 compared to the prior year.
Revenues experience an increased by $291,966 compared to the prior year due to an increase in charges for
services and other revenues. Expenses increased $54,731 compared to the prior year due to an increase in
operating expenses for the City during the year to support water, sewer, and sanitation operations.

FI}{ANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS

As noted earlier, fund accounting is used to demonstrate and ensure compliance with finance-related legal
requirements-

Governmental Funds - The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the City's net
resources available for spending at the end ofthe year.

The City's governmental funds reflect a combined fund balance of $3,144,122. Of this, $1,576,010 is restricted
or committed for various purposes. The remaining balance of$1,568,1 12 is unassigned in the general fund.

There was a net decrease in the combined fund balance of 5620,478 compared to the prior year. This net
reduction is largely seen in the capital projects fund, which had an overall decrease in fund balance of $245,9i4
due primarily to transfers to the water, sewer, and sanitation fund for capital purposes. The debt service fund also
had a large decrease in fund balance of $228,165, which can be contributed to scheduled debt service payments.

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end ofthe cunent year, unassigned fund balance
ofthe general fund was $1,568,112. As a measure of the general fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare
both the unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Both unassigned and total
fund balance represents 30 percent of total general fund expenditures. Revenue increased over the prior year
primarily due to increases in sales and property ta,\ revenues, which can be attributed to an increase in residents

shopping locally during COVID-19 and an increase in property ta.x valuations. Expenditures also experienced an
increase compared to the prior year totaling $ 1,616,219 with the largest increases seen in general govemment and

capital outlay. The general govemment increase of$593,840 can be attributed to construction cost for the HOME
grart and increases in Chapter 380 agreement reimbursements. Increase in capital outlay expenditures of
S590,730 is largely due to purchase of land in the curent year. The net increase of revenue and expenditures

demonstrated an overall decrease of$145,374 in the general frmd when compared to the prior year.

The debt service fund has a total fund balance of $195,630, all of which is restricted for the payment of debt

service. The net decrease in fund balance during the year was $228,165. This decrease can be attributed to
scheduled debt service payments net of property tax revenues and other sources and uses from issuance of
refunding debt.

The capital projects fund reported a decrease of $245,934 in fund balance. This is primarily the result of transfers

to the water, sewer, and sanitation fund for capital purposes.

Proprietary Funds - The City's proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information
found in the govemment-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

l0
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There had been a planned use offund balarce in the amount of S1.108,012 in the general fund. However the net
change in fund balance was a decrease of $145,374. resulting in a net positive variance of $962,638 from budget
over actual. Actual general fund revenues were more than final budgeted revenues by $915,903 during 2021.
The majority of this increase is due from HOME grant revenue received to reimburse the City for reconstruction
costs of resident homes that was not anticipated for in the budget. Additionally. there was a positive budget
variance for expenditures of $40,937 that also contributed to the net positive variance.

CAPITAL ASSETS

At the end of the current fiscal year. the City's governmental and business-rype activities had invested
$15,639,330 in a variety ofcapital assets and infrastructure (net of accumulated depreciation). This represents a
net increase of $1,278.069.

Major capital asset events durinB the cunent year include the foltowing:

. Infrastructureimprovements
o Construction in progress

More detailed information about the City's capital assets is presented in note III. C. to the financial statements

LONG.TER}I DEBT

More detailed information about the City's long-term liabilities is presented in note III. D. to the financial
statements.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BIIDGf,T

At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total bonds and certificates of obligation outstanding of
S7,155,000. Of this amount. S4,855,000 was general obtigation debt and tax and revenue certificatea of
obligation accounted for $2,300,000.

The City adopted a fiscal year 2021-2022 expenditure budget of$5,247,715 which is an increase of$1,345,980
from the prior year budget. The City budgeted for fiscal year 202l-2022 revenues of $5,190,215 which is an
increase of $1,338,480 from the prior year budget. The tax rate for 2ozl-2022 fiscal year will be $0.4000 per
$100 of tarable property value. All ofthese factors were considered in preparing the City's budget for the 20il-
2022 fiscal year.

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances. euestions conceming any
of the information provided in this report or requests for additional finanaial information should be addressid tL
Richard rramm, City Administrator, l0l old Plantersville Rd., Montgomery, Texas 77316; g36-sg7-6434.

1l

Crrv oF MoNTGoMERv, Trxns
MANAGEMENT'S DISCaSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HTGIILIGHTS
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Tuls
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Septembcr 30, 2021

Primarv Governmcnt

Governmental
Activities

Business-T1pe
Activities Reconciliation Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash with fiscal agent
Investments
Receivables, net of allowances
Intemal balances
Due from compoo€nt unit
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalens

Capital assas:
Nondepreciable capital assets

Depreciable capital assets, net

Deferred Outllows of Resources
Deferred outflows - pensions

Deferred outllows - OPEB
Deferred charge on refunding

Total Deferred Outllows of Resources

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabitities
Uneamed revenue
Accrued interest payable
Due to primary govemment
Customer deposits
Noncunent liabilities:

Long-term liabilities due within
one year

Long+erm liabilities due in more
than one year

Total Liabilities

Deferred lnllows of Resources
Defened inflows - pensions

Totd Dcferred InIIows of Resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted for:
Economic development
Debt service
Tourism
Public safety
Grants

Unrestricted
Totsl N€t Position

See Notes to Financial Statements.

5,404,053 r0.235.27'.7

Total Assets 9,935,893 12,562,962

S 2,458,624
988,256
353,000
725,321

539E
I,l4l

100,000
299,'t'19

(s,498)
I l9

4,268,149
988,256
453,000

1,025,100

1.260

t23,'.l60

$ 1,809,525 $ s

t23.760
4,531.E40 2,327.6E5 6,859,525

|,743,730
3,660,323

1,253,131
8,982,146

2,996,861
12,642,469
15.639.330

22.498.855

128,836
I1,154
44,874

11,011
953

139,847
12,10'l
44,8',14

184.864 11.9@ 196,828

1,191,128

t70,592
16,005

530,796

7,529.891

l3 5.615

123,',?60

6,255

l',l,052

1,326,743
170,592

16,005

123,760

537,051

7,546,943

9,438,412 282.682 9;72t,094

6,',143,155 10,235,277

195,630
17,392
68,',l40

20
(6As9.44r) 2.041 .216

s 12.282.553

(7,823,722) 9,t54,7 t0

'7.823;t22

195,630
t7,392
68,740

20
3,4tt,55'1

$ 565,496 S

l4

$ 12,848,049

I 16.849
116,849 9.69t

126.5.10

l]6i10
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Component
Unit

NTEDC

$ 2,103,230

203,93 t

2.30',7 ,t6l

2.30',7,161

346,7 t'7

1,260

34'7,977

1,959,184

$ t,959 .184

l5
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Ter<ls
STATEMENT OF ACTIWTIES

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Program ReveDues

Functiotrs,rPrograms ExpeDses

Cbarges for
Services

Operating
Grauts aud

Contributions
PriEery Governmelt

Govertrmetrtal Activities
General govemment

Municipal court
Public safety

Public work
Intercsl alld fiscal agellt fees

$ 1,716,093

444,tU
1,839,730

910,768
331,768

2tt,t92 $ 537AM
405,878

S

Total Govertrmetrtal .A.ctivities 5.242.543

Business-Type Activities
Water, sewer, and sanitation services

Total Business-Type Activities

Total PriEary Government

Compotrent Udt
Montgomery Econornic Development Corporation

Total CoEpotretrt Unit

6t7,070 53',t.4M

1,882,943

1,882.943

2,0't6.795

2.0'76.795

$ 7,125,486 $ 2,693,865 S s37,404

$ 671.946 $ S

s 61t.946 $ S

Gencral Revenues:
hoperty taxes

Sales taxes

Franchise fees and other taxes

Other taxes

Investsnent revelue
Other revenues

Transfers

Beginning net position

Total Getreral Revenues and Transfers

Change itr Net PositioL

Ending Net Positioo

See Notes to Financial Statements.

l6
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Net Revetrue (Erpense) and Changes ilr Net Positiotr
Primrrv Government Compotrent Unit

Governmetrtal
Activities

Busitress-Type
Activities Total NIEDC

s (967,497) $

(38,306)
(1,839,730)

(910,768)
(331,768)

$ (967,497) $
(38,306)

(1,839,730)
(910,768)
(331,768)

(4.088.06e) (4.088.06e)

193,852 193,852

193,852 lal Rsl

(4.088,069) 193,852 (3,894,2t7)

1,232,084
3,008,921

9t,t47
67,453
2,t02

267,213
(627,281')

970
274,888
627,281

1,232.084
3,008,921

91,147

67 ,453
3,072

542,t0t

t.002.9'7 4

6,398
I t)o

4.041.639 903,139 4.944 .778 1,010.692

(46,430)

6tt,926

1,096,991

11,185,562

1,050.561 338;7 46

11 '79'1 488 1,620.438

496 $ 12,282,553 $ 12,848,049 $ 1.959.18.1$ s65

(67 t.946)
(6',7 r,946)

t7
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Trxls
BALANCE SHEET

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
September 30, 2021

General Debt Service

Capital
Projects

NoDmajor
Governmental

SsE
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash with fiscal agent

Investments
Receivables, net
Due from component unit
Due from other funds

Total Liabilities

Fund Balances
Restricted for:

Debt service
Tourism
Capital projects

Grants
Committed for:

Public safety

Unassigned
Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inllows of
Resources, and Fund Balances

See Notes to Financial Statements.

$ r,590,994 $ 195,630 $ 596,629 $

988,256

?? ?oo

7 5,37 t_

105

353,000
67 5,401

1,141

5,498

12,t21

Total Assets $ 2,626,034 !______2ut:)_ $ 1,622,684

$ 328,4s6

s 7s,476

$$ S532,516
105

330,156

170,592
1,033,369 328,456

13,87'1

10,6'7 6

1,568,1l2
1,578,788

t2,12t

195,630

I )O1 ?19

I7 ',lo',)

20

58,064

I )aa )19. 14 476

$ 2,626,034 s 207,751 $ '7 5,176

18

Liabilities
Accounts payable ard accrued liabilities
Due to other funds
Due to others

Uneame d revenue

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unavailable revenue - property ta\es

195,630

s 1.621.68.1
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Total

s 2,458,624

988,256

353,000
72s,32r

1,141

5,603
$ 4,531,945

860,9'12

105

330,156

t70.592

)i ooa

195,630

t'7J92
1,294,228

20

68,740
1,568,1l2
3,144,122

$ 4,531,945

1,361,825

$

t9
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ClrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Txx^ls
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOWRNMENTAL

FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

September 30, 2021

Total fund balances - total govemmental funds

Amounts reported for govemmental activities in the Statement ofNet Position are
different because:

Capital ass*s used in govemmental activities are not culretrt financial resources
and, therefore, not reported in the governmental funds.

Capital assets, nondepreciable
Capital assets, net depreciable

Long-term liabilities and deferred outflows and deferred inllows related to pensions

and other postemployment benefit (OPEB) are d€ferred in the govemmental firnG.
Net pension liability
Defened outflows - pensions

Deferred inflows - pensions

Totat OPEB liability
Deferred outflows - OPEB

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures

and, therefore. are deferred in the governmental funds.

Long+erm liabilities are aot due and payable in the curent period and, therefore,
are not reported in the govemmental funds.

Accrued interest payable

Noncunent liabilities due in one year

Noncurrent liabilities due in more than one vear
Deferred charge on refunding

Net Position of Governmental Activitics

See Notes to Financial Statements.

$ 3,144,122

t,743,730
3,660,323

(48,604)

128,836

(l 16,849)
(76,366)

I 1,154

25,998

(16,005)

(530,796)

(7 AM92t)
44,874

S 565.496

2t
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crIY OF MONTGOMERY, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF REWNUES, EXPENDITARES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BAI.,/INCES

GOVERNMENTAL FI/flDS
For the Year Erded September 30, 2021

Debt
Senice

Capital
Projects

Nonmajor
GoYertrmentrl

Revenues

Property taxes

Sales taxes

Franchise fees

Other taxes

Liceases and permits

Fines and forfeitures

Other revelue
Intergovemmental
Investment revelue

Expenditures
Current:

General govemment

Municipal court
Public safety

Public works
Capital outlay
Debt service:

Principal
lnterest and fiscal agent fees

Total ReveIlues 5.268,138

S 876,606 $

3,008,921

91,14',7

65,104
211,1,92

400,949
1,07,2t3
505,1%

1,8i0

385,756 S

t'l9

160,000

32,208
98

S

2,349

4,929

l5

385,935 192.306 7lo1

1,617,410
425,891

1,608,457

724,152
805,706 5 t,153

455,000
369,109

Total Erpeuditures 5.181.616 824.109 5 r.153

Excess (Dcficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Erpenditures

Othcr Finsncitrq Sources ruses)
Refunding bonds issued

Premium on refi.urding bonds

Paymelt to refunded bond escrow agent

Transfen in
Transfers (out)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change itr FuLd Balances

Begiruing fund balances

Ending Fund Balances

See Notes to Financial Statements.

86.522 (438.174) l.l1.153 7 )q1

4,495,000

605,566
(4,890.557)

E,298

(24O,194',)

240,t94
(627.28t) (8.298)

(231.896) 2 r0.009 (387.087) (8.298)

(145,374)

1,724,162

s 1.578.788

(22E.165)

423.795

(24s,934)

1,540,162

(1,005)

76,48r

$ 195,630 $ 1,294,228 $ ',75,476

22
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Totel

$ 1,262,362

3,008,921

91,147

67 453
2tt,192
405,878

267,213
53',7,404

2,102

8s3,672

1,617,410

425,891
1,608,457

1),L 1\)
856,859

455,000
369,109

6,056,878

(203,206)

4,495,000
60s,s66

(4,890,ss7)
248,492

(87 s,773)

(417.212)

(620,478)

3,764,600

23

s 3,144,122

36
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Crrv oF MoNTGoMERY, Tqrrc
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REWNUES, EXPENDITURES,
AAID CHANGES IN FAND BAL-ANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO THE

STATEMENT OF ACTIWTIES
tror the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Amou[ts reported for governmental activities in the Statement ofActivities are different because:

Net changes in fund balances - total governmental funds s

Govemmental fuods report capital oudays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of
Activities, the cost ofthose assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported as

depreciation expense.

Capital additions

Depreciation expense

The issuance oflong-term debt (e.g., bonds and certificates ofobligation) provides current
financial resources to governrnental fi.rnds, while the repayment ofthe principal of long+erm
debt consumes the current financial resoulces ofgovemmental funds. Neither transaction,
however, has any effect on net position. AIso, governmental funds report the effect of
premiums, discounts, and similar iterns when debt is first issued, whoreas these amounts arc

deferred and amonized in the Statcment ofActivities.
Principal payments

Debt issued

Payment to escrow agent

Net change in defered charges on refunding

Accrued interest
Premium on refunding
Premium amortization

Revenue in the Statement of Activities that do€s not provide current financial resources
is not reported as revenue in the funds.

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ (46,430)

See Notes to Financial Statements

(620,478)

909,347
(284,589)

455,000
(4,495,000)

4,890,557
(3,149)
1,020

(60s,s66)

39,470

(23,1 1s)
(264,8s9)
104,539

(54,117)
(76,366)

1 1,154

(30,278)

25

Some expsllses reported in the Statemetrt ofActiyities do trot require the use ofcurrent
financial resources and, thereforg are not reported as expenditures in the govemmental fimds.

CompeDsated absences

Not pension liability
Deferred outflows - pensions

Deferred inllows - pensions

Total OPEB liability
Defened outflows - OPEB

38
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Crv oF MoNTGoMERY, Terns
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUND
September 30,2021

Assets

Curretrt assets

Cash and equity in cash and investments

Investmerlts

Accounts receivable (net of allowance for uncollectibles)
Due from component unit
Restricted cash and cash equivalents

Customer dgposits

Noncurrent assetc

Capital assets:

Nondepreciable
Depreciable (net of depreciation)

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows - pensions

Deferred outflows - OPEB

Liabilities Net Position
Curent Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Due to other fimds
Compensated absences

Payable from restricted assets

Customer deposits

Notrcurretrt liabilities
Net pension liability
Total OPEB liability
Compensated absences

Deferred llflows of Resources

Deferred inflows - pensions

Net Positiotr
Net irvestment in capital assets

Unrestricted net position

Business-Type
Activities

Water, Sewer,
and Satritation

1,809,525

100,000

299,779

I l9

123.,760

Total curretrt Assett ---Effi

r.253,131

8.982 146

Total Capital Assets (Net)

Total Noncurretrt Assets

Total Assets

l0 4 711

10,235,277

t2.56 8.460

I l,0l I
953

Total Deferred Outllows of Resources 11,964

135,615

5.498
6 r55

t23.760

Total Current Liabilities 271.128

6.s23
9,304

s

Total Noncrrrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

052t7

288,180

Total Deferred lnflows of Resources
9.691
9,69t

10,235,277

2,04.7,2'76

Total Net Positior $ 12.282,553

See Notes to Financial Statements.
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GIrv oF MoNTGoMERY, Texls
STATEMENT OF REWNUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARYFWD
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Business-Type
Activities

Water, Serder,

and Sanitation
Ooerating Revenues

Water service

Sewer service

Sanitation service

Meter installations
Other revmue

Ooerating Exoenses

Water. sewer. and sanitation
Salaries and wages

Depreciatioo

NonoDeratitrg ReveIues (ExDenses)

Investment revenue

Transfers
Transfers in

Beginning net position

See Notes to Financial Statements.

$ 795,495
114 7)i
193,738

352,839
274,888

Total Operafitrg Revenues 2,351,683

r,064,061

390,188

428,694

Total Operatirg Expenses

Operating Income

1,882,943

468,740

910

Total Nonoperating Reveaues

Income Before Transfers

Total Transfers

Change in Net Position

185,562

Ending Net Positiotr $ 12,282,553

910

469.710

62',7,281

62'1.281,

r.096,991

11

29
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Crv oF MoNTGoMERv, TExAs
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND (Page 1 of 2)
For the Year Eoded September 30, 2021

Cash Flows from ns Activities
Receipts from customers and users

Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Nonc ital Finarcins Activities
Transfers fiom other funds

Net Cash Provided by Noncapital Finatrcitrg Activities

Cash Flows from Caoital atrd Related Fitrancipq Activities
Acquisition and construction of capital ass€ts

Net Cash (Used) by Capital and Related Financing Activities

eash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of investments

Interest on investments

Beginning cash and cash equivalents

Net Cash(Used) by Investing Activities

Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Ending Cash and Cash Equivaletrts

Ending Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalenrs

See Notes to Financial Statements-

Business-Type
Activities

Water, Sewer,
and Sanitatiotr

S 2,327 ,17 6
(1,154,453)

(359,539)

813, t 84

62',7.281

62',7,281

( 1,082 .005)

(1 082.005)

(r00,000)
9'/0

(99.030)

259,430

1,673,855

$ 1,933,285

s 1,809,525

123,',760

$ 1.933.235
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Crv or MoxreoMERY, Texls
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

PROPRIETARY FUND @age 2 of2)
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Reconciliation of Operating lncome (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

Operating income
Adjustmetrts to Reconcile Operating Itrcome

to Net Cash Provided by
Operatitrg Activities:
Depreciation

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
(lncrease) Decrease in Curretrt Assets:

Accounts receivable

Defered outflows - pensions

DeGred outflows - OPEB

Due from other funds

Net pension liability
Total OPEB liability

Itrcrease (Decrease) in Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

Due to other furds
Compensated absences

Customer deposits

DeGrred inflows - pensions

See Notes to Financial Statements.

Busioess-T!pe
Activities

Water, Sewer,
and SanitatioIl

$ 468,740

428,694

(32,7s7)
(4,599)

(e53)

3,462
)) A)1

6,523

(2',7,082)

(66;772)

6,554

8,250

s03

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities S 813,184
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Crv oF MoNTcoMERY, Texls

I. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Montgomery, Texas (the "City") was incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas,
(the "state") in 1935.

The City operates under a "General Law" City, which provides for a "Mayor-Council" form of
govemment. The City Council is the principal legislative body of the City. The City Administrator is
appointed by a majority vote of the City Council and is responsible to the Council for the
administration of all affairs of the City. The City Administrator is responsible for the appointment
and removal ofdepartment directors and employees. supervision and control ofall City departments.
and preparation of the annual budget. The City provides the following services: general
administratioq municipal court; public safety; public works; and water, sewer, and sanitation
services.

The City is an independent political subdivision of the State govemed by an elected council and a
mayor and is considered a primary goverrrment. Its activities are not considered a part of any other
governmental or other type of reporting entity. As required by generally accepted accounting
principles, these basic financial statements have been prepared based on considerations regarding the
potential for inclusion of other entities, organizations, or firnctions as part of the City's financial
reporting entity. The component units, as listed below, although legally separate. are considered part
of the reporting entity. No other entilies have been included in the City's reporting entity.
Additionally, as the City is considered a primary govemment for financial reporting purposes, its
activities are not considered a part of any other governmental or other type ofreporting entity.

Montqomery Economic Develonment Cornoration

On December 14, 1995, the City incorporated the Montgomery Industrial Development Corporation.
In July 2013, the name was changed to Montgomery Economic Development Corporation (MEDC).
The purpose of this nonprofit corporation is to promote economic development within the City and
the State in order to eliminate unemployment and underemployment; to promote and encourage
employment and the public welfare of for, and on behalfofthe Cityt and for improving the assessed
valuations through the promotion of (a) existing business enterprise expansion and retention ard (b)
new business enterprise development and attraction by developing, implementing, providing, and
financing projects. A one-half of one percent City sales tax is designated for this purpose. Separate

NOTES TO FINANCAL STATEMENTS
For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Considerations regarding the potential for inclusion of other entities. organizations, or functions in
the City's financial reporting entity are based on criteria prescribed by generally accepted accounting
principles. These same criteria are evaluated in considering whether the City is a part of any other
governmental or other type of reporting entity. The overriding elements associated with prescribed
criteria considered in determining that the City's financial reporting entity status is that of a primary
government are that it has a separately elected goveming body. it is legally separate, and is fiscally
independent of other state and local govemments. Additionally, prescribed criteria under generally
accepted accounting principles include considerations pertaining to organizations for which the
primary govemment is financially accountable and considerations pertaining to organizations for
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary govemment are such that
exclusion would cause the reporting entity's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.

Discretely Presented Component Unit
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Blended Componetrt Unit

Public Improvement District (PID) No. I

Following a public hearing on September 30, 2014, the City Council created the City of Montgomery
Public Improvement District (PID) No. I in accordance with Chapter 372 of rhe Local Govemment
Code. The PID was created to provide a method of financing certain public improvements for the
benefit of property in the PID, the costs ofwhich would be paid by owners of real property located in
the PID, subject to limitations contained in the service and assessment plan. Public improvements
included creation costs of the PID, as well as roadway, water distribution system, storm sewer
collection system, and wastewater collection system improvements. These public improvements
were funded from developer revenues before construction began. The developer will be repaid in
annual installments over a fifteen-year period through assessments to the property owners in the PID,
the timing of which begins after the Cify has issued a certificate of occupancy for completed
permanent structures; however, such date shall not occur before the trigger dare of September 1,

2017. The City retains the right to create a board to manage the PID, but cunently retains all
management capacity at year end.

B. Government-Wide Financial Statements

The governmenl-wide financial stalements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of
Activities) report information on all of the activities of the primary govemrnent. Governmental
activities, which normally are supported by ta,xes, intergovernmental revenues. and other
nonexchange transactions, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a
significant extent on fees and charges to extemal customers for support. Likewise, lhe primary
goveftiment is reported separately from certain legally separate component lznits for which the
primary govemment is financially accountable.

While separate govemment-wide and fund financial statements are presented, they are interelated.
The govemmental activities column incorporates data from govemmental funds, while business-type
activities incorporate data from the City's enterprise funds. Separate financial statements are

provided for govemmental and proprietary funds.

As a general rule. the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the govemment-wide
financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu ofta-res where the amounts
are reasonably equivalent in value to the interfund services provided and other charges between the
City's water, sewer, and sanitation functions and various other functions of the City. Elimination of
these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions
concemed-

crrY oF MONTGOMERY, TEX^C,S
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

financial statements of the MEDC are not prepared. The MEDC is included in the City's reporting
entity because of the significance of its operational or financial relationship with the City. The City
appoints a majority of this MEDC's board members and is either able to impose its will on it or a

fi nancial benefi tburden exists.

C. Basis of Presentation - Government-Wide Financial Statements
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Texrc
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

D. Basis ofPresentation - Fund Financial Statem€nts

The fund financial statements provide information aboul the City's funds. Separate statements for
each fund category - govemmental and proprietary - are presented. The emphasis offund financial
statements is on major governmenlal and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All
remaining govemmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.

The City reports the following govemmental funds

The general fmd is the City's primary operating fund. It is used to account for and report all
financial resources not accounted for and reported in other funds. The principal sources ofrevenues
include local property ta-\es, sales ta-res, franchise fees, licenses and permits, fines and forfeitures,
and charges for services. Expenditures include general government, municipal court, public safety,
and public works. The general fund is always considered a major fund for reporting purposes.

The debt semice fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest on all long-term debt of the City.
The primary source of revenue for debt service is local property taxes. The debt service fund is
considered a major fund for reporting puryoses.

The capitql projects fund is used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlay, including the acquisition of capital
facilities and olher capital assets. The capital projects fund is considered major for reporting
purposes.

The City reports the following enterprise fund:

During the course of operations, the City has activity between funds for various purposes. Any
residual balances outstanding at year end are reported as due from/to other funds and advances
to/from other funds. While these balances are reported in fund financial statements. certain
eliminations are made in the preparation of the govemment-wide financial statements. Balances
between the funds included in govemmental activities (i.e., the govemmental funds) are eliminated
so that only the net amount is included as intemal balances in the govemmental activities column.
Similarly. balances between the funds included in business-type activities (i.e., the enterprise fund)
are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as intemal balances in the business-type
activities column.

i5

The special revenue funds are used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditure for specific purposes other than debt service
or capital projects. The special revenue funds include the grants fund, the hotel occupancy fund, the
court security fund, the court technology fund, and the police asset forfeiture fund. The special
revenue funds are considered nonmajor funds for reporting purposes.

The enterprise fund is used to account for the operations that provide water, sewer, and sanitation
services. The services are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business
enterprises where the intent of the goveming body is that the costs (expenses including
depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis will be
financed or recovered primarily through user charges. The water, sewer. and sanitation fund is
considered a major fund for reporting purposes.
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CITY oF MoNTGoMERv, TEx^q,s
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Further, certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In
fund financial statements, these amounts are reported at gross amounts as transfers inlout. While
reported in fund financial statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the
govemment-wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds included in governmental
activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the govemmental
activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-type activities are
eliminated so thal only the net amount is included as intemal balances in the business-type activities
column.

E. Measurement Focus and Basis ofAccounting

The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus
and basis of accounting. Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as

current Jinancial resources or economic resources. The basis of accounting indicates the timing of
transactions or events for recognition in the financial statements.

The govemment-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
eamed and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing ofrelated cash
flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon iu all eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider have been met.

The govemmental fund financial statements are reported using the current fnancial resources
measurement focus and the modifed accrual futsis of qccounting. Revenues are recognized as soon
as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities ofthe current period.
For this purpose, the City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of
the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred,
as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to
compensated absences and claims and judgrnents, are recorded only when payment is due. General
capital asset acquisitions are reponed as expenditures in govemmental funds. lssuance of long-term
debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

Property ta\es, sales taxes, franchise fees, licenses, and interest associated with the current fiscal
period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues oflhe
current fiscal period. Entitlements are recorded as revenues when all eligibility requirements are met,
including any time requirements, and the amount is received during the period or within the
availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year end). Expenditure-driven grants
are recognized as revenue when the qualiling expenditures have been incurred and all other
eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount is received during the period or within the
availability period for this revenue source (within 60 days of year end)- All other revenue items are
considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received by the City.
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Crv or MoxrGoMERY, Tr:ns
NOTES TO FINANCAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30,2021

F. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources, and Net Positiotr-/Fund Balance

l. Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-
term investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. For
the purpose of the slatement of cash flows, the proprietary fund types consider temporary
investments with maturity of thrce months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

2. Investments

Investments, except for certain investment pools, commercial paper, money market funds, and
investment contracts, are reported at fair value. The investment pool operates in accordance with
appropriate state laws and regulations and are reported at amortized cost. Money market funds,
which are short-term highly liquid debt instruments that may include U.S. Treasury and agency
obligations and commercial paper that have a remaining maturity of one year or less upon
acquisition, are reported at amortized cost. Investments in nonparticipating interest eaming contracts,
such as certificates ofdeposit, are reported at cost.

The City has adopted a written investment policy regarding the investment of its funds as defined in
the Public Funds lnvestment Act, Chapter 2256, Texas Govemment Code. ln summary, the City is
authorized to invest in the following:

Direct obligations of the U.S. Govemment or U.S. Govemment agencres
Fully collateralized certifi cates of deposit
Money market mutual funds that meet certain criteria
Bankers' acceptances

Statewide investment pools

3. Restricted Assets

Certain proceeds of bonds, as well as other resources set aside for specific purposes, are classified as

restricted assets on the balance sheet because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants or
contrachral agreements.

4. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant. equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g-, roads.
bridges. sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable govemmental or business-type
activities columns in the govemment-wide financial statements. In accordance with GASB
Statement No. 34. infrastructure has been capitalized retroactively. Capital assets are defined by the
City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5.000 and an estimated useful life in
excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at the date of
donation.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed.
Interest costs incurred in connection with construction of enterprise fund capital assets are
capitalized when the effects of capitalization materially impact the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend assets' lives are not capitalized.

Property, plant, and equipment of the primary govemment are depreciated using the straight-line
method over the following estimated useful years:

Asset Description
Estimated
llseful Life

Buildings and improvements
Fumiture and equipment
Vehicles
Infi'astructure

20 years
5 to 20 years

5 years
20 to 40 years

5, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets. the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section for
deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element. deferred outJlows of
resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will ror
be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. ln addition to liabilities.
the statement of financial position will sometimes repon a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inJlows of resottces. represents an
acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will nol be recognized as an
inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

Defened outflows/inflows ofresources are amortized as follows:

Deferred outflows/inflows from pensiofl./ other postemployment benefits (OPEB) activities
are amortized over the average of the expected service lives of pension plan members,
excepl for the net differences between the projected and actual investment eamings on the
pension plan assets, which are amortized over a period offive years.
For employer pensior/OPEB plan contributions that were made subsequent to the
measurement date through the end of the City's fiscal year, the amount is deferred and
recognized as an increase to the net pension asset during the measurement period in which
the contributions were made.
A deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrving value of refunded
debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over the shoner of
the life of the refunded or refundino dphr

At the fund level. the City has only one type of item. which arises only under a modified accrual
basis of accounting, that qualifies for reporting in this category. Accordingly. the item. unavailable
revenue, is reported only in the govemmental funds balance sheet. The govemmental funds report
unavailable revenues from property ta.\es. This amount is deferred and recognized as an inflow of
resources in the period that the amount becomes available.

6. Compensated Employee Absences

The City maintains formal programs for vacation and sick leave. The City's fuIl-time. permanent
employees are granted vacation pay benefits in varying amounts to specified maximums depending
on tenure with the City. The City's personnel policy permits its full-time, pennanent employees to
accumulate eamed but unused vacation pay benefits. Upon separation with the City, employees will
be paid for their accrued and unused vacation pay benefits.
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NOTES TO FINANCL4L STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30,2021

Sick leave accrues to full-time, permanent employees to specified ma,ximums but, upon separation
with the City, employees will not be paid for accumulated sick leave.

The liability for compensated absences reported in the govemment-wide and proprietary fund
statements consist of unpaid, accumulated vacation balances. The liability has been calculated using
the vesting method, in which leave amounts for both employees who currently are eligible to
receive lermination payments and other employees who are expected to become eligible in the
future to receive such payments upon termination are included. Vested or accumulated vacation
leave and compensated leave of govemment-wide and proprietary funds are recognized as an

expense and liability ofthose funds as the benefits accrue to employees.

It is the City's policy to liquidate compensated absences with future revenues rather than with
currently available expendable resources. Accordingly, the City's govemmental funds recognize
accrued compensated absences when they are paid.

7. Long-TermObligations

ln the fund financial statements, govemmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts,
as well as bond issuance costs. during the current period. The face amount ofdebt issued is reported
as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. lssuance costs,
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service
expenditures.

The property tax rate is allocaled each year between the general and debt service funds. The full
amount estimated to be required for debt service on general obligation debt is provided by the tax
along with the interest earned in the debt service fund. Although a portion ofthe general obligation
debt was directly related to the purchase of water and sewer infrastructure, the debt service
expenditures are included in the govemmental fund financial statements as they are expected to be
paid from debt service tax revenues instead of water system revenues.

8. Net Position FIow Assumption

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted
bond or grant proceeds) and uffestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as
restricted net position and unrestricted net position in the govemmenrwide and proprietary fund
financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are
considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to consider restricted net position to have been
depleted before unrestricted net position is applied.

39

ln the govemment-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable
govemmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of Net Position.
Bond premiums and discounts are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the
straightline method. if material. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or
discount.
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For the Year Ended September 30,2021

9. Fund Balance Flow Assumptions

Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted
resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund batance). In order to calculate the
amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance in the
govemmental fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which
the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to consider restricted fund balance
to have been depleted before using any of the components of uffestricted fund balance. Further,
when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same purpose, committed
fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balance is
applied last.

10. Fund Balance Policies

Fund balances of governmental funds are reported in various categories based on the nature of any
limitations requiring the use of resources for specific purposes. The City itself can establish
limitations on the use of resources through either a commitment (committed fund balance) or an
assignment (assigned fund balance).

Amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable form or legally or
contractually required to be maintained intact are classified as nonspendable fund balance. Amounts
that are extemally imposed by creditors, grantors, contributon, or laws or regulations of other
governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions are classified as restricted.

The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for the specific
purposes determined by a formal action ofthe City's highest level of decision-making authority. The
City Council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the City that can, by adoption of a
resolution prior to the end of the fiscal year, commit fund balance. Once adopted, the limitation
imposed by the resolution remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of another
resolution) to remove or revise the limitation.

Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City for specific
purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as committed. The City Council may also assign
fund balance as it does when appropriating fund balance to cover a gap between estimated revenue
and appropriations in the subsequent year's appropriated budget. Unlike commitments, assignments
generally only exist temporarily. In other words, an additional action does not normally have to be
taken for the removal of an assignment. Conversely, as discussed above, an additional action is
essential to either remove or revise a commitment.

By resolution, the City Council has also authorized the City Administrator as the official authorized
to assign fund balance to a specific purpose as approved by the City's fund balance policy.
Assignments of fund balarce by the City Administrator do not require formal action by the City
Council.

The City strives to maintain an unassigned fund balance ofnot less than 25 percent ofthe budgeted
operational expenditures in all City funds. The purpose of the unassigned balance is to alleviate
significant unanticipated budget shortfalls and to ensure the orderly provisions of services to
citizens. Should unassigned fund balance fall below the goal or have a deficiency, the City will seek
to reduce expenditures prior to increasing revenues to replenish fund balance within a reasonable
timeframe.
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11. Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts ofrevenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

12. Pensions

For the purposes of measuring the net pension liability. deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net
position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) and additions to/deductions from
TMRS's hduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
TMRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is
reported for the employee, which is when contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and
refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are
reported at fair value.

13. Other Postemployment Benefits

The City participates in a single-employer, unfunded, dehned benefit group-term life insurance plan
operated by TMRS known as the Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (SDBF). The City elecred, by
ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage to both current and retired employees. The
funding policy for the SDBF program is to assure that adequate resources are available to meet all
death benefit payments for the upcoming year. Benefit payments are treated as being equal to the
employer's yearly contributions for retirees. Benefit payments and refunds are due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Information aboul the City's total OpEB liability, deferred
outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, ard OPEB expense is provided by TMRS from
repors prepared by their consulting actuary.

G. Revenues and Expenditures/Expenses

1. Program Revenues

Amounts reported as program reyenues inchtd,e l) charges to customers or applicants who purchase,
use, or directly benefit from goods. services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment
and 2) grants and contributions (including special assessments) that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. All taxes, including those
dedicated for specific purposes, and other intemally dedicated resources are reported as general
revenues rather than as program revenues.

2. Property Taxes

Property ta-xes are levied during october ofeach year and are due upon receipt ofthe city's tax bill.
Ta-res become delinquen! with an enforceable lien on property, on February I ofthe following year.

4t
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3. Proprietary Funds Operating and Nonoperating Revenues and Expenses

Proprietary funds distinguish operating rever.lues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods
in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating
revenues of the enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and services. The enterprise fund
also recognizes as operating revenue the portion of tap fees intended to recover the cost of
connecting new customers to the system. Operating expenses for the enterprise frrnd include the cost
of sales and services, administrative expenses. and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and
expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

II. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AIID ACCOUNTABILITY

Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for the
general, debt service, and certain special revenue funds. The original budget is adopted by the City Council
prior to the beginning of the year. The legal level of control as defined by the City Charter is the function
level. No fmds can be transferred or added to a budgeted item without City Council approval.
Appropriations lapse at the end ofthe year.

ITI. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FT]}{DS

A. Deposits and Investments

As of September 30, 2021, the City had the following inyestments:

WeightedArErrge

Itr\EstDertTlTe Yelue Nlrturity (Yetrs)
Certificates ofdeposit
Tefool

Totsl

$ 453.000

1.684.362

0.Jt

0.06

$ 2.li'1.362

Porfolio raeighted average nBturity 0.13

Interest rate rlst In accordance with its investment policy, the City manages its exposure to
declines in fair values by structuring the investment portfolio so that securities mature to meet cash

requirements for ongoing operations and invest operating funds primarily in short-term securities.

Credit risk- The City's inyestment policy limits investments in public fund investment pools rated as

to investment quality not less than "AJL{" or "AAA-m", or at an equivalent rating by at least one

nationally recognized rating service. Investments in U.S. Securities Exchange Commission
registered and regulated money market mutual funds must have an investmenl quality not less than
(AJA.A-", or at an equivalent rating by at least one nationally recognized rating sewice. As of
September 30,2021, the City's investments in TexPool were rated "AAAm" by Standard & Poor's.

Custodial credit risk - deposits. ln the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event ofa bank
failure, the City's deposis may not be retumed to it. The City's investment policy requires funds on

deposit at the depository bank to be collateralized by securities. As of September 30, 2021, fair
market values ofpledged securities and FDIC coverage exceeded bank balances.

Custodial credit risk investments. For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event ofthe failure
of the counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its inyestments or collateral
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securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The City's investment policy requires that it
will seek to safekeeping securities at financial institutions, avoiding physical possession. Further, all
trades, where applicable, are executed by delivery versus payment to ensure that securities are
deposited in the City's safekeeping account prior to the release of funds.

TexPool

43

TexPool was established as a trust company with the Treasurer of the State as trustee, segregated
from all other trustees. investments. and activities of the trust company. The State Comptroller of
Public Accounts exercises oversight responsibility over TexPool. Oversight includes the abilify to
significantly influence operations, designation of management, and accountability for fiscal matters.
Additionally, the State Comptroller has established an advisory board composed of both participants
in TexPool and other persons who do not have a business relationship with TexPool. The advisory
board members review the investment policy and management fee struclure. Finally, Standard &
Poor's rates TexPool 'AAAm'. As a requirement to maintain the rating, weekly portfolio
information must be submitted to Standard & Poor's. as well as to the office of the Comptroller of
Public Accounts for review.

TexPool is an extemal investment pool measured at amortized cost. In order to meet the criteria to be
recorded at amortized cost, TexPool must transact at a stable net asset value per share and maintain
certain maturity. quality, liquidity. and diversification requirements within TexPool. TexPool
transacts at a net asset value of $1.00 per share, has weighted average maturities of 60 days or less.
and weighted average lives of 120 days or less. Investments held are highly rated by nationatty
recognized statistical rating organizations, have no more than five percent of portfolio with one
issuer (excluding U.S. government securities), and can meet reasonably foreseeable redemptions.
TexPool has a redemption notice period of one day and may redeem daily. TexPool may only
impose restrictions on redemptions in the event of a general suspension of trading on major
securities markets. general banking moratorium, or national state of emergency that affects
TexPool's liquidity.
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The following comprise receivable balances at year end:

B. Receivables

Prope(v ta\es $

Sales ta,'€s

Mi'ed beverage ta\es

Accoullts receivable

kss allowance

C,eoeral

Debt

Serricc

Cadtal
Proj€cb

\vater, Senrr,
andSanitatiotr

r3,8't7 $

611.792

4',7.458

t2.t2r $ 5 s

Totrl
25,98

6ll.,792

2.2'74

3E5,604

(568)

37.799 300.117

(568)

$ 675.401 $ l2.l2l $ 37.799 $ 299.779 $ 1.025.100

]tmc
Sales taEs $ 203,931

$ 203.931

A summary ofchanges in capital assets for the year end is as follows:

Beginning

Balance

(D€creas es Y
Reclass ificatiotrs

Ending

Balance

Gorrcrnmental Actirities :

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Iand

Construction in prcgress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Other capital assets:

Buildings and irprovemnts
lnfrastructurc

Vehicles

Fumiture and fmurcs

Total other capital assets

[€s s accurulated depreciation for:

Buildings and inpmvemnts
lntastructure
Vehicles

Fumiture and ftdures
Total accurmlated depr€ciation

Other capital assets. net

c,o\,crnmetrtrl Activities capital Asseb, Net

s 864.009 $

20.567

755.513 $

l03.all
1,619.522

124208

S

1.022,6t4

3,869242

1,034,488

447,150

6,373,494

1.7+3.7i0

i5.-193

50.r91

88.r.576 859.15.1

5175

9.e5

6.1:3.68',7

(601.678)

(727 267)

(806,478)

(343i52)

(51,271)

(131208)

(89.302)

(12.808)

(652,949)

(858.475)

(895.780)

(356.160)

(2,478.775)

3.E94.719

(2E4.589)

(234.396)

(2.763.36.1)

3.650.323

s4. 779195 S 624.758 S

Plus unspent bond proceeds

Plus defemd charge on refunding

Net ln\rcstment in Cqital Asset

129428
44.874
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C. Capital Assets

Increases

1.027.889

3.878,67

1,034.488

482.613

5,,104,053
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57.531

81.760

115.298

$ 28.1.589

Depreciation was charged to govemmental functions as follows:

Gneral govemmnt

Public safety

Public wods

Total Go1trnmentrl Actirities Depeciation f-rpense

Beginniog

Balance Increases

S

Business-Type Actfuities :

Capitalassets not being depreciated:

land
Construction in progress

Total capital assets not being depreciated

Othercapital assets:

lnfrastructurc

Fumiture and equiprnent

Vehicles

[,ess accunmlated depreciation for
Infrastructure

Fumiture and equipment

Vehicles

Total accumulaled depreciation

Other capital assets. net

Business-Type Activities Cadtal Assets, Nct

S

(Decreases/ Ending

Reclassifcations Balance

S66.58r $

1.589.956 1.029.567 (1.132.973)

$ 66,581

1.186,550

1 ?53.1317 1.49.567 (1 432.913)

r2.802.663

179.037

181.55.+

1.485.41 I 1l r88.07.1

179.037

181.551

l,lTotalother capitalassets 13.163.254 I 11

(4.9s r.948)

(153,765)

(410.545)

(2.31e)

(15.830)(l32.1 l2)

(5j62.493)

(156.08.1)

(147.942)

(5:37.825)

7.925.429

s 9.581.966

(5.666.519)

8.982.146

s 2.086.28.1 $ (r,432.973) s t0.235.277

Depreciation was charged to business-type functions as follows:

Water. sewer- and sanitation $ 428j94
Total Business-Type Activities Depreciation Expense $ 428.6%
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The following is a summary ofchanges in capital assets for business-type activities for the year end:

(128.69.1)

1.056.717
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D. Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of changes in the City's total long-term liabilities for the year end. In
general, the City uses the general and debt service funds to liquidate govemmental long-term
liabilities.

The long-term liabilities for the govemmental activities at year end are as follows:

Gorcrnmental Activities ;

Crnenl obligatio n refu nding bonds

Certificates of obligation

Direct borowings/placenEnts :

Crneral o b ligatio n refunding bonds

Certificates of obligation
Deferred armunts:

For issuance discounts/premiums

other liabilities:

Net pension liability/(asset)

Total OPEB liabtu,"*

CoIIpensated absences

Total Go\,rrrmental Actiiities

Business-T,,pe Activities:
Other tiab ilties :

Net pension liab ility/(as s et )
Total oPEB liability
Compensated absences

Total Business-Type Activities

Additions Reductions

Ending

Balance

$ (2,050,000) $ 4_.495,000 $ 215,000

(3.040.000)

Beginning
Balance

Amounts
Due Within
One Year

$ 2050.000 $ 449s,000
3,0,10.000

,140.000

2-4i0.000

(E0,000)

( 130.000)

t02.626

5.100.566 (5.339.170)

360.000

2.300.000

85.000

l]0.000

'1.E23.722 + 430.000

(2r6.255\

88.830 (71.394) 100.796

_$___zer:2:.!_ -q__jjl!!oo_ -$__gL!2{@_ _{___1060i87_ _q___ji94!_

Long-term dcbt tue in more than one yea" _!__ 7-29.891_

*Debt associated with crdtal asseb S '1,823-722

264.859

76.366

96.509

48.60.1
'16.366

I I1.995

Begirning
Balance Additions Reductions

S (21.396)

9.005

s 22.621 $

6.523

14.416

t.225

6.523

15.559

s s

(7.86:) l.r.00i

$( 12.39r) $ 43,560 $ (7.862) $ 23.307 $ 14.00i

I{ng-term debt due in more thln one yea" -$- i.30l-

Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's govemmental activities are not due and payable in the

current period and, accordingly. are not reported as fund tiabilities in the govemmental funds. The

governmental activities compensated absences are generally liquidated by the general fund. lnterest

on long-term debt is not accrued in govemmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure
when due.

605.566 (39.470) 668-722

8.062.626

Endirg
Balance

Amounts
Due r ithin
Otre Year
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Current
Balance

Original
Balance

$ 4.495,000 $ 4.495.000

815.000 360.000

5.340.m0 4.855.000

Description
Gor,ernmetrtal Actitities
C€ncral OHigatiotr Bon&

Crneral obligation refunding bonds- series 2021 2.C05-Cff/o

Fmm dircct borroBings/placenrcnts :

C-rneral obligation retunding bonds. series 2015 0-85-2.8e/,

Toaal General OHigatioo Boo&

Certif cates of OHigatiotr
Fmm direct bono$ings/placenEnts :

Taxand rcvenue cenificates ofobligation, series 2017A

Taxand revenue certificates ofobligation. series 20178

0.10 - 1.60Pl"

0.01 - 1.90/o

1.090.000

1,730.000

890.000

1410.000

Total Certificates of Ouigatim 2-820-000 2.300.000

Total C,owrnmental Activities Long-Term Dett S 8.160.000 s 7.1i5.000

The annual requirements to zrmortize bond and certificate debt issues outstanding at year end were as

follows:
liscal Year C,encral OHigation

hdng
2422

2423

2U24

2025

2026

2U27-203t

2032-2036

2037-2038

General Obligation
Pritrcipsl lnterest

Principal hterest
S 215,000

230,000

245,000

250.000

260,000

1.470000

1.485.000

340.000

156225

145.100

133225

120.850

108.100

330350
109.050

6.800

rotl J___4,25,000_ _$___!.!0e{00_

The annual requirements to amortize debt issues outstanding for the direct borrowings/placements al
year end are as follows:

Certifi cates of OHigation
Principal lnterest Principal hterest

fiscal Year

Enditrg
2022

2023

2024

2025

2026

2427-2031

2032-2036

2037:2039

85.000

90.000

90.000

95,000

8293

6.170

3.852

1330

s $ s130.000

130.000

130.000

1,10.000

140.000

710.000

760.000

160.000

28.712

28219

27478
26-47 |
25222

101,796

47,185

1.430

37.005

34.389

31.330

27.801

25.222

10r.7%
47.185

1.430

s

Totaf $ 360.000 $ 19,645 $ 2.300.000 $ 286,5t2 $ 2,660.000 $ 306.157

The City's long-term debt includes all outstanding bonded debt secured by the full faith and credit of
the City. The bonds are certilicates of obligation, general obligation, and contractual obligation
bonds that zre secured by the full faith and credit ofthe City and are paid through the debt service
fund from tax revenues.
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Long-term debt at year end was comprised ofthe following debt issues:

lnterest
Rrtes

s

Total

215.000 $

220.Un

D0,an
235.000

1,10.000

710.000

760.000

160.000
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Advanced Refundins of Debt

ln the current fiscal year, the City issued $4,495,000 of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series

2021 wilh interest rates ranging from 2.00"/o to 5.00%. The proceeds were used to advance refund

$1,935,000 of the General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012, which had interest rates

ranging from 2.00o/o to 4.00%, and S2,910,000 of the Tar and Revenue Certificates of Obligation,
Series 2012 (the "Refunded Bonds"), which had interest rates ranging of 3.00 to 3.35%. The net
proceeds of 54,890,557 (including a $605,565 premium and after payment of $206,158 in
underwriting fees and other issuance costs) were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow

agent to provide funds for the future debt service payment on the Refunded Bonds. As a result, the

Refunded Bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed ffom the
Statement ofNet Position. The reacquisition price exceeded the net carrying amount ofthe old debt

by $45,557. This amount is being amortized over the remaining life of the refunded debt, which is

the same life as the new debt issued- The refunding was undertaken to reduce debl service payments

over the next l7 years by $757.953 and resulted in an economic gain of$691,745.

Federal Arbitraee

The Ta,x Reform Act of 1986 instituted certain arbitrage restrictions consisting of complex
regulations with respect to issuance of ta\-exempt bonds after August 31, 1986. Arbitrage
regulations deal with the investment of ta-x-exempt bond proceeds at an interest yield grcater than the

interest yield paid to bondholders. Generally. all interest paid to bondholders can be relroactively

rendered ta\able if applicable rebates are not reported and paid to the Intemal Revenue Service

(lRS) at least every five years for applicable bond issues. Accordingly, there is the risk that if such

calculations are not performed, or are not performed corectly, a substantial liability to the City
could result. The City periodically engages an arbitrage consultant to perform the calculations in
accordance with the rules and regulations ofthe IRS.

E. Interfrtnd Transactions

The composition ofdue to/from balances as of year end was as follows:

DucTo Due From

Crneral

NonnBjor govemnEntal
urility
ceneral

S

.lmounts
5.498

105.uL
Amounts recorded as due to/from are considered to be temporary loans and will generally be repaid

in more than one year.

Transfers between the primary governmentat funds during the year were as follows:

Transfer ID TraDsfer Out Anrounts

Ceneral

General

Utility

Non[Bjor goYemnEntal

Capitalprojects
Capital p.ojects

8:98
240..194

627 28t
$ 871m

Amounts transferred between funds related to amounts collected by the general; capital projects;

water, sewer, and sanitation; and other nonmajor govemmental funds for various govemmental and

business-type expenditures.
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TV. OTHER INFORMATION

A. Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City participates along with 2.617
other entities in the Texas Municipal League's Intergovernmental Risk Pools (the "Pool"). The Pool
purchases commercial insurance at group rates for participants in the Pool. The City has no
additional risk or responsibility to the Pool, outside ofthe payment of insurance premiums. The City
has not significantly reduced insurance coverage or had settlements which exceeded coverage
amounts for the past three years.

Amounts received or receivable from granting agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by
grantor agencies, principally the federal goverffnent. Any disallowed claims, including amounts
already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amounts of expenditures
that may be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the City expects
such amounts. ifany, to be immaterial.

Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount ofthe loss can be

reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not
reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the effects of inflation, recent claim settlement
trends, including frequency and amount ofpayouts, and other economic and social factors. No claim
liabilities are reported at year end.

The continued spread of COVID-I9 pandemic has given a rise in uncertainties that may have a
significant negative impact on the operating activities and result of the City. The occunence and
extent of such impact will depend on future developments, including (i) the duration and spread of
the virus, (ii) govemment quarantine measures, (iii) the effects on the financial markets, and (iv) the
effects on the economy overall, all of which are un-known at this time.

C. Pension Plan

The City participates as one of 895 plans in the defined benefit cash-balance plan administered by
TMRS. TMRS is a statewide public retirement plan created by the State and administered in
accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Govemment Code (the "TMRS Act") as

an agent multiple-employer retirement system for employees of Texas participating cities. The
TMRS Act places the general administration and management of TMRS with a six-member,
Govemor-appointed Board of Trustees, howevel TMRS is not fiscally dependent on the State.
TMRS issues a publicly available annual comprehensive financial report that can be obtained at
\l'\l'rv.tmrs.com.

A11 eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS

B. ContingentLiabilities

Teras lVlunicinal Retirement Svstem

Plan Description
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Benefits Provided

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the
goveming body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes goveming TMRS.

At retirement. the benefit is calculated as if the sum of the employee's contributions, with interest,
and the City-financed monetary credits. with interesl were used to purchase an annuity. Members
may choose to receive their retirement benefil in one of seven payment options. Members may also
choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a partial lump sum distribution in an amount equal to
12, 24, or 36 monthly payments, which camot exceed 75 percent of the rnember's deposits and
interest.

The plan provisions are adopted by the goveming body ofthe City, within the options available in
the state statutes goveming TMRS. Plan provisions for the City were as follows:

2021 2020
EIrployee deposit rate

Matching ratio (Chy to enployee)
Yean required for vesting
Service requirerEnt eligibility

(epressed as age/yt: ofservice)
Updated service credit
Annuity incrEase (to retirees)

7.Uf/o
2to I

5

7.i$/o
2to I

5

fil5.0120
V/o

tr/o ofCPI

@t5.0/20
V/o

0ol" ofCPI

At the December 31, 2020 valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered
by the benefit terms:

lnactive erployees or beneficiaries currentty rcceiving benefrts
lnactive enployees enthled to- but not yet. receiving benefits
Active enployees

Total

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either five percent, six percent, or seven percent
of employee gross eamings, and the City-matching percentages are either 100 percent, 150 percent,
or 200 percent, both as adopted by the goveming body of the City. Under the state law goveming
TMRS, the contribution rate for each entity is determined annually by the actuary, using the Entry
Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The City's contribution rate is based on the liabilities
created from the benefit plan options selected by the City and any changes in benefits or actual
experience over time,

Employees for the City were required to contribute seven percent of their annual gross earrlings
during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City were 6.05 percent and 9.72 percent in
calendar years 2020 and 2021, respectively. The City's contributions to TMRS for the fiscal year
ended September 30,2021 were $168,402 and were equal to the required contributions.

ll

28
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Employees Covered bv Benefit Terms

Contributions
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The City's Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31.2020 and the Total
Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the NPL was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
that date.

The TPL in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial
assumptions:

Inflation
Overall payroll growth
Investment rate of refum

2.50o/o per year
2-7 5o/o per yeu, adjusted down for population declines, if any
6.75%, net ofpension plan investrnent expense, including inflation

Salary increases were based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based
on the PUB(10) mortality tables with the Public Safety table used for males and the General
Employee table used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on
the Gender-Distinct 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. The rates for active
members. healthy retirees, and beneficiaries are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale
LtvIP to account for future mortality improvements. For disabled annuitants, the same mortality
tables for healthy retirees are used with a four-year set-forward for males and a tfuee-year set-
forward for females. In addition. a 3.5 percent and 3.0 percent minimum mortality rate is applied for
males and females. respectively, to reflect the impairment for younger memben *ho become
disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMp to account for future
mortality improvements subject to the floor.

The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the
experience of TMRS over the four-year period from December 31, 2014 to December ll. 2018.
They were adopted in 2019 and first used in the December 31, 2019 actuarial valuation. The post-
retirement mortality assumption for the annuity purchase rates is based on the mortality experience
investigation study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December 31,2013. plan assets are
managed on a total retum basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation, as well as the
production of income, in order to satisry the short-term and long-term funding needs ofTMRS.

The long+erm expected rate ofretum on pension plan investments was determined using a building-
block method in which best estimate ftrnges ofexpected future real rates of return (expected retums.
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class.
These rarges are combined to produce the long-term expected rale of retum by weighting the
expected future real rates of retum by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. In determining their best estimate ofa recommended investment retum assumption under
the various altemative asset allocation portfolios, the actuary focused on the area between (l)
arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustmenl for time (conservative) and (2) the geometric
mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive).

5l

Net Pension Liabilitv

Actuarial Assumptions
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The target allocation and best estimates of real rates of retum for each major asset class are

summarized in the following table:

Cilobd quity
Core Fi\€d IncorE
Non{ore Fied Inconr
Real Retum

Real Btate
Absolute Retum

hivate Equhy
Total

Changes for the year:

Service cost

Interest

Changes in cuEent period benefits

Difference between epected and actual eperience

Changes in assunptions

Contnibutions - eEployer

Contn:butions - erplo,,ee

Net investnEnt incoIIE

Benefit paynrnts. including refunds ofenployee

contributions

Administrative epense

Other changes

Net Changcs

Balance at Decen$er 31, 2019

Bdrtrce et Dccembcr 31,2020

(94.65i)

872

32

556.626

t.537.r52

269-t46
1.774.802

287479
(237.6s0)

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 6.75 percent. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that employee and employer contribulions will be made at the

rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the TMRS fiduciary net position was projected

to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive
employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of retum on pension plan investments was

applied to all periods ofprojected benefit payments to determine the TPL.

hcrease (Dec rease)
Total Pension

UaUlit-v
Plalt Fidrciary

Net Position
(B)

Net Pension
Liatilit-Y / (Asset)

(A) - (B)A)

S 2Ca.1E2 S

t29,656

289,106

(st273)

283.7v2

t29,656

289.106

(51273)

(to'7 -2o7\

( 124.081)

( 133..17)

s

107207

124.0E r

133.417

(94,655)

(8n)
(32)

s 2.093.778 $ 2.041.948 s 49.829

As s et Clas s

Iang-Tcrm Expected Real

Target Allocation Rate of Rcturu (Arithmctic)
30.0U/o 5.3OYo

10.00Plo l.25%o

20.0ff/" 4.14o/o

10.0ff/o 3.85o/o

l0-00zo 4.0U/o

l0.Wo 3.48P/0

to.wo 7.75%
100.00/o

Discount Rate

Chanqes in the NPL
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Sensitiviw ofthe NPL to s in the Discount Rate

The following presents the NPL of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 6.75 percent, as
well as what the Cit-v's NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate thal is one
percentage point lower (5.75%) or one percentage poinr higher (7.75%) than the current rate:

l7o Decress€ in
Discount Ratc Discount Rate

(6.7 5o/o)

l7o Increase in
DiscouDt Rate

(7.75o/o)(5.75.h
city's Net Pension Liability $ 445,554 $ 4q829 $ 260.103

n Plan Fiduc N

Detailed information about the TMRS fiduciary net position is available in a separately-issued
TMRS financial report- That report may be obtained on the Internet at wr}w.tmrs.com.

Pension Expense and Defened Outflows/Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2021, the City recognized net pension expense of$402,004.

At September 30, 2021, the City reported deferred outllows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions from the following sources:

Deferred
Inflom of
Resources

Differences between e+ected and actual economic eperience
Changes in actuadal assurrptions
Net diference betwee.r prcjected and actual investnrnt eamings
Coltnbutions subsequent to the IIEasurerEnt date

Total
138.097

79.810

46-730

s

$ 139.847 $ 126.540

$ 138,097 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensioos resulting from contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as an increase of the NpL for the fiscal year
ending September 30, 2022.

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be
recognized in pension expense as follows:

tiscal l'ear Ended

ScEember.l0
Pension
Expense

2022

2023

2024

2025

S (s4,149)

(24.(r9)
(39,450)
(6.s22)

53

Total $ (t24,790)

Defcrred
Outflou6 of
Resources

$-
t-750
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NOTES TO FINANCUL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

D. Other Postemplolment Ben€fits

TMRS Sunplemental Death Benclits

Plan Descriotion

The City participates in an OPEB plan administered by TMRS. TMRS administers the defined
benefit group-term life insurance plan known as the SDBF. This is a voluntary program in which
participating member cities may elect, by ordinance, to provide group-term life insurance coverage
for their active members, including or not including retirees. Employers may terminate coverage
under, and discontinue participation in, the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November I of
any year to be effective the following January l.

The member city contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate (based on the covered
payroll of employee members) as determined by an annual actuarial valuation. The rate is equal to
the cost of providing one-year term life insurance. The funding policy for the SDBF program is to
assure that adequate resources are available to meet all death benefit payments for the upcoming
year. The intent is not to pre-fund retiree term life insurance during employee's entire career. No
assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 ofGASB Statement No. 75,

Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefc Aher than Penstons (GASB 75).

As such, the SDBF is considered to be a single-employer unfunded OPEB defined benefit plan with
benefit payments treated as being equal to the employer's yearly contributions for retirees.

The contributions to the SDBF are pooled for investment purposes with those of the Pension Trust

Fund (PTF). The TMRS Act requires the PTF to allocate a five percent interest credit from
investment income to the SDBF on an annual basis each December 3l based on the mean balance in
the SBDF during the year.

Benefits

The death benefit for active employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal Io the

employee's annual salary (calculated based on the employee's actual eamings, for the l2-month
period preceding the month ofdeath). The death benefit for retirees is considered an OPEB and is a

fixed amount of $7,500. As the SDBF coven both active and retiree participants with no

segregation of assets, the SDBF is considered to be an unfunded OPEB plan (i.e., no assets are

accumulated). Participation in the SDBF as of December 31. 2020 is summarized below:

Inactive efiployees or beneficiaries currently rcceiving benefits

lnactive enployees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits

Active enployees
Total

Total oPEB Liabilit-v

The City's total OPEB liability of $82.890 was measured as of December 31, 2020 and was

determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

9

8

l8

54

l5
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NOTES TO FINANCAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

The total OPEB liability in the December 31, 2020 actuarial valuation was determined using the
following actuarial assumptions and other inputs to all periods included in the measurement, unless

otherwise specified:

Inflation 2.5@/o

Salary ircrcases 3.50olo to 11.50/o including inflation
Discount rate 2.6f/o*
Administrative expenses All administrative e)penses are paid through the PTF and accounted for under

reporting requfuerrEnts of GASB 68.

Mortality rates - service rctLees 2019 Municipal retirees ofTe)€s Mortalit], Tables. The rates are prcjected on a

fully generational basis with scale UMP.
Moftality rates - disabled retirees 2019 Muoicipal rctir€es of Te)qs Mortality Tables with a 4-year set-forward for

nales and a 3-year set-forward for fenrales. Irr addition. a 3.5% and 3.0plo

minirum nDrtality rate will be applied to reflect the hpairrEnt foryounger
rrrmbers who beconre disabled for nales and fe(tsles, respectively. The rates

are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale I]MP to account for futurc
IInrtality irrpIoveIlErlts subject on the floor.

* The discount iate is based on the Fidelity Indels "2GYear Municipal CO AA Inde*' rate as ofDecernber 3l- 2020.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2020 valuation were based on the results ofan
actuadal exp€rience study for the period December 31,20'14 to December 31,2018.

Total OPB
I -ialilifv

Changes forthe yean

Service cost
Interest
Charges in benefit terrm including TMRS plan participation

Differences between esected and actual eperience
Changes ofassurptions
Be[efit paynEnts

Nct Chalges
Beginning balance

s

12.099

82.890

fnding Balance S 82.890

* Benefit payrEnts are treated as being equal to the enployels yearly

contn:butions for retiees due to the SDBF being considered an unfunded OPEB
plan under GASB 75.

There were no changes of assumptions or other inputs that affected measurement of the total OPEB
liability during the measurement period.

There were no changes ofbenefit terms that affected measurement ofthe total OPEB liability during
the measurement period-

4-786

1.831

64.174

55

Actuarial Assumptions and Other lnDuts

Chanse in the Total OPEB Liabiliw
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The following presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the Ciry's total OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point lower or
one percentage point higher than the curent discount rate:

l7o Decrease

in Discount
Rate (1.007")

Discount Rate
(2.00o/o

city's Total oPEB Liability $ 104.168 $ 82.8m $ 67.305

For the year ended September 30. 2021, the City recognized OPEB expense of S70,783. The City
reported defered outflows/inflows ofresources related to OPEB from the following sources:

l7o Increase in
Dis count Rate

(3.00%)

Deferred
Outllo$,s of
Resources

Deferred
lnflorrs of
Resources

Changes h actuarial assunptions
Co[tnbutions subsequent to the masurcnEnt date

Total

Fis cal Year Frded
Sepaember 30

2022

2U23

2024

2025

2026

S 9,976 $

2,131

S 12"107 $

S2,l3l reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from contributions
subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction ofthe total OPEB liabiliry for
the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022.

OPB
Expens e

s 2.123

2.123

2.t23
2-123

1.484

Total S 9.9',76

E. Chapter 380 Economic Development Agreements

Chapter 380 ofthe Texas Local Government Code, Miscellaneous Provisions Relating to Municipal
Planning and Development, provides the authority to the goveming body of a municipality to
estabtish and provide for the administration of one or more programs to promote state or local
economic development and to stimulate business and commercial activity in the municipality.

During the 2021 fiscal year, the City has accrued $206,925 in sales tax rebates and an additional
5113,763 in ad valorem tax rebates. These amounts are being held in a liability account until
disbursement.
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For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Sensitivitv ofthe Total OPEB Liabiliry to Chanees in the Discount Rate

OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows/lnflows of Resources Related to OPEB

Amounts reported as deferred outflows/inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in
OPEB expense as follows:
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The City has entered into sales tax abatement agreements (the "Agreements") with several
developers as authorized by Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Govemment Code. Under each
Agreement, the developers must meet certain commerciayretail development and/or employment
requirements in order to have a portion of their sales taxes abated. The minimum limitation value
varies by Agreement. Each Agreement provides for recapture in the event of material breach. The
following summarizes the current Agreements:

The developer for "Milestone" will construct a new grocery retail store with approximately
124,000 square feet (the "Development") for the purpose of creating and,/or retaining at least
144 futl-time equivalent employees. The City has granted the developer a tar limitation of
about $5.6 million for a period of 15 years. In order to be eligible to receive the limitation,
the developer must create 52 permanent new jobs and harle invested at least $7.5 million
during the construction of the Development. The City will make annual payments to the
developer from sales tax revenues at an amount equal to 55 percent of annual sales tax
collected at the Development paid by the City, and the MEDC will make annual payments at
an amount equal to 100 percent of annual sales tax collected at the Development. Annual
installmenls will begin the first anniversary after the grocery store opens to the public. An
assignment of economic development was entered into with Kroger Texas L.P (the
"Company"). on December I l, 2018. On February 14,2019, the Company was reimbursed
sales tax for the 2018 year in the amount of$104,218 by the City and $50,917 by MEDC. On
December 19,2019, the Company was reimbursed sales tax for the 2019 in the arnount of
$36,071 by the City and $77,405 by MEDC. For the fiscal year 20?1, the Ciry and MEDC
trued up the 2018 and 2019 sales tax reimbursements and reimbursed the 2020 sales taxes in
the amounts of$189,613 and $132,391, respectively, to the Company.

ProDerw Tares

The City has entered into property ta,\ abatement agreements (the 'Agreements") with several
developers as authorized by Chapter 380 of the Texas Local Govemment Code. Under each
Agreement, the developers must meet certain commercial/retail development and,/or employment
requirements in order to have a portion oftheir property taxes abated. The minimum limitation value
varies by Agreement. Each Ageement provides for recapture in the event of material breach. The
following summarizes the current Agreements:

The City entered into an Agreement with a developer for the "Hills ofTown Creek, Section
l" and a school district (the "District"). The developer intends and proposed to develop
property that was recently annexed into the City for primarily high-density, multi-family

CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Tex.ls
NOTES TO FINANCAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Sales Taxes

The City has entered into a ten-year term Agreement with a developer for "The Estates of
Mia Lago, Section 1", who intends and proposed to develop property in the City for
residential, commercial, and retail use (the "Project"). As part of the Agreement, the
developer has agreed to accelerate construction of the Project and convey it to the City.
Subject to amexation of the property and upon final completion of the Project, the City has
agreed to provide a grant for reimbursement of the design and construction of public
infrastructure to the developer in the sum of$148,803 paid from ad valorem taxes generated
from the property annexed and collected by the City above the base property tax (amount of
ad valorem taxes levied and collected based on the total appraised value ofthe property as of
January 1,201l).t-
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CITY oF MoNTGoMERY, Tnr^c,s
NOTES TO FINANCAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

residential use, with a limited amount of commercial and retail uses (the "Project"). As part
of the Agreement, the developer has agreed to accelerate the construction of the Project and
to convey it to the City and petition the City to annex 13.773 acres ofland currently located
in the exlraterritorial jurisdiction (ETJ) ofthe City. Other considerations include transfers of
property and facilities from the District and the developer to the City and transfer of
property from the developer to the Dislrict. Subject to the final completion of the Project,
dedication ofthe facilities and easements to the City, other considerations, and annexation of
the ETJ, the City has €reed to provide a grant for reimbursement of the design and
construction of public infrastructure to the developer limited to 100 percent of the cost to
oversize utility lines and 70 percent of the remaining construction costs incurred, as well as

up to $16,000 for escrowed funds for the City's engineering expenses. The amount of
reimbursement to the developer is limited to $400,000 and will be paid from ad valorem
ta,xes generated from the property annexed and collected by the City above the base properry
tax (amount of ad valorem taxes levied and collected based on the total appraised value of
the property as of January l, 2012). For the fiscal yean 2019, 2020, and 2021, the City
abated property taxes totaling $9,901, $23,i68, and $36,892, respectively, under this
Agreement.

A developer for "Milestone" will construct a new retail grocery store with approximately
124,000 square feet (the "Development") for the purpose of creating and/or retaining at least
144 full-time equivalent employees. The City has granted the developer a tax limitation of
about $5.6 million for a period of 15 years. In order to be eligible to receive the limitation.
the developer must create 52 permanent new jobs and have invested al least $7.5 million
during the construction of the Development. The City will make annual payments to the
developer from property ta,x collected by March I of each year that the property tax rebate is
in effect. Annual installments will begin the first ta,\ year after the grocery store opens to the
public. An assignment of economic development was entered into with Kroger Texas L.P.
on December 11, 2018. For the fiscal years 2019, 2020, and 2021, the City abated property
tares totaling $78,789, $78,207, and $77,565, respectively, under this Agreement.

The City has entered into a twelve-year term Agreement with a developer for "The Estates

of Mia Lago, Section 2", who intends and proposed to develop properry in the City for
residential use (the "Project"). As part of the Agreement, the developer has agreed to
accelerate construction of the Project and convey it to the City. Subject to annexation of the
properfy and upon final completion ofthe Project, the City has agreed to provide a grant for
reimbursement ofthe design and construction ofpublic infrastructure to the developer in the
sum of not more than 5100,000 paid from ad valorem ta.xes generated from the property
annexed and collected by the City above the base property tax (amount ofad valorem taxes
levied and collected based on the total appraised value of the property as of January 1,

2017).
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CrrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Tex^ls
SCHEDALE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITARES, AND CHANGES

IN FUND BALANCE - BADGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

For the Year Etrded Septcmber 30, 2021

Original
Budget

Variance rYith

Final Budget
Positive

(Negative)
Final

Budget
Rerenues

Property taxes

Sales t&\es
Franchise fees

Other taxes

Licenses and permits

Fines and forfeitures
Other revenue

Intergovernmental

Investment revenue

Totrl Revenu€s
Epetrditures

Current:
General govemment

Municipal court
Public safety
Public works

Cspitrl outlry
Total E+€nditures

Erc€ss (Detrciency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures

Other Firancipg Sourc€s ruses)
Transfers in
Transfers (out)

Totd Other fin.ncing (Us$)

SsS 852,070
2,250,000

94,000

69,E15

245,600

292,350
82,7@

7,200
5,500

E52,070

2,250,000
94,000
69,815

245,600
292,350

82,700
460,200

5,500

876,606

3,008,921

9t,t47
65,104

2tt,r92
400,949
t0'1,2t3
505,196

1,810

$ 24.536

758,921
(2,8s3)
(4,7 t1)

(34,408)

108.599

24,513
44,996
(3,690)

915.9031R00 71S 4,352.235 5.268,r38

1,183,756

396,98s
1,329,208

885,986

1,640,202
430,23s

t,612,6E3
'133,721

805,706

1,6 t 7310
425,891

1,60E,457

724,t52
805.706

22,792
4,344
4226
9,57 5

3,795,935 5.222.553 5.181,616 40,937

103.300 (870.318

2,500 2,500
(105.800) 240,t94\

(r03 .300) 237,694

Net Change i! Futrd Bdsnce $ - $ (1,108,012)

Beginning fund balance

Ending Fund Balance

86,s22 956.8.10

R lqR

(240,t94
5,798

(231,896) 5.798

(14s,3'14)

t,724,t62

$ 962,638

$ 1,578,788

Notes to Required Supplemetrtrry Information:
l. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consislent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)

6l

Actual
Amounts
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CITr oF MoNTGoMERY, Tar^ls
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

TEXAS MANICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM (IMRS)
For the Yefi Ended Scptember 30, 2021

Nleasurement Year*
201{ 2016 20t7

Totd Pension Li&bility
Service cost

Interest (on the total pension liability)
Chaoges ofbenefit terms

Difference between expected and actual

experience
Changes in assumptions

Benefit payments, including refunds of
employee contributions

Net Change in Totel Pension Liability

Begirning total pension liability

Etrditrg Total Pe$ion Liabilit_v

Beginning plan fiduciary net position

Enditrg Platr Fiduciary Net Positioo

Covered PayroU

Net Pension LiabiliE-- / (Asset) as 8

Percetrtlge of Covered Papoll

762.399 8l 1.951 923.346 1.100.699

$ 8ll,9sl s 923,346 $ 1,100,699 $ t,266,9',13

s 81,979

55,068

(54,092)

(33,403)

49.552

s 110,914

51,948

(12,31 l)
34,004

(79,160)

111.395

t44,267
66,t21

(1,206)

(31,829)

t7'7 .353

(14,363)

(5.1.381)

166)'11

S S t57,252
'77,769

S S S S26,597

6t,367
50,47 5

37,600
63,744

1,456

(79,160)
(887)

ll
)) 1r)0

43,778

74,200

68,262

(31,E29)
(770)

(41)

68,154
80,998

161,340

(33,403)

(527)
(43)

(54,3E4)
(835)
(42\

to4.466 r53.600 )i5 l1l

881-999 986.465 1.009.174

$ 986,46s s 1.009.174 s t,162,774 $ 1,418,005

Net Pension Liability / (Assct) $ (174,514) $ (85.828) $ (62,075)

12t.49% r09.30% t05.@o/o

$ 876,672 $ 910,624 $ 1,060,007 $ 1,157,1t7

-t9.9t% -9.43v. -5.86% - 13.05%

*Only seven years of information is currently available. The City will build this schedule

over the next three-year period.

62

2015

Phn Fiduci&ry Net Position
Contributions - employer

Contributions - employee
Net investmelt income
Benefit payments, including refunds of

employee contributions
Administrative expense

C)ther

Net Change in Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as s Percentrge
ofTotal Pension Liabilit, / (Asset)

|,t62.171

$ (151.032)

1t1.92%
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llleasurement ! ear*
2018 2019 2020

s 176,697

E7,871

(85,r89)

(107.065)

205,160 $

94,711
283,792

129,656
289,106

s

(28,1 l8)
3,592

(sr,273)

('7't,480) (94.655)
72.1t1 197,865 556,626

3 39 87 1,537 ,152

s 1.339.287 ,t52 $ 2,093,778

I

s 1,537

S S79,080 $
90,747

(42,554)

9l,000
103,916

22r,3r0

(77,480)
(1,255)

(38)

t07,207
124,081

t33,41',1

(107,065)

(821)
(43)

(94,655)

(8',12)

(32)
19,345 377.453 269,146

|,7'14,803

s 2,043,949

$ 49,829

1,437 ,350

s 1,437.350 $ 1.774.803

S (98.063) _q____gz{r.u

t07.32yo tt 5.46yo 97.62%

s 1,296,3E4 $ 1,484,512 S t,772,592

-7.560/. -t6.01% 2.8t%

63

I

1.418.005
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CI T oF MoNTGoMERY, TH(A,S
SCHEDALE OF CONTNBUTIONS

TEruS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM (TMRS)
For the Yesr Ended September 30, 2021

Fiscal Year*
2015 2011 2018

Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determin€d contibution
Contribution defi ciency (excess)

Covered payroll

Contributions as a percentage ofcovered
payrolt

$ 26,103 $ 44,811

44,81I

6r.309 S

61.309

76,271

'16,271

s

26,103

$- S

s 918,710 $ 1,085,450 $ l,116,575 $ 1,260,4s6

4.13o/o 6.05%

*Only scven years of information is currently available. The City will build this schedule over the next three-year period.

Not€s to Required Supplem€ rry ltrform.tion:

l. Valuatiotr Date:

Actuarially determined contdbution rates are calculated as ofDecember 3l and become effective in January, 13

months later.

2. Methods and Assmptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuadat cost method Entry age normal

Amortization mdhod kvel percantage ofPayroll, closed

Remaining amortization period N/A

Asset valuation method l0 year smoothcd market; 12% soft conidor

hflation 2.5W.

Salary increases 3.50% to I 1.50/o including inflalion

Inveshent Iate of retum 6.750/,

Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's Plan ofbenefits. Las

updared for the 2019 vatuation pusuant to aD exp€rience study ofthe period

Decernber 31, 2014 - December 31, 2018.

Mortality Post-retircment 2Ol9 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tabl€s. The rates are

projected on a fully generational basis with scale UMP.

Pre-retirement: PUB(10) mortality tables, with the Public Safety tabte used for

males and the General Employee table used for females. The rates are projected

on a fully generational basis with scale UMP.

64

2016

S.

2.84% 5.49%

$-
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Fiscal Year*
2019 2020 202r

S 86,378 $

86,378

99,240 $

99,240

168,402

168 402
$ s $

$ 1,439,928 $ 1,635,373 S 1,921,658

6.000k 6.07% 8.76%
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cITr oF MoNTGoMERY, TEXAS
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY

TEXAS MUMCIPAL RENREMENT SYSTEM
For the Year Ended September 30,2021

Measurement
Year*
2020

Totd OPEB Liability
Service cost

Interest (on the total OPEB liability)
Changes tr benefit terms including TMRS plan participation

Differerces between exp€cted ald actual experience

Changes of assumptions

Benefit payments

Net Chauge in Total OPEB Liability

S 4,786
1,831

64,174

12,099

82,890

Beginning total OPEB liability

EtrdLrg Total OPEB Liability S 82,890

Covered Payroll $ 1,'172,592

Totel OPEB Liability es a P€rccntage ofcovered P|yroll 4.68%

*Only one year ofinformation is curently available. The City will build this schedule over the uext nine-year period.
**Due to th€ SDBF being considered an unfi.ruded OPEB plan under GASB 75, benefit payments are treated as being equal to the
employels yearly contributions for retirees.

Notes to Required Supplementrry Inform.ation:

l. Valuation Date:

Actuarially determiued coutribution rates are calculaled 31 and become efective in January, 13 montbs later.

2. Methods and Assumptiom Used to Determine Coutribution Rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Inflation 2.5@/.

Salary increases 3.50% to 11.50% inctuding inflation

Discount rate 2.'150/"

Administrative erpenses All administrative expenses arc paid through the PTF aud

accounted for und reporting requirements under GASB 68.

Mortality - service retirees 2019 Municipal Refuees of Texas Mortality Tables. The rates are
projected on a fi.rlty generational basis with scale UMP.

Mortality - disabled retirees 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables with a 4-year
set-forward for males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In
addition, a 3.5% and 3.00lo mimimum mortality rate will be applied
to reflect the impairment for younger members who became
disabled for males and females, respectively. The mtes are
projected on a fully generational basis by Scale UMP to account
for futule mortality improvements subject to the floor.

3. Other Information:

No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 ofGASB 75 to pay benefits.
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Crrr oF MoNTGoMERY, Tex^ls
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITARES, AND CHANGES

IN FAND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
DEBT SERWCE FUND

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Orginat
Budget

Final
Budget

Actual
Amounts

VariaDce with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

$ 360,873

5,000

365,873

385,756
179

24,883
(4.821)

$ S S360,873
5,000

455,000

369,109
824.109

46.050

46,050664.000

365.873 385.935

501,050

t62-950
501,050

369,109
870,159

(504,286) (418.17.1) 25,988)

4,49s,000
605,566

(4,890,557)

4,495,000

605,566
(4,890,557\

210 009

]_ca!27l)_
210,009

(228,16s)

423,'195

$ 195.630

$ 66,112

Ending Fund Balance

Notes to Required SuppleEeutary Informatiotr:
1. Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
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Revenues
Property taxes

Investment revenue

Total Revenues
Emenditur€s

Debt service:

Principal
Intercst and fiscal ageot fees

Total Expenditures

(Deficiency) of Revenues
(Under) Expetrditures

Other Financins Sources (Usm)

Refunding bonds issued

Premium on refunding bond
Payment to refulded bond escrow agent

Total Other Financing Sources

Net Change itr Fund Balance

20,062

(298,t27)

-!_____92!J_?2

Beginning fund balance
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CIrr oF MoNTGoMERY, Tens
NO NMAJO R G OVE RNME NTAL F UNDS

SPECIAL REITNUE FL]IiDS
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenues that are legally restricted, committed, or assigned to

expenditures for particular purposes.

Hotel Occupancy Fund
This fund is used to account for hotel tax revenue from local hotels.

Court Security Fund
This fund is used to account for collection and disbursement ofnoney used for court security.

Court Technology Fund
This fund is used to account for municipal court computer technology.

Police Asset Forfeiture Fund
This fund is used to account for revenues from seized contraband used for law enforcement purposes.

Grants Fnnd
This fund is used to account for revenues from grants.
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CtrY oF MoNTGoMERY, Turas
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET

NONMAJOR G O W RN ME NTAL F T]ND S
September 30, 2021

Special ReY€nue Futrds

Eotel
Occupaucy Court Securitv

Court
Techtrology

Police Asset
Forfeiture

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Due from other funds

Fund balances

Restricted for:
Tourism

Public safety

Grants

S 17,392 $ 5,279 $
45

40,593 $

60

12,08',7

Total Ass€ts $ 17,392 $ 5,324 $ 40,653 $ 12,o87

11,392
< 1r4 40,653 12.087

Total Fund Balances t7,392 5 i?4 40,653 12.087

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances S l'7.392 $ 5,324 $ 40,653 s 12.087
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Special Revenue
Funds

Crants

S 20$ 7 5,3',71

105

:0
20

s 20s '7 5.476

'75

Total Nonmajor
Gov€rumental

Fuods

s 20 $ 75.4'76

17,392
58,064

20
7 5.476
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COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FWD BALANCES

NONMAJO R GO VERNME NTAL FANDS
For tbe Yerr Ended S€ptember 30, 2021

Special Revenue Funds

IIotel
Occupaacy

Court
Security

Court
Technoloqv

Police Asset

Forfeiture
R€venues

Other taxes

Fines and forfeitures
Investmert revenue

$ 2,349 S S S

.l
606 828

lt
'l 405

Total ReveDues

Expenditures
Total E rpcDditures
Excess of Revenues

OYer ErpeBditurcs

Net Change in Fuad Balances

Beginning fund balances

Elditrg Fuud Balances

2.353 606 839 3.495

1.353 606 839 3..195

(2.500)

(1.500)

2,353

15,039

(1.894)

't,218

839 3,495

8,59239.81,1

$ 17,392 $ 5,324 $ 40,653 $ 12.087
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CITY oF MoNTGoMERY, Te:rlS

Other Fitratrcins Sourccs (Usesl

Transfers (out)

Total Other FiDalcitrg (Uses)
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Special Revenue
Funds

Graots

Total Nonmajor
Govertrmetrtal

Futrds

s s 2,349
a oro

l5

5

1,293

7 )O1

(s,7e8) (8.298)

(s.798) (8.298)

(5,79E)

5,818

( 1,005)

76,481

20 $ 7sA76
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GnY oF MoNTeoMERY, Texls
SCHEDALE OF REWNUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FWD BALANCES - BWGET AND ACTAAL
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REWNUE FANDS

For the Year Ended September 30, 2021

Hotel Occupancy

Original
Budget

AEoutrts

Fhrl
Budget

Amounts
Actual

A-mounts

!'ariance nith
Final Budget

Positive

Cieg!tive)
Revenues

Other ta.\es

Investment revenue

Total Revenues

E@
Current:

General govemment

Totel Expenditures

Net Change in Fund Balence

Beginning fund balance

Ending Futrd Bdtnce

1,000 1.000

$ 2,000 2,000
3

S 2,349
4

S s

2,003 2.003 2,3s3 350

1,000

1,000 1.000

$ 1,003 $ 1,003 1,350$

$ 17,392

Court SecurirJ"

Final
Budget

Amoutrts

Varisnce with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

@
Fines and forfeitures

Totd Revenues

$ 4,000 4,000 $S (3,39,1)

4,000 4.000 606 (3,394)

Exoenditures

Total Erp€nditures
Ercess of Revenues

Over Expenditures

Other Fin Sources (Lses)

Transfers (out)

Totd Other trhrtrcitrg (Uses)

Net Chsnge i! Fund Balance

Beginning fund balance

Ending Fund Balance

s 1.500 s 1.500

4,000 4,000 606 (3,t21r

(2.s00) (2,500)

(2.500)

(1,8e4) 5 (3,394)

7,2t8

78

s 5,324

349
I

r.000

2,353

15,039

Original
Budget

AEounts
Actual

AEounts

606 $

(2.s00)

(2,500) (2.500)
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CrTr oF MoNreoMERY, Tgrls
SCHEDULE OF REYENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES

IN FAND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL (Continued)
NONMAJOR SPECUL REYENUE FUNDS

For the Y€ar Ended September 30, 2021

Court Technolog]

Origiaal
Budget

Amounts

Firal
Budget

Amounts
Actual

Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

@
Fines and forfeitures

Investment revenue

Revenues

Fines and forleitures

Total Revenues

$ 3,500 s 3,500 $ 828

ll
S (2,672\

ll

Total Revenues
Expetrditures

Current:
Public safery

Totd E rpenditures

Net Change in Fund Balance

Beginning fund balance

Ending Fund Balauce

3,500 3.500 839 (2.661)

2,000

2,000

$ 1,500

2.000 2.000

500

2.000

S 839

39,814

s (661)

$ 40,653

Police -{sset Forfeirure

Original
Budget

Amounts

Fiqal
Budget

A-Dounts
Actual

AmouIrts

Variance with
Final Budget

Positive
(Negative)

SS S 3.495 $ 3.495

3,495 1d0i

Eroenditures

Total Erpenditures

Net Chsnge in Fund Balance

Beginning fund balance

Endhg Fund Balance

3,495

8,s92

S 3.495

$ 12,087

79

2,000
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Admin Prepared By: Dave McCorquodale 

 

Subject 

Consideration and possible action on applicants for Place 3 on the Planning & Zoning Commission. 

 

Recommendation 

Review the applications and discuss the appointment of one of them to Place 3 on the Planning & 

Zoning Commission to fill the unexpired term.   

 

 

Discussion 

This item was tabled at the April 12th meeting in order to allow City Council to speak with the candidates 

directly.  Candidates have been encouraged to attend the meeting. 

 

Approved By 

 

Asst. City Administrator Dave McCorquodale 

 

Date:   04/19/2022 

 

City Administrator Richard Tramm 

 

Date:   04/19/2022 
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Planning and Zoning Place 3

Davis Timothy John

201 Womack Cemetery Rd. 281-660-4677

tdavis@cymetrix-tech.com

   same as home 936-441-7833

  Bleyl Engineering 100 Nugent St., Conroe, TX 77301

IT Manager

   X   7 years

 X

 7 years  Tim Davis IT Consulting

Associates of Applied Science - Lonestar College

  I work for a civil engineering firm and have access

  to several engineers who can provide info in assisting Planning and Zoning make informed

  and wise decisions.  Of course the city engineer does that as well.  Community service:

 Volunteer at Hope's Bridge Resource Center, former BSA Cubmaster, former deacon at a local church.

  Redbird Meadows is across the street from my

  house and will have a significant impact on my family and neighbors. I believe my input could

be valuable in addressing the needs of the city.

Former vice chairman of Montgomery County MUD 142

  As a resident of the City, I'd like to serve the community by being part of the committee that 

  helps to shape the City.  I'm excited about the City's growth and future and would love to be a

  part of that.

3-23-2022
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Admin Prepared By: Dave McCorquodale 

 

Subject 

Consideration and possible action on Porter Farms Public Improvement District Presentation. 

 

Recommendation 

Listen to the presentation, and if City Council is agreeable to the general framework, then direct City 

staff to move forward with the developer on the necessary items to bring back to City Council for final 

review and action. (Development Agreement, Annexation Agreement, and PID creation documents) 

 

 

Discussion 

In August 2021, City Council saw a presentation of the proposed neighborhood from the developer and 

had discussion on their proposed creation of a Public Improvement District (PID) as a funding 

mechanism for the developer to be reimbursed for a portion of the development costs.  Eligible PID 

reimbursement items can include public utilities, roads, and other infrastructure.   

 

City staff and consultants have provided occasional updates to City Council as the development process 

has moved through lot size variances and preliminary platting with P&Z.  With construction costs and 

material prices experiencing significant increases over the past year, the developer now anticipates home 

prices to be approximately $250K - $350K.  Initial expectations of the developer were for prices ranging 

from the $190K’s - $350K’s. 

 

As a recap from last August’s discussion, two key points of PID’s are: 

 

• PID’s can sell bonds to finance infrastructure and similar improvements 

• PID’s levy special (fixed) assessments and end when the bonds are repaid 

 

Key differences between PID’s and MUD’s are: 

 

• MUD’s set a tax rate so the total “MUD tax” varies with property appraisal values.  PID’s set a 

flat assessment fee that does not change with appraisal value. 

• MUD’s can exist indefinitely and continue to sell bonds into the future. PID’s end when the initial 

debts are paid off. 

 

Approved By 

 

Asst. City Administrator Dave McCorquodale 

 

Date:   04/21/2022 

 

City Administrator Richard Tramm 

 

Date:   04/21/2022 
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Admin Prepared By: Dave McCorquodale 

 

Subject 

Consideration and possible action on the acceptance of public infrastructure and commencement of the 

one-year warranty period for Town Creek Crossing Section One. 

 

Recommendation 

Accept the public infrastructure and commence the one-year warranty period.   

 

 

Discussion 

No action was taken by City Council at the previous meeting following discussion on the developer 

omitting roughly 200-foot of the sidewalks as shown on the City-approved construction drawings for the 

subdivision.  The omitted sidewalk extended the interior sidewalks of the neighborhood to Buffalo 

Springs Drive.  There are currently no City plans to install pedestrian facilities along Buffalo Springs 

Drive, and the developer is planning a trail/walking path on the opposite end of the neighborhood that 

connects this development to the rest of Buffalo Springs and to the City. 

 

The developer has requested the item be placed back on the agenda for consideration and plans to attend 

the meeting with the project engineer. 

 

 

Approved By 

 

Asst. City Administrator Dave McCorquodale 

 

Date:   04/19/2022 

 

City Administrator Richard Tramm 

 

Date:   04/19/2022 
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April 8, 2022 
 
The Honorable Mayor and City Council 
City of Montgomery 
101 Old Plantersville Road 
Montgomery, Texas 77316 
 
Re: Acceptance of Public Infrastructure  
 Town Creek Crossing Section 1 (Dev. No. 2008) 
 City of Montgomery  
 
Dear Mayor and City Council: 
 
We have conducted a final inspection of the referenced development and find it to be substantially 
complete in accordance with the approved plans and specifications. The developer has provided the 
required maintenance bond for the infrastructure. We recommend the City accept the public water, 
sanitary, sewer and paving infrastructure and begin the one-year warranty period, which will end on 
March 31, 2023. 
 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
 
 
      Chris Roznovsky, PE 
      Engineer for the City 
CVR/zlgt 
Z:\00574 (City of Montgomery)\_900 General Consultation\Correspondence\Letters\2022.04.07 MEMO to Council RE Town 
Creek Crossing Section 1 Acceptance.docx 

Enclosures:  Final Punchlist Summary 
  Certificate of Acceptance 
Cc (via email): Mr. Richard Tramm – City of Montgomery, City Administrator 
  Ms. Nici Browe – City of Montgomery, City Secretary 
  Mr. Dave McCorquodale – City of Montgomery, Director of Planning & Development 
  Mr. Alan Petrov – Johnson Petrov, LLP, City Attorney 
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021722 Follow-up Inspection R1.pdf Markup Summary

Subject: Dirtwork
Page Label: [9] 09 WATER AND SANITARY SEWER PLAN 1 
OF 2
Date: 2/21/2022 4:48:57 PM
Color: 

Grading complete, turf to still be
established

Dirtwork (2)

Subject: Dirtwork
Page Label: [9] 09 WATER AND SANITARY SEWER PLAN 1 
OF 2
Date: 2/21/2022 4:50:17 PM
Color: 

Backfill complete, vegetation to
be established

Subject: Drainage
Page Label: [9] 09 WATER AND SANITARY SEWER PLAN 1 
OF 2
Date: 3/7/2022 5:03:57 PM
Color: 

Incorrect lid at TY E (sanitary lid)

Drainage (1)

Subject: Paving
Page Label: [8] 08 TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN 2 OF 2
Date: 3/7/2022 5:07:08 PM
Color: 

exposed rebar & ponding @
curb/ramp transition

Paving (6)

Subject: Paving
Page Label: [8] 08 TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN 2 OF 2
Date: 2/21/2022 4:42:00 PM
Color: 

has not been done yet

2

Establish turf and
regrade/repair as
needed.Grading complete, turf

to still be established

Backfill behind
curb to fix
washout

Backfill complete,
vegetation to be
established

Incorrect lid at TY E
(sanitary lid)

curb ramp

exposed rebar &
ponding @
curb/ramp transition

STOP

Cross walks need
to be painted at all
locations.

oth

ons.

has not been done yet

COMPLETE

COMPLETE

COMPLETE

COMPLETE

*Water sod as needed

*Review ponding at 1 yr

COMPLETE
*Will be inspected at 1 yr
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Subject: Paving
Page Label: [8] 08 TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN 2 OF 2
Date: 2/21/2022 4:43:22 PM
Color: 

currently no room to install
sidewalk, need a proposed
solution

Subject: Paving
Page Label: [9] 09 WATER AND SANITARY SEWER PLAN 1 
OF 2
Date: 3/7/2022 5:14:54 PM
Color: 

still needs to be removed

Subject: Paving
Page Label: [13] 13 STORM SEWER PLAN 1 OF 3
Date: 3/7/2022 5:14:21 PM
Color: 

regrading around TY E inlet is
incomplete

Subject: Paving
Page Label: [8] 08 TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN 2 OF 2
Date: 3/7/2022 5:16:03 PM
Color: 

re-evaluate finish at 1-yr

Subject: Sanitary
Page Label: [9] 09 WATER AND SANITARY SEWER PLAN 1 
OF 2
Date: 3/7/2022 5:13:00 PM
Color: 

lid still needs to be changed

Sanitary (1)

ROAD
CLOSED

How/when are
these sidewalks to
be installed with
landscaping that
has been put in?

currently no room to
install sidewalk, need
a proposed solution

Change lid to City
of Montgomery
Sanitary Lid

Remove co
wash out.

still needs to
be removed

Regrade around
inlet and establish
turn

regrading around TY
E inlet is incomplete

Cross w
to be pa
location

Grind to smooth
out surface in
multiple locations.

re-evaluate finish at 1-yr

Change lid to City
of Montgomery
Sanitary Lid

Remove concrete
wash out.

lid still needs to be changed

*Not to be installed. No
sidewalks on Buffalo Springs.

*INCOMPLETE*

COMPLETE

COMPLETE
*Will be inspected at 1 yr

COMPLETE

*to be completed by homebuilder

*INCOMPLETE*
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4526 Research Forest,  Suite 175  |  The Woodlands, TX 77381  |  wga-llp.com 

 

CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE 
 
 
April 7, 2022 
 
 
Jerrico Contractors Inc. 
25520 Candy Ln,  
Magnolia, TX 77355 
 
Re: Final Inspection  

Construction of Town Creek Crossing Section 1  
The City of Montgomery 

 
Dear Mayor and Council: 
 
This is to certify that the City of Montgomery accepts the subject project on the basis of the Certificate 
of Substantial Completion issued by our Engineers at WGA, PLLC, and understands that a guarantee shall 
cover a period of one-year beginning, March 31, 2023. 
 
 
 
Signature:        

      Mr. Richard Tramm 
      City of Administrator, City of Montgomery  

 
 
 
Date Approved:       
 
 
 
cc (via email):  
  Mr. Richard Tramm – City of Montgomery, City Administrator 

  Ms. Nici Browe – City of Montgomery, City Secretary 

  Mr. Dave McCorquodale – City of Montgomery, Director of Planning & Development 

  Mr. Alan Petrov – Johnson Petrov, LLP, City Attorney 

  Mr. Chris Roznovsky, PE – Ward, Getz, and Associates PLCC, City Engineer 

  Mr. Jonathan White, PE – L Squared Engineering 
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Admin Prepared By: Dave McCorquodale 

 

Subject 

Consideration and possible action on a variance request to storm water conveyance requirements of City 

of Montgomery Design Criteria Manual for the Hills of Town Creek Section Five development. 

 

Recommendation 

Consider the information provided by the developer and staff and approve or deny the request.  

 

 

Discussion 

The developer is requesting to use HP polypropylene pipe in lieu of reinforced concrete pipe (RCP) under 

roadways in the new subdivision.  The City Engineer and Public Works Director do not believe the 

material is an acceptable substitute because of the special requirements of proper installation and bedding 

needed for HP pipe to perform the way it should.   

 

The City’s Design Criteria Manual provides details and specifications for development projects including 

street design, sanitary sewer lines, water distribution lines, and storm sewer systems.  For storm sewer 

drainage system materials and installation techniques, the City requires compliance with the most current 

Montgomery County and TxDOT requirements, as applicable.   

 

The Montgomery County Drainage Criteria Manual currently requires RCP under roadways, although 

the developer has provided a letter/memo exchange between Precinct 4 Commissioner Metts and the 

Assistant County Engineer that appears to indicate the County will accept HP pipe as an alternative to 

concrete pipe under roadways provided additional testing is done before the County accepts the work.  

 

The City’s Design Criteria manual allows City Council to consider an alternative material or construction 

method.  Attached is an excerpt from the Design Criteria Manual for reference. 

 

 

Approved By 

 

Asst. City Administrator Dave McCorquodale 

 

Date:   04/21/2022 

 

City Administrator Richard Tramm 

 

Date:   04/21/2022 
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City of Montgomery
Drainage

 

 

Prepared by: Bleyl & Associates  Section 2, Page D-1 
-October 2013- 

Section IV. Storm Water Conveyance 

4.01 General Requirements: 

1. The Developer shall prepare a storm water pollution prevention plan (SWPPP) that 
complies with the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality’s (TCEQ) regulations for 
preventing downstream erosion. 

2. Unless otherwise noted below, comply with the requirements of the latest editions of the 
“Montgomery County Drainage Criteria Manual” or the Texas Department of 
Transportation (TxDOT) “Hydraulic Design Manual.” 

3. Variance Procedure 

(a) The City Council may, upon request, approve an alternative design, unusual 
circumstance, or construction methodology that differs from the requirements in this 
manual on a case by case basis if the City Council determines that the alternative 
design or construction methodology is sufficient to ensure public health and safety.  

4.02 Methods 

1. For drainage areas of less than 50 acres, use the Rational Method 

2. For drainage areas of 50 acres to 640 acres, use either the Montgomery County Runoff 
Rate Curves, or a computer modeling method approved by the City Engineer. 

3. For drainage areas greater than 640 acres use a computer modeling method approved 
by the City Engineer. 

4.03 Design Flood and Check Flood Standards 

1. Size inlets and storm sewers for a minimum 5-Year Storm Event, check that the 100-
Year Storm Event is conveyed within the Right-of-Way or an Easement. 

2. Size cross culverts for a minimum 10-Year Storm Event, check that the 100-Year Storm 
Event will not overtop the roadway. 

4.04 Requirements for Inlets with Curb and Gutter Sections: 

1. Use standard curb inlets on all curb and gutter sections, sized to carry the calculated 
runoff. 

2. Place inlets to intercept run-off prior to intersections.  

3. Place inlets at a maximum spacing of 300 feet for major, secondary or commercial 
streets, and 400 feet for residential and minor residential streets.   

4. Place inlets to intercept concentrated runoff from outside of the right-of-way. 

5. Place inlets at the end of curbed pavement to eliminate direct drainage from gutter to 
open ditch. 

 
(End of Section) 
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The Hills of Town Creek Section 5  Variance Request 
4/21/22   Page 1 

3307 W Davis St., Suite 100 
Conroe, TX 77304 
P: 936-647-0420 F: 936-647-2366 
www.L2Engineering.com 

 
April 21, 2022 
 
City of Montgomery 
City Staff and/or Mayor and City Council 
101 Old Plantersville Road 
Montgomery, TX 77356 
 
RE: Variance request concerning use of HP pipe in lieu of RCP under roadways 

The purpose of this letter is to formally request a variance which requires all storm sewer to be RCP under roadways due 
to the added strength needed for the additional traffic loads. The City of Montgomery requires compliance with the 
latest editions of the County or TXDOT requirements. Montgomery County Drainage Criteria Manual (MCDCM) Section 
4.1.8 has certain structural specifications that are required to be met for storm sewer such as concrete pipe, box 
culverts, metal, etc. There is not a specific strength requirement for plastic pipe; however, Montgomery County has 
historically allowed plastic pipe, such as high density poly ethylene pipe (HDPE), outside of the roadway and reinforced 
concrete pipe (RCP) under the roadway.  

In lieu of RCP, we are proposing to use high-performance polypropylene (HP storm sewer), as it has been recognized to 
have equivalent strength characteristics as RCP pipe. In North America, a growing number of corrugated polyolefin pipe 
specifications require a service life of 100 years (Florida DOT and Pennsylvania DOT are two examples).  ADS HP Storm 
polypropylene pipe (our gray colored pipe) is approved for the 100-year service life by both DOTs.  As such, 
polypropylene pipe is widely used under interstate highways.  Many years of testing and evaluation were completed 
prior to approval of ADS HP Storm in these applications.  In addition to the verified long-term performance of the plastic 
itself, there are many features of the pipe that make it an ideal solution for stormwater drainage.  They include: 

1. Watertight gasketed joint design (the sanitary sewer joint specification, ASTM D3212).  The pipe is delivered to 
the jobsite with the gasket assembled and ready for installation. This joint assures leak proof performance. 

2. 20-foot standard length.  As compared to RCP, with a standard length of 8’ (or less), HP Storm reduces the total 
number of joints by 60%.  Fewer joints means: 

a. Far less potential for leakage and far fewer joints needed under pavement. 

b. Less opportunity for debris to catch in the joints and clog the pipe. 

c. Faster and safer installation 

d. If inspection is done by CCTV, fewer joints reduces the time and cost to inspect pipe and joints. 

3. Chemically inert - leaving no chance for material degradation over the life of the pipe. 

4. Highly impact resistant - significantly reduces abrasion over time and reduces any potential damage during 
construction. 

5. PP is required to meet the structural loading requirements of AASHTO DOT / LRFD standards.  For PP, this is 
AASHTO M330.  Our structural design analysis concludes with minimum and maximum covers for traditional 
highway loadings.  The full summary of our structural analysis can be found in the Structural Section of our 
Handbook: Structures-Section-of-Drainage-Handbook.pdf (ads-pipe.com) 

6. HP storm covers the entire range of cover heights. This is different than rigid pipe, such as RCP, because RCP is 
expected to carry the majority of the load and varies greatly based on the type of 
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Hills of Town Creek Section 5  Variance Request 
4/21/22 Page 2 

installation/backfill.  Conversely, the backfill and pipe share the load for flexible pipes. When the load increases 
(live or dead) and/or quality of installation type decreases , RCP must increase its strength to Class IV, or higher. 

7. Joint design is arguably just as important as the structural design of the barrel section of the pipe.  HP Storm is 
only offered in a watertight, sanitary sewer-level joint (ASTM D3212).  With its elongated and gasket 
bell/spigot, there is a very high level of joint integrity over the life of the conduit. 

ADS also utilizes 100-year design service life material properties when calculating minimum and maximum burial depths 
in accordance with AASHTO LRFD Section 12.12.  These calculations include high safety factors that account for all 
potential failure modes of the pipe.  The calculations have been completed for the Houston MSA by a third-party 
structural engineer, Simpson Gumpertz & Heger (SGH), in accordance with the City of Houston’s standards revision 
published in July 2019.  This further supports the ability for this pipe to provide long-term service to owners. 

The local, regional, and national transition from RCP to HP Storm is similar to when PVC pipe was developed for sanitary 
sewer to replace clay and cast iron pipes.  PVC offered better joints, faster and safer installation, and long-term 
performance.  It was also being provided more reliable and less expensive than clay or cast iron pipe.  Now, PVC is the 
standard for sanitary sewers. 

The proposed design currently has approximately 596 linear feet (LF) of 18” HP pipe and 858 LF 48” HP pipe which would 
be considered under this variance, see attached site plan exhibit for details. This material has been accepted in the City 
of Houston, City of Willis and Harris County’s specification manuals as an allowable alternative. Last year Montgomery 
County issued the attached letter to County Commissioner’s Mett’s office that allowed the use of HP pipe in 
Montgomery County for public infrastructure. As stated previously, the City of Montgomery defers to Montgomery 
County who has already accepted this material.  

I have attached several documents which provides additional information for the product we are proposing. It is for the 
above-mentioned reasons that we feel the variance requests should be considered and approved. Please feel free to 
contact me at 936-647-0420 if you have any questions or concerns.  

Thank you, 
 
 
 
Jonathan White, PE 
L Squared Engineering 
Senior Project Manager, Partner 
936-647-0420 
Jwhite@L2engineering.com 

 

107

Item 7.



P.O
.B.

DRAWING ISSUE

DATE BY#

H
IL

LS
 O

F 
TO

W
N

 C
RE

EK
SE

CT
IO

N
 5

SHEET

PROJECT 10752

03/16/2022

* COMMENT

*PLANS NOT RELEASED FOR CONSTRUCTION UNLESS INDICATED ABOVE

DRAWING INFORMATION

SCALE

TDLR **

DRAWN GLH CHECKED JTW

03/16/22 JTW1 FOR REVIEW ONLY

CLIENT INFORMATION
CHRIS CHEATHAM

P.O. BOX 234
MONTGOMERY, TX 77356

PROJECT ADDRESS
ADDRESS
ADDRESS

FIRM REGISTRATION NUMBER 11235
WWW.L2ENGINEERING.COM

(MAIN OFFICE)
3307 W. DAVIS STREET #100

CONROE, TEXAS 77304
OFFICE: 936-647-0420

21123 EVA STREET #200
MONTGOMERY, TEXAS 77356

10

DR
AI

N
AG

E 
&

 S
TO

RM
 S

EW
ER

 P
LA

N

1" =60' (24x36)
1" = 120' (11x17)

108

Item 7.



109

Item 7.



110

Item 7.



111

Item 7.



112

Item 7.



CITY OF HOUSTON        POLYPROPYLENE (PP)  

2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATION           CORRUGATED WALL PIPE 

 

02510-1 

 

  

Section 02510 

 

POLYPROPYLENE (PP) CORRUGATED WALL PIPE 

 

PART 1 GENERAL 

 

1.01  SECTION INCLUDES 

 

A.  Polypropylene (PP) pipe for gravity sanitary sewers and drains, including fittings. 

 

B. Polypropylene (PP) pipe for gravity storm sewers and culverts. 

 

 

1.02  MEASUREMENT AND PAYMENT 

 

A.  Unit Prices. 

 

1.  No separate payment will be made for PP pipe under this Section. Include cost in unit 

prices for work, as specified in following sections: 

 

a.  Section 02531 - Gravity Sanitary Sewers 

 

b. Section 02631 – Storm Sewers 

 

2.  Refer to Section 01270 - Measurement and Payment for unit price procedures. 

 

B.  Stipulated Price (Lump Sum). If Contract is Stipulated Price Contract, payment for work in 

this Section is included in total Stipulated Price. 

  

1.03 REFERENCES 

 

A. AASHTO M330 -  Polypropylene Pipe, 300- to 1500-mm (12- to 60-in.) Diameter. 

 

B.  ASTM D 2321 - Standard Practice for Underground Installation of Thermoplastic Pipe for 

Sewers and Other Gravity-Flow Applications. 

 

C.  ASTM D 3212 - Standard Specification for Joints for Drain and Sewer Plastic Pipes Using 

Flexible Elastomeric Seals. 

 

D.  ASTM F 477 - Standard Specification for Elastomeric Seals (Gaskets) for Joining Plastic 

Pipe. 

 

E.  ASTM F 2764 - Standard Specification for 6 to 60 in. [150 to 1500 mm] Polypropylene (PP) 

Corrugated Double and Triple Wall Pipe and Fittings for Non-Pressure Sanitary Sewer 

Applications. 
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CITY OF HOUSTON        POLYPROPYLENE (PP)  

2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATION           CORRUGATED WALL PIPE 

 

02510-2 

 

F.  ASTM F 2881- Standard Specification for 12 to 60 in. [300 to 1500 mm] Polypropylene (PP) 

Dual Wall Pipe and Fittings for Non-Pressure Storm Sewer Applications. 

 

1.04 SUBMITTALS 

 

A.  Conform to requirements of Section 01330- Submittal Procedures. 

 

B.  Submit shop drawings showing design of pipe and fittings indicating alignment and grade, 

pipe length, laying dimensions, fabrication, fittings, flanges, gasket material, and special 

details. 

 

C.  Submit detailed calculations for pipe design per AASHTO LRFD Bridge Design 

Specifications.  

 

D.  Submit details of Pipe Joints and jointing procedure for PP pipe. 

 

1.05 QUALITY CONTROL 

 

A. Provide manufacturer's certificate of conformance to Specifications. 

 

B. Furnish pipe and fittings that are homogeneous throughout and free from visible cracks, 

holes, foreign inclusions, or other injurious defects. Provide pipe as uniform as commercially 

practical in color, opacity, density, and other physical properties. 

 

C. Project Manager reserves right to inspect pipes or witness pipe manufacturing. Inspection 

shall in no way relieve manufacturer of responsibilities to provide products that comply with 

applicable standards and these Specifications. 

 

1.  Manufacturer's Notification: Should Project Manager wish to witness manufacture of 

specific pipes, manufacturer shall provide Project Manager with minimum three 

weeks notice of when and where production of those specific pipes will take place. 

 

2.  Failure to Inspect. Approval of products or tests is not implied by Project Manager's 

decision not to inspect manufacturing, testing, or finished pipes. 

 

D.  Pipe manufacturer to provide services of experienced, competent, and authorized 

representative to visit site to advise and consult Contractor during jointing and installation of 

pipe. 

 

1.06  QUALIFICATIONS 

 

A.  Manufacturer: Company specializing in manufacturing the products specified in this section 

with documented experience of minimum 5 years of pipe installations that have been in 

successful, continuous service for same type of service as proposed Work. 
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CITY OF HOUSTON        POLYPROPYLENE (PP)  

2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATION           CORRUGATED WALL PIPE 

 

02510-3 

 

PART 2 PRODUCTS 

 

2.01  GENERAL 

 

A.  Provide products manufactured by companies listed on the City of Houston Standard Product 

List. 

 

B.  Furnish corrugated-wall gravity sanitary sewer pipe with bell-and-spigot end construction 

conforming to ASTM D 3212. Joining will be accomplished with dual elastomeric gaskets in 

accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. Use integral bell-and-spigot gasketed 

joint designed so that when assembled, elastomeric gasket, contained in machined groove on 

pipe spigot, is compressed radially in pipe bell to form a positive seal. Design joint to avoid 

displacement of gasket when installed in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. 

 

C.  Furnish corrugated-wall polypropylene (CPP) pipe for gravity storm sewer and storm sewer 

culvert pipe. Joints shall be installed such that connection of pipe sections will form 

continuous line free from irregularities in flow line. Suitable joints are: 

 

1.  Integral Bell and Spigot with dual elastomeric gaskets. Bell shall overlap minimum of 

two corrugations of spigot end when fully engaged. 

 

D.  Jointing: 

 

1.  Gaskets: 

 

a.  Meet requirements of ASTM F 477. Use gasket molded into circular form or 

extruded to proper section and then spliced into circular form. When no 

contaminant is identified, use gaskets of properly cured, high-grade 

elastomeric compound. Basic polymer shall be natural rubber, synthetic 

elastomer, or blend of both. 

 

b.  PP Pipes are Not allowed to be installed in potentially contaminated areas, 

unless approved by City Engineer. 

 

CONTAMINANT GASKET MATERIAL REQUIRED 

Petroleum (diesel, gasoline) Nitrile Rubber 

Other Contaminants As recommended by pipe manufacturer 

 

2.  Lubricant. Use lubricant for assembly of gasketed joints which has no detrimental 

effect on gasket or on pipe, in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. 

 

3.  Diameters 12- through 60-inch shall have a reinforced bell with a polymer composite 

band installed by the manufacturer. 
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CITY OF HOUSTON        POLYPROPYLENE (PP)  

2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATION           CORRUGATED WALL PIPE 

 

02510-4 

 

2.02  MATERIALS FOR SANITARY SEWER 

 

A.  Pipe and Fittings: Polypropylene compound for pipe and fitting production shall be impact 

modified copolymer meeting the material requirements of ASTM F 

2764. 

 

2.03  MATERIALS FOR GRAVITY STORM SEWERS AND STORM SEWER CULVERTS 

 

A.  Pipe and Fittings: Polypropylene compound for pipe and fittings production shall be impact 

modified copolymer meeting the material requirements of ASTM F 2881 and AASHTO 

M330. 

 

2.04  TEST METHODS FOR SANITARY SEWER 

 

A.  Conditioning 

 

1. Conditioning of samples prior to and during tests is subject to approval by Project 

Manager. When referee tests are required, condition specimens in accordance with 

ASTM F 2764, section 7.1.1. 

 

B.  Flattening  

 

1. Flatten three specimens of pipe, prepared in accordance with ASTM F 2764, section 

7.5. 

 

C.  Joint Tightness 

  

1. Test for joint tightness in accordance with ASTM D 3212. 

 

D.  Purpose of Tests  

 

1. Flattening and joint tightness tests are not intended to be routine quality control tests, 

but rather to qualify pipe to a specified level of performance. 

 

2.05  TEST METHODS FOR GRAVITY STORM SEWERS AND STORM CULVERTS  

 

A. All testing and material requirements shall be in accordance with ASTM F 2881. 

 

B. MANDREL TESTING: use a mandrel to test flexible pipe for deflection. Refer to Section 

02533 – Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers for the mandrel and test requirements. 

 

2.06 MARKING 

 

A.  Mark each standard and random length of pipe in compliance with these Specifications with 

following information: 

 

1.  Pipe size. 
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CITY OF HOUSTON        POLYPROPYLENE (PP)  

2020 STANDARD SPECIFICATION           CORRUGATED WALL PIPE 

 

02510-5 

 

 

2.  Pipe class. 

 

3.  Production code. 

 

4.  Material designation. 

 

PART 3     EXECUTION 

 

3.01  INSTALLATION 

 

A.  Conform to requirements of following Sections: 

 

1.  Section 02550 – Slip lining Sanitary Sewers. 

 

2.  Section 02531 - Gravity Sanitary Sewers. 

 

3.  Section 02533 - Acceptance Testing for Sanitary Sewers. 

 

B. Install pipe in accordance with the manufacturers recommended installation procedure and 

ASTM D 2321 

 

C. PP pipe is not approved in applications requiring gaugering of pipe. 

 

D. Bedding and backfill: Conform to requirements of Section 02317 - Excavation and Backfill 

for Utilities.  

 

E. Use only workmen trained in the installation of PP Pipe. 

 

F. Cutting pipe: Comply with pipe manufacturer's recommendations. After cutting, leave end 

pipe in accordance with manufacturer's recommendations. 

 

 

 

END OF SECTION 
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Item 9512 
Page -1 of 2 
 

J:\ENG\JTanner\_PROJECTS\Pct3 HDPE Pipe 2018\Working Files\ITEM 9512.docx 

SPECIAL SPECIFICATION  

ITEM 9512 

HIGH PERFORMANCE POLYPROPYLENE PIPE (HP STORM) 

 

9512.1 Description. Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (HP Storm) 
shall conform to these specifications. The pipe shall be furnished on an “As needed 
basis” delivered F.O.B. to various locations within the Precinct. All materials shall be of 
the listed nominal diameter, supplied in standard lengths required and be in accordance 
with these specifications and conformity with the material requirements. 

9512.2  Materials. 

 A. Pipe Requirements 

a. Polypropylene compound for pipe and fitting production shall be impact   
modified copolymer meeting the material requirements of ASTM F2881, Section 
5 and AASHTO M330, Section 6.1. 
 

b. All corrugated Polypropylene Pipe shall have a smooth interior and annular 
exterior corrugations and meet or exceed ASTM F2881 and AASHTO M330. 
 

B. Joint Performance 
 

a. Pipe shall be joined with a gasketed integral bell & spigot joint meeting the 
requirements of ASTM F2881. 
 

b. 12-60 inch pipe shall be watertight according to the requirements of ASTM 
D3212. Spigots shall have gaskets meeting the requirements of ASTM F477. 
Gasket shall be installed by the pipe manufacturer and covered with a 
removable, protective wrap to ensure the gasket is free from debris. A joint 
lubricant available from the manufacturer shall be used on the gasket and bell 
during joint assembly. 

 
c. 12-60 inch pipe shall have an exterior bell wrap installed by the manufacturer. 

 
C. Fittings 
 

a.  Fittings shall conform to ASTM F2881 and AASHTO M330. Bell and spigot 
connections shall utilize a spun–on, welded or integral bell and spigots with 
gaskets meeting ASTM F477. Bell & spigot fittings joint shall meet the watertight 
joint performance requirements of ASTM D3212. Corrugated couplings shall be 
split collar, engaging at least 2 full corrugations. 
 

9512.3 MEASUREMENT. Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (HP 
Storm) Pipe will be measured by the linear foot. 
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Item 9512 
Page -2 of 2 
 

J:\ENG\JTanner\_PROJECTS\Pct3 HDPE Pipe 2018\Working Files\ITEM 9512.docx 

 

9512.4  PAYMENT. Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (HP Storm) 
measure and prescribed above, will be made at the Contract unit "Corrugated Smooth 
Lined High Performance Polypropylene (HP Storm)" price bid per linear foot for the 
various sizes of the material as indicated in the contract documents. The pipe shall be 
furnished F.O.B. on an "as needed basis" to various locations within the Precinct. 
Standard sizes and lengths are to be provided and shall be in conformity with the material 
requirements.    

    

The descriptions and units for this item are: 

Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (12")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (15")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (18")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (24")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (30")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (36")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (42")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (48")          Linear Foot 
Corrugated Smooth Lined High Performance Polypropylene Pipe (60”)          Linear Foot 
             
 

 
END OF ITEM 9712 
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HP Storm Pipe 12”–60”

THE MOST ADVANCED NAME IN WATER MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS
TM
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Overview

An addition to our proven line of pipe products, HP Storm is a 
high-performance polypropylene (PP) pipe for gravity-flow 
storm drainage applications.  HP Storm is the perfect 
choice when premium joint performance and/or greater 
pipe stiffness is required.  HP Storm couples advanced 
polypropylene resin technology with a proven, dual-wall 
profile design for superior performance and durability.  

Specify HP Storm with confidence based on national standards 
and approvals.  This innovative product meets or exceeds 
ASTM F2881 and AASHTO M330.  From a federal perspective, 
polypropylene pipe is approved for use by the Army Corps  
of Engineers for storm drainage applications under Section 
33 40 00 (Unified Facilities Guide Specifications).  The Federal 
Aviation Authority (FAA) permits polypropylene pipe under airfield 
pavements per Item D-701, Pipe for Storm Drains and Culverts 
in AC 150/5370-10G (Standards for Specifying Construction of 
Airports). Additionally, the American Railway Engineering and 
Maintence-of-Way Association (AREMA) approves polypropylene 
pipe in storm drainage applications under railroads.

Advanced Dual Wall Profile Construction 

12”-60” (300 - 1500 mm) diameter HP Storm pipe utilizes an 
enhanced dual wall construction, providing increased pipe 
stiffness. The additional stiffness and beam strength enhances 
jobsite performance in stringent line and grade requirements. 
The pipe profile is completed with a smooth interior which 
provides additional strength and excellent flow characteristics.

Superior Polypropylene Material

Made from an engineered impact modified co-polymer compound, 
the superior strength and material properties of polypropylene offer 
robust pipe stiffness, excellent handling characteristics, and long 
service life when compared to traditional storm sewer products. 
It is highly resistant to chemical attack and is unaffected by soils 
or effluents with PH ranges 1.5 to 14. The unique light grey resin 
color provides immediate jobsite recognition as well as improving 
the pipe’s interior visibility during post-installation inspection.

HP STORM PIPE 12”–60” FOR STORM APPLICATIONS

Corrugated Structural Wall

Smooth Interior Wall

Polypropylene Resin

Interior View

THE MOST ADVANCED NAME IN WATER MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS
TM
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Fabricated Wye Fitting

Extended Bell

Fittings Available  
in PVC or PP

Superior Joint Performance

HP Storm pipe has an extended bell that adds an additional 
factor of safety within each joint. The joint performance meets 
or exceeds the 10.8 psi laboratory performance standards 
per ASTM D3212 requirements. Third party certification 
of joint performance is available upon request.

In the field, each section of HP Storm may be tested by a low 
pressure air test, according to ASTM F1417, which is a commonly 
used standard and specifies that 3.5 psi air pressure be held for a 
specified length of time based upon pipe diameter and length of run.

Where an infiltration/exfiltration test is preferred, ASTM F2487 
specifies a simplistic method of verifying proper joint performance.

Fittings

Both standard and custom fittings are available for the HP Storm 
product line. A complete line of standard Nyloplast PVC molded fittings 
are available in the 12”–30” (300-750mm) mainline sizes. Standard 
branch laterals are designed to accept SDR-35 or SDR-26 pipe.

Diameter Range

HP Storm is currently manufactured in the 12”–60” (300-1500mm) 
size range and in 20-foot (6m) lengths. The 20-foot (6m) lengths aid 
in speed of installation and reduce the total number of joints.

DIAMETER
PROFILE 

TYPE
LENGTH

INSIDE 
DIAMETER

OUTSIDE 
DIAMETER

TRUCKLOAD 
FOOTAGE
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Tap Connections

A standard tapping product, such as INSERTA TEE®, is compatible  
with HP Storm. 

Repair Couplers

Depending on local requirements, ADS offers a full range of repair 
coupling options.  For soil-tight performance, split couplers and 
Mar Mac® repair bands are offered. Testable repair couplers are also 
available, which include stainless steel restraint bands and Nyloplast® 
PVC repair sleeves.

12”–60” Structure Connections

Storm sewer structure connection requirements vary greatly by region.  
For soil-tight performance, HP Storm exterior corrugations provide an 
effective profile for grouted connections.  For watertight performance, 
ADS offers a wide selection of connection options utilizing some of the 
most widely used manhole connectors on the market today from  
companies such as A-Lok®, Trelleborg® and Press Seal® Gasket 
Corporation. 

Typical INSERTA TEE Tap

Repair Coupler

Manole Compression Gasket 
Connection with Corrugated 

Pipe Adapter

Flexible Boot Connection

WATERTIGHT CONNECTOR 
(PRESS-SEAL; PSX DIRECT DRIVE 

OR TRELLEBORG KOR-N-SEAL)

CORRUGATED 
PIPE ADAPTER

 
 

Pre-Cast Compression 
Gasket Connection

Grouted Waterstop 
Manhole Connection

 

 

 
 
 

FILL VOID SPACE WITH ACCEPTABLE 
GROUT MATERIAL

WATERSTOP GASKET

HP STORM  
DUAL WALL  
PIPE 12”-60” 

HP STORM  
DUAL WALL  
PIPE 12”-60” 

Pre-Cast Compression 
Gasket Connection

HP STORM  
DUAL WALL  
PIPE 12”-60” 

PRE-CAST WATERTIGHT 
CONNECTOR (A-LOK)

HP STORM 
MANHOLE ADAPTER

PRE-CAST WATERTIGHT 
CONNECTOR (A-LOK)

HP STORM DUAL 
WALL PIPE 12”-30” 

NYLOPLAST/PVC  
MANHOLE 
ADAPTER
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ADS HP STORM 12”–60” PIPE SPECIFICATION
SCOPE

PIPE REQUIREMENTS

JOINT PERFORMANCE

FITTINGS

FIELD PIPE AND JOINT PERFORMANCE

MATERIAL PROPERTIES

INSTALLATION

PIPE DIMENSIONS

THE MOST ADVANCED NAME IN WATER MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS
TM

Minimum Pipe Stiffness at 5%

Nominal Diameter in. 
(mm)

(mm)

       Average Pipe O.D. in.
(mm)

*Minimum pipe stiffness values listed; contact a representative for maximum values.

(450)            (600)
 18  24

21.4
(544)

(375)
 15

17.7
(450)

(300)
 12

14.5
(368)

(750)
 30

  Average Pipe I.D. in. 
(462) (612)

15.1 18.2 24.1
(384)

12.2
(310)

  30.2
(767)

35.5
(902)

28.0
(711)

56
(386)

60
(414)

75
(517)

46
(317)

50
(345)

(1050) (1200)

47.4
(1204)

(900)
 36  42  48

41.5
(1054)

(1500)
60

(1067) (1217)
36.0 42.0 47.9
(914)

  59.9
(1521)

67.1
(1704)

54.1
(1374)

35
(241)

40
(276)

30
(207)

35
(241)Deflection* #/in/in. (kN/m )2
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Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc.
4640 Trueman Blvd. Hilliard, OH  43026

1-800-821-6710

www.ads-pipe.com

 
 

® ®

® ®

®

®

THE MOST ADVANCED NAME IN WATER MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS
TM
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THE MOST ADVANCED NAME IN WATER MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS TM www.ads-pipe.com

Data based on 30-inch diameter ASTM F2881 polypropylene and ASTM C76, B-Wall reinforced concrete pipes

Polypropylene Pipe vs. RCP

Polypropylene Pipe (PP) Reinforced Concrete Pipe (RCP)

Joint Integrity

Extended bell and spigot joint with standard rubber 
gasket exceeds 25 feet of head pressure per  
ASTM D3212

Bell and spigot joints when gasket is specified 
exceeds 25 feet of head pressure per ASTM C1628. 
Unspecified joints normally are not leak resistant.

Maximum Cover

Compacted Class I Backfill = 39 feet
95% SPD Class II Backfill = 27 feet
90% SPD Class II Backfill = 19 feet
90% SPD Class III Backfill = 15 feet
95% SPD Class IV Backfill = 14 feet
(See Technical Note 2.04)

Type 1 Installation with Class IV Pipe = 35 feet
Type 1 Installation with Class III Pipe = 23 feet
Type 2 Installation with Class III Pipe = 17 feet
Type 3 Installation with Class III Pipe = 14 feet
(See ACPA Fill Height Tables, Resource #16-201 
[Revised 08/13])

Minimum Cover Height
95% SPD Class III Backfill - 1.0 feet
(See Technical Note 2.04)

Type 1, 2, 3, 4 Installation - 1.0 feet (Class IV Pipe is 
required). (See ACPA Fill Height Tables, as above)

Installation Rate 200 feet/day per RS Means 88 feet/day per RS Means

Allowable Backfill

Based on installation requirements, Class I, II, III, or 
IV backfills may be used.  High plasticity soils (MH 
& CH) are not recommended (See ASTM D2321).

Based on installation requirements, Category I, II, or III 
backfills may be used.  High plasticity soils (MH & CH) 
are not recommended (See ASTM C1479).

Number of Joints

9 joints per 200 linear feet of pipe (based on 20 
feet standard pipe length, 13 foot lengths available 
upon request)

24 joints per 200 linear feet of pipe (based on 8 feet 
standard pipe length)

Product Weight 370 pounds per 20 feet stick of pipe 3,320 pounds per 8 feet of pipe

Corrosion Resistant
Unaffected by salts, most chemicals, and “hot” 
soils (See Technical Note: 4.01)

Salt and chemicals, like hydrogen sulfide, can 
degrade steel and concrete (See Design Manual 
“Sulfide and Corrosion Prediction and Control)

Design Service Life 100 years (Based on FDOT analysis) 100 years (Based on FDOT analysis)
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THE MOST ADVANCED NAME IN WATER MANAGEMENT SOLUTIONS TM

www.ads-pipe.com

Advanced Drainage Systems® and the Green Stripe are registered trademarks of Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc. 
© 2016 Advanced Drainage Systems, Inc.  #11027  12/16 MH

National Specifications

Polypropylene (PP) 

Pipe Manufacturing 

Standards

Both

Reinforced 

Concrete Pipe (RCP) 

Manufacturing 

Standards

PP Joints

RCP Joints

PP Installation

RCP Installation

PP In-FIeld Inspection

RCP In-Field Inspection

Specifications Descriptions

ASTM F2881
Material spec for 12” to 60” (300 to 1500 mm) dual wall polypropylene 
(PP) pipe with variable pipe stiffness for non-pressure storm sewer system 
applications

AASHTO M330
12” to 60” (300 to 1500 mm) polypropylene (PP) pipe & fittings used in 
surface and subsurface drainage systems

ASTM F2764*
6” to 60” (750 to 1500 mm) polypropylene (PP) dual wall and triple wall pipe 
and fittings for non-pressure sanitary sewer applications*

ASTM F477 Material specification for elastomeric seals (gaskets) for joining plastic pipe

ASTM C76 Reinforced Concrete Culvert, Storm Drain, and Sewer Pipe

AASHTO M170 Reinforced Concrete Culvert, Storm Drain, and Sewer Pipe

ASTM C361 Reinforced Concrete Low-Head Pressure Pipe

ASTM C655 Reinforced Concrete D-Load Culvert, Storm Drain and Sewer Pipe

ASTM C1417
Manufacture of Reinforced Concrete Sewer, Storm Drain and Culvert Pipe 
for Direct Design

ASTM D3212
Joints for Drain and Sewer Plastic Pipes using Flexible Elastomeric Seals 
(lab test)

ASTM C443 Joints for Concrete Pipe and Manholes, Using Rubber Gaskets (lab test)

ASTM C1628
Joints for Concrete Gravity Flow Sewer Pipe, Using Rubber Gaskets (new 
lab test)

ASTM D2321
Underground Installation of Thermoplastic Pipe for Sewers and Other 
Gravity-Flow Applications

AASHTO Sect. 30 Thermoplastic Pipe - Installation Standard

ASTM C1479
Standard Practice for Installation of Precast Concrete Sewer, Storm Drain, 
and Culvert Pipe Using Standard Installations

AASHTO Sect. 27 Concrete Culverts - Installation Standard

ASTM F2487
Standard Practice for Infiltration & Exfiltration Acceptance of Installed HDPE 
Pipe

ASTM F1417
Standard Test Method for Installation Acceptance of Plastic Gravity Sewer 
Lines using Low-Pressure Air**

ASTM C969
Practice for Infiltration and Exfiltration Acceptance Testing of Installed 
Precast Concrete Pipe Sewer Lines

ASTM C924 Practice for Testing Concrete Pipe Sewer Lines by Low-Pressure Air**

Common ASTM and AASHTO Standards for PP and RCP Pipe

* ASTM F2736 has been incorporated into the latest version of ASTM F2764.
**Recommend use of rolling joint tester, unless pipes are cracked or porous. Testing full lengths of pipe using air pressure is extremely dangerous.
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Introduction 
The information in this document is designed to provide answers to general cover height questions; the data provided is not 
intended to be used for project design.  The design procedure described in the Structures section (Section 2) of the Drainage 
Handbook provides detailed information for analyzing most common installation conditions.  This procedure should be utilized 
for project specific designs.       

The two common cover height concerns are minimum cover in areas exposed to vehicular traffic and maximum cover heights.  
Either may be considered "worst case" scenario from a loading perspective, depending on the project conditions.   

Minimum Cover in Traffic Applications 
Pipe diameters from 12- through 48-inch (300-1200 mm) installed in traffic areas (AASHTO H-20, H-25, or HL-93 loads) must 
have at least one foot (0.3m) of cover over the pipe crown, while 60-inch (1500 mm) pipes must have at least 24 inches (0.6m) 
of cover.  The backfill envelope must be constructed in accordance with the Installation section (Section 5) of the Drainage 
Handbook and the requirements of ASTM D2321.  The backfill envelope must be of the type and compaction listed in 
Appendix A-5, Table A-5-2 of the Drainage Handbook.  In Table 1 below, this condition is represented by a Class III material 
compacted to 95% standard Proctor density or a Class II material compacted to 90% standard proctor density, although other 
material can provide similar strength at slightly lower levels of compaction.  Structural backfill material should extend to the 
crown of the pipe; the remaining cover should be appropriate for the installation and as specified by the design engineer.  If 
settlement or rutting is a concern, it may be appropriate to extend the structural backfill to grade.  Where pavement is involved, 
sub-base material can be considered in the minimum burial depth.  While rigid pavements can be included in the minimum 
cover, the thickness of flexible pavements should not be included in the minimum cover.     

Additional information that may affect the cover requirements is included in the Installation section (Section 5) of the Drainage 
Handbook.  Some examples of what may need to be considered are temporary heavy equipment, construction loading , 
paving equipment and similar loads that are less than the design load, the potential of pipe flotation, and the type of surface 
treatment which will be installed over the pipe zone.   

Table 1 
Minimum Cover Requirements for ADS HP Storm with AASHTO H-250, H-25, or HL-93 

Load 
Inside 

Diameter, ID, 
in.(mm) 

Minimum  
Cover  
ft. (m) 

Inside Diameter,  
ID, in.(mm) 

Minimum  
Cover  
ft. (m) 

12 (300) 1 (0.3) 36 (900) 1 (0.3) 
15 (375) 1 (0.3) 42 (1050) 1 (0.3) 
18 (450) 1 (0.3) 48 (1200) 1 (0.3) 
24 (600) 1 (0.3) 60 (1500) 2 (0.6) 
30 (750) 1 (0.3)   

Notes:
1. Minimum covers presented here were calculated assuming Class III backfill material compacted to 95% standard Proctor 

density or Class II backfill material compacted to 90% standard Proctor density around the pipe, as recommended in 
Section 5 of the Drainage Handbook, with an additional layer of compacted traffic lane sub-base for a total cover as 
required.  In shallow traffic installations, especially where pavement is involved, a good quality compacted material to 
grade is required to prevent surface settlement and rutting.

2. The minimum covers specified do not include pavement thickness. A pavement section of 0.4’ is typical.
3. Backfill materials and compaction levels not shown in the table may also be acceptable. Contact ADS for further detail.
4. Calculations assume no hydrostatic pressure and native soils that are as strong as the specified minimum backfill 

recommendations.

TECHNICAL NOTE 
Minimum and Maximum Cover Heights for HP Storm Pipe for Storm Drainage 

TN 2.04 
 Decemebr 2016 
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Maximum Cover 
Wall thrust generally governs the maximum cover a pipe can withstand and conservative maximum cover heights will result 
when using the information presented in the Structures section (Section 2) of the Drainage Handbook. Table 2 below shows 
the material properties consistent with the expected performance characteristics for HP Storm materials for a 100-year design 
life. 

The maximum burial depth is highly influenced by the type of backfill and level of compaction around the pipe.  General 
maximum cover limits for ADS HP Storm use in storm drainage applications are shown in Tables 3 for a variety of backfill 
conditions. 

Table 3 was developed assuming pipe is installed in accordance with ASTM D2321 and the Installation section (Section 5) of 
the Drainage handbook.  Additionally, the calculations assume no hydrostatic load around the pipe, incorporate the maximum 
conservative AASHTO  LRFD design factors represented in Structures section of the Drainage Handbook, use material 
properties consistent with the expected performance characteristics for HP Storm materials, as shown in Table 2, and assume 
the native (in-situ) soil is of adequate strength and suitable for installation.  For applications requiring fill heights greater than 
those shown in Table 3 or where hydrostatic pressure due to groundwater is expected, contact an ADS Engineer.  

Table 2 
ADS HP Storm Mechanical Properties 

Resin ASTM 
Specification 

Allowable 
Long Term 

Strain % 

Initial 75-Year 
Fu 

(psi) 
E 

(psi) 
Fu 

(psi) 
E 

(psi) 
Polypropylene, 
Impact-modified 

copolymer 
ASTM F2881 3.7 3,500 175,000 1,000 28,000 

 
Figure 1 

ADS HP Storm Pipe Trench Detail with Uniform Backfill  
(Traffic and Non-Traffic Applications) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
MIN TRENCH WIDTH

4" FOR 12"-24" PIPE
6" FOR 30"-60" PIPE

COVER TO
RIGID PAVEMENT, H

COVER TO
FLEXIBLE PAVEMENT, H

HAUNCH

INITIAL
BACKFILL

FINAL
BACKFILL

BEDDING

SUITABLE
FOUNDATION

SPRINGLINE
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Table 3 
Maximum Cover for ADS HP Storm Pipe with Uniform Backfill, ft (m) 
Diameter Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 
in (mm) Compacted 95% 90% 85% 3 95% 90% 3 95% 3 

12 (300) 41 28 21 16 20 16 16 
(12.5) (8.5) (6.4) (4.9) (6.1) (4.9) (4.9) 

15 (375) 42 29 21 16 21 16 16 
(12.8) (8.8) (6.4) (4.9) (6.4) (4.9) (4.9) 

18 (450) 
44 30 21 16 22 17 16 

(13.4) (9.1) (6.4) (4.9) (6.7) (5.2) (4.9) 

24 (600) 37 26 18 14 19 14 14 
(11.3) (7.9) (5.5) (4.3) (5.8) (4.3) (4.3) 

30 (750) 39 27 19 14 19 15 14 
(11.9) (8.2) (5.8) (4.3) (5.8) (4.6) (4.3) 

36 (900) 28 20 14 10 14 11 10 
(8.5) (6.1) (4.3) (3.0) (4.3) (3.4) (3.0) 

42 (1050) 30 21 14 10 15 11 10 
(9.1) (6.4) (4.3) (3.0) (4.6) (3.4) (3.0) 

48 (1200) 29 20 14 9 14 10 10 
(8.8) (6.1) (4.3) (2.7) (4.3) (3.0) (3.0) 

60 (1500) 29 20 14 9 14 10 9 
(8.8) (6.1) (4.3) (2.7) (4.3) (3.0) (2.7) 

Notes:
1. Results based on calculations shown in the Structures section of the ADS Drainage Handbook (v20.7). Calculations assume 

no hydrostatic pressure and a density of 120 pcf (1926 kg/m3) for overburden material.
2. Installation assumed to be in accordance with ASTM D2321 and the Installation section of the Drainage Handbook.
3. For installations using lower quality backfill materials or lower compaction efforts, pipe deflection may exceed the 5% design 

limit; however controlled deflection may not be a structurally limiting factor for the pipe. For installation where deflection is 
critical, pipe placement techniques or periodic deflection measurements may be required to ensure satisfactory pipe 
installation.

4. Backfill materials and compaction levels not shown in the table may also be acceptable. Contact ADS for further detail.
5. Material must be adequately “knifed” into haunch and in between corrugations. Compaction and backfill material is assumed 

uniform throughout entire backfill zone.    
6. Compaction levels shown are for standard Proctor density.  
7. For projects where cover exceeds the maximum values listed above, contact ADS for specific design considerations.
8. See ADS Standard Detail STD-101D for additional details.
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Montgomery City Council 

AGENDA REPORT 

 

Meeting Date: April 26, 2022 Budgeted Amount: N/A 

Department: Administration Prepared By: Richard Tramm 

 

Subject 

Discussion and consideration of mid-year cost of living adjustment for City staff. 

 

 

Recommendation 

Consider this item for approval. Possible actions for this item include: 

1. Approve the item as recommended, 

2. Approve the action at a different rate of increase, 

3. Defer the action for future consideration, 

4. Decline the item.  

 

 

Discussion 

During the most recent budget workshop late last summer, part of the discussion related to the 3% cost 

of living adjustment was whether this would be sufficient since there were signs inflation could go 

higher. At that time, I told City Council we could bring this item back up for consideration in the 

middle of the year if inflationary pressures continued to increase. The most recent Consumer Price 

Index information available is an annual increase of 8.5% for the most recent 12 months (April 2021 – 

March 2022). Since City staff received a 3% cost of living adjustment at the start of this year, a 5.5% 

increase at this time would be in line with the Consumer Price Index.  

 

My recommendation is for the City Council to provide a mid-year cost of living adjustment increase of 

5.5%, starting with the current pay period beginning April 17, 2022. 

 

 

Approved By 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

City Administrator 

 

Richard Tramm 

 

Date: April 21, 2022 
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Development Report 

April 2022 
 

Richard Tramm, City Administrator 
Dave McCorquodale, CPM, Assistant City Administrator and  

Director of Planning & Development 

 
 
April continues the trend of high activity in residential and commercial markets. 

Residential lot inventory in the City is on the rise with additional homesites recently 

made available.  New developments coming online this year will ensure attractive 

homesites remain available and infill construction in existing neighborhoods is 

increasing.  Commercial construction activity continues within existing 

developments on the east end of the City.  As the year progresses, we expect an 

increase in the pace and intensity of new development, which may be affected by 

rising interest rates and inflation pressures.  The City is well-positioned for and 

preparing to meet the additional demand on City services.   
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Commercial Development 
 
East End Commercial – 

Construction on the east end of 

Montgomery continues at a steady 

pace. The 26-acre Shoppes at 

Montgomery is building a second 

retail center to accommodate new 

businesses.  Discount Tire is in under 

engineering review and several other 

businesses have expressed interest in 

properties near the Kroger Shopping 

Center including Popeye’s Louisiana 

Kitchen.  

 

 

 

 
Central Business District & Historic Downtown –  
 
No new activity to report. 
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Residential Development 
 
Existing homesite inventory is available and several new residential subdivisions are under 

development in the City.  Although mortgage interest rates are on the rise, Montgomery is a 

desirable community and demand for new housing will likely remain strong for the immediate 

future. 

 
• 3 new homes completed in March 
• 7 new single-family home permits issued in March 

 
 
Hills of Town Creek Subdivision – Near Montgomery High School on the west side of 

the City, this subdivision has 130 single-family homesites.  Plans for a new 70-lot section have 

recently been submitted to the City for review.  This new addition will include extending Emma’s 

Way through to Lone Star Parkway to accommodate additional traffic. 

 
 
Town Creek Crossing – This addition to the Buffalo Springs Planned Development 

includes approximately 140 residential homesites and eight commercial reserves.  New home 

construction is currently underway. 
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City Development Activities   
 
Texas Water Development Board Funding - The City is utilizing $2.8 million in 

TWDB funding for infrastructure projects that include: 

• Downtown + SH105 Waterline (completed) to improve water flow to the west side of town.   
• Water Plant #3 (underway) to increase the capacity of the water system.   
• Lift Station #1 (completed) to increase the efficiency of the sewer system. 

 
 

General Land Office Severe Flood Mitigation Grant – In 2018, the City was 

awarded $2.2 million from the Texas General Land Office (GLO) for flood-related damages 

associated with 2016-2018 flooding events, which included the Memorial & Tax Day floods and 

Hurricane Harvey. The water and sewer lines on Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Drive were replaced 

and a standby generator is being added at Water Plant #3 as part of this project.  Due to changes in 

environmental regulations associated with the grant, the City is currently evaluating options to 

pursue drainage improvements outside of the grant program.   

 
Capital Improvement Planning – The City is continuing work on its long-term planning 

for water and wastewater infrastructure needs.  A workshop was held by City Council on March 

28th to discuss the city engineer’s draft plan for these long-term needs for the City. 

 

Transportation & Mobility – Several projects are underway to improve mobility in the 

City for both vehicular traffic and pedestrians.  

• FM149 turn lane: The City has been working with TxDOT on a turn lane at the intersection 

of SH105 & FM149 since early 2019.  The turn lane will serve northbound traffic on 

FM149 turning east on SH105.  Work is expected to be completed in September 2022. 

 

• TxDOT SH 105 Access Management Project: TxDOT plans to begin construction of raised 

medians in key locations between FM 2854 in Montgomery and I-45 in Conroe.  This multi-

year project will improve safety by reducing cross-traffic turning locations and providing 

dedicated single-direction turn lanes where the project study identified a need for them.  

144

Item 9.



Page | 5  
 

More about the project can be found at: https://www.txdot.gov/inside-

txdot/projects/studies/houston/sh105-access.html.  Click on the Project Tracker to see 

project details.  TxDOT is almost complete with a new westbound-to-northbound turn lane 

from SH 105 to Lone Star Parkway.  They are now working on a new eastbound-to-

southbound turn lane for the intersection. 

 

• Clepper Street Sidewalk Project: The City and MEDC are moving forward with a sidewalk 

project to connect the historic downtown to Fernland Historical Park, the public library, 

and Memory Park.  The design plans are complete and the City is working with property 

owners to obtain sidewalk easements as needed.  Bidding and project construction will 

follow. 

 
Downtown Improvement Plan – This MEDC-funded project to improve the downtown 

area began in November 2020 and was adopted by the MEDC and City Council in November 2021.  

The adopted plan can be downloaded from the City website on the MEDC’s webpage. 
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The next phase of the project will be the roadway and streetscape design for McCown Street.  The 

MEDC issued a Request for Qualifications for the project on April, 13, 2022 and expects to select 

a firm and move forward on the design of the project in May 2022.  The City is currently working 

on a drainage study for the downtown area and is also working on water and sewer upgrades that 

will be done before the above-ground improvements are constructed. 

Downtown concept drawing 
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Businesses Opened in 2022 
 
Symmetry Brows – 21065 Eva Street Suite C 

Forged 86 – 21065 Eva Street Suite H 

Bride & Bloom Floristry & Farm – 21123 Eva Street 

Suite 100 
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City of Montgomery Planning & Zoning Commission 
April 2022 Monthly Progress Report 

 
Commissioners: 

Place 1: Britnee Ghutzman 
Place 2: Bill Simpson, Vice-Chairman 
Place 3: Vacant 
Place 4: Merriam Walker 
Place 5: Jeffery Waddell, Chairman 

 
Regular Meeting held on April 5, 2022 with Britnee Ghutzman absent.  The Commission met at the 
Montgomery City Hall at 6:00 pm. 
 

• Reviewed and approved the Preliminary Plat for Porter Farms subdivision, a 90-lot 
residential development near the intersection of FM149 and FM 1097 East. 

 
• The city engineer provided an update on the proposed Redbird Meadows development 

 

 
Upcoming P&Z agenda items:  
 
No agenda items have been submitted at this time.   
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Ph: 713.462.8906 | info@salesrevenueinc.com | www.sales-revenue.com 
 

     

 

 

CITY OF MONTGOMERY, TEXAS 

 

Sales and Use Tax Allocation Report  

 

April 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

150

Item 10.



                                                                                                                                                

Page | 1  
 

 

 

A review of the monthly reports provided by the Comptroller of Public Accounts reflects 

5,321 active taxpayer accounts coded to the City of Montgomery. Many of the accounts 

are either E-Commerce related, or are coded as active but have not made a sale yet, and 

therefore are not reflected in the monthly report(s).  

 

 

 

The number of taxpayers filing local 

taxes fluctuates throughout the year. 

February and quarterly filing months 

have traditionally reflected the highest 

number of sales tax payers. 

Represented here is a listing of each 

month and the number of taxpayer 

returns filed in the District, quarterly 

filing months are listed in BOLD. 

 

 
 

 
Average number of taxpayers filing each month: 2,121 

14% increase in taxpayers over April 2021  
 

 

 

 

 

 

YEAR MONTH SALES TAX FILERS 
2021 April 1,874 
2021 May 2,159 
2021 June 2,058 
2021 July 2,051 
2021 August 2,194 
2021 September 2,045 
2021 October 2,058 
2021 November 2,207 

2021 December 2,098 
2022 January 2,232 
2022 February* 2,296 
2022 March 2,157 

2022 April 2,147 

Total Sales Tax Payers by Month 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 

 

Sales Taxpayer Information through April 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 
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Sales tax receipts for Calendar Year 2022 total $1,489,285.06 

Reviewing the past twelve month reporting period, the City of Montgomery sales tax 

receipts were derived from an average of 2,121 taxpayers filing local tax returns each 

month with February 2022 reflecting the highest taxpayer count of 2,296.  

 

anuary-Continued 

No. Permit Name NAICS 

1 MCCOY'S BUILDING SUPPLY CENTER #113 444190 

2 KROGER # 142 445110 

3 CHICK-FIL-A AT 105 & LONESTAR PKWY. FSR 722513 

4 PIZZA SHACK 722511 

5 ENTERGY TEXAS INC. 221122 

6 BROOKSHIRE BROTHERS #73 445110 

7 STEELFAB INC.  

8 MACSOUTH FOREST PRODUCTS LLC 454390 

9 JIM'S HARDWARE INC. 444130 

10 RISE COLLECTIVE LLC 236220 

11 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS #1838 441310 

12 MCDONALD'S 25405 722513 

13 PET SUPPLIES PLUS #4134 453910 

14 GOOGLE LLC 518210 

15 ALLEYTON RESOURCE COMPANY LLC 212321 

16 CHEWY INC. 453910 

17 AMAZON.COM SERVICES INC (MARKETPLACE) 454110 

18 STARBUCKS COFFEE #62996 722515 

19 EXPRESSWAY 447110 

20 RANSOM'S 722410 

21 AT&T #R1AS 517312 

22 FLORES PRODUCE 111219 

23 CIRCLE K #2742316 447110 

24 INTUIT INC. 334614 

25 BURGER KING 722513 

 

 

 

 

Sales Tax Allocations through April 2022 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 

 

Top 25 Sales Tax Filers - Twelve Months Combined 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 
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No. Permit Name NAICS 

1 MCCOY'S BUILDING SUPPLY CENTER #113 444190 

2 CADE COUNTRY BUILDINGS 339999 

3 CHICK-FIL-A AT 105 & LONESTAR PKWY. FSR 722513 

4 PIZZA SHACK 722511 

5 IANASHER LLC 423430 

6 GOOGLE LLC 518210 

7 PET SUPPLIES PLUS #4134 453910 

8 MCDONALD'S 25405 722513 

9 JIM'S HARDWARE INC. 444130 

10 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS #1838 441310 

11 INTUIT INC. 334614 

12 CHEWY INC. 453910 

13 SIGNATURE GRAPHICS INC 323113 

14 BFI WASTE SERVICES OF TEXAS LP 562111 

15 M2 THE AGENCY INC. 541810 

16 STARBUCKS COFFEE #62996 722515 

17 AMAZON.COM SERVICES INC (MARKETPLACE) 454110 

18 PANDA EXPRESS #3466 722513 

19 AT&T #R1AS 517312 

20 EXPRESSWAY 447110 

21 BUILDERS FIRSTSOURCE - TEXAS INSTALLED SALES LLC 236116 

22 AUTOZONE #6044 441310 

23 ALLEYTON RESOURCE COMPANY LLC 212321 

24 WENDY'S #86 722513 

25 RESTORATION HARDWARE INC. 442110 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Top 25 Sales Tax Filers - April 2022 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 

 

153

Item 10.



                                                                                                                                                

Page | 4  
 

 

 

 

                 April 2022                                                                       March 2022 

  

 

         Non-Quarterly Filer Month                              Non-Quarterly Filer Month                                                    
 

 

 

 

 

1 MCCOY'S BUILDING SUPPLY CENTER #113 

2 CADE COUNTRY BUILDINGS 

3 CHICK-FIL-A AT 105 & LONESTAR PKWY. FSR 

4 PIZZA SHACK 

5 IANASHER LLC 

6 GOOGLE LLC 

7 PET SUPPLIES PLUS #4134 

8 MCDONALD'S 25405 

9 JIM'S HARDWARE INC. 

10 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS #1838 

11 INTUIT INC. 

12 CHEWY INC. 

13 SIGNATURE GRAPHICS INC 

14 BFI WASTE SERVICES OF TEXAS LP 

15 M2 THE AGENCY INC. 

16 STARBUCKS COFFEE #62996 

17 AMAZON.COM SERVICES INC (MARKETPLACE) 

18 PANDA EXPRESS #3466 

19 AT&T #R1AS 

20 EXPRESSWAY 

21 BUILDERS FIRSTSOURCE - TEXAS INSTALLED SALES LLC 

22 AUTOZONE #6044 

23 ALLEYTON RESOURCE COMPANY LLC 

24 WENDY'S #86 

25 RESTORATION HARDWARE INC. 

1 MCCOY'S BUILDING SUPPLY CENTER #113 

2 SUMMIT PRECAST CONCRETE LLC 

3 CHICK-FIL-A AT 105 & LONESTAR PKWY. FSR 

4 PIZZA SHACK 

5 HAWK INSTALLATION AND CONSTRUCTION INC. 

6 GOOGLE LLC 

7 PET SUPPLIES PLUS #4134 

8 MCDONALD'S 25405 

9 JIM'S HARDWARE INC. 

10 PANDA EXPRESS #3466 

11 O'REILLY AUTO PARTS #1838 

12 EPIQ CORPORATE RESTRUCTURING LLC 

13 AUTOMOTIVE RENTALS INC. 

14 CHEWY INC. 

15 AMAZON.COM SERVICES INC (MARKETPLACE) 

16 COBURN SUPPLY COMPANY INC. 

17 AT&T #R1AS 

18 INTUIT INC. 

19 WENDY'S #86 

20 STARBUCKS COFFEE #62996 

21 EXPRESSWAY 

22 BFI WASTE SERVICES OF TEXAS LP 

23 RESTORATION HARDWARE INC. 

24 ALLEYTON RESOURCE COMPANY LLC 

25 AMAZON.COM SERVICES LLC 

April 2022 | March 2022 Top 25 Taxpayer Comparison 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 
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Fiscal Year Date Range: October-September        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Receipts of Sales Tax Were as 
Follows: 

April 2022 April 2021 

$278,593.13 $215,206.50 

Total Sales Tax 
Allocations Received: 

2022 FYTD 2022 Budget  % of Budget 

$2,593,965.56 $2,200,000 118% 

FY 2019 Total 
Allocations 

FY 2018 Total 
Allocations 

FY 2017 Total 
Allocations 

FY 2016 Total 
Allocations 

FY 2015 Total 
Allocations 

2014 Total 
Allocations 

$3,049,090.59 $2,298,289.34 $1,889,285.60 $1,867,030.18 $1,699,926.42 $1,688,374.26 

FY 2020 Total 
Allocations 

FY 2021 Total 
Allocations 

     

$2,661,447.47 $3,840,647.17      

Total Allocations, 1995-Present 

$38,543,442.05 

Calendar Year 2022 Sales Tax Averages Calendar Year 2021 Sales Tax Averages 

Total: $1,489,285.06 Total: $4,071,078.89 

Mean Allocation:      $372,321.27 Mean Allocation:         $339,256.57 

Median Allocation:    $300,125.91 Median Allocation:     $288,918.62 

April 2022 | 2021 Comparison 

 2015 Total  January 2016 April 2016 

Total Entities 123 133 140 
Sales Tax Permit 
Holder 

58 70 75 

Non Taxable 
Entities 

9 28 28 

Provide Service 
Only 

43 28 30 

Vacancies 5 4 4 
Misc.* 8 3 3 
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 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

JAN $236,764.92  $145,488.55  $174,487.10  $141,238.00  $170,531.07  $246,166.57  $281,476.57  

FEB $200,985.71  $204,006.24  $268,635.98  $289,215.49  $358,073.66  $450,079.02  $610,440.11  

MAR $125,057.26  $139,225.65  $149,964.30  $152,607.97  $0.00  $306,201.64  $318,775.25  

APR $130,098.69  $123,234.01  $144,205.61  $165,516.81  $2,724.55  $215,206.50  $278,593.13  

MAY $184,955.47  $182,757.15  $267,397.74  $283,049.52  $315,099.96  $440,192.71   

JUN $149,145.60  $153,336.53  $151,071.81  $191,260.13  $219,615.98  $279,583.10   

JUL $134,137.44  $132,394.32  $153,156.83  $189,741.79  $231,928.50  $288,879.49   

AUG $202,380.82  $190,648.43  $304,422.57  $398,641.13  $375,019.12  $466,305.61   

SEP $144,903.50  $181,625.33  $127,165.52  $599,991.27  $225,114.39  $273,783.75   

OCT $94,652.13  $125,361.52  $141,162.59  $248,593.82  $227,917.54  $274,762.64   

NOV $207,611.58  $253,111.48  $303,708.43  $305,939.66  $416,557.44  $540,960.11   

DEC $134,305.68  $179,308.88  $192,957.46  $208,806.76  $229,773.80  $288,957.75   
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 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 

JAN 121% -39% 20% -19% 21% 44% 14% 

FEB 9% 2% 32% 8% 24% 26% 36% 

MAR 15% 11% 8% 2% N/A N/A 4% 

APR -7% -5% 17% 15% -98% N/A 29% 

MAY 10% -1% 46% 6% 11% 40%  

JUN 3% 3% -1% 27% 15% 27%  

JUL 13% -1% 16% 24% 22% 25%  

AUG 23% -6% 60% 31% -6% 24%  

SEP 7% 25% -30% 372% -62% 22%  

OCT -20% 32% 13% 76% -8% 21%  

NOV 11% 22% 20% 1% 36% 30%  

DEC 155% 34% 8% 8% 10% 26%  
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FY2016 FY2017  FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 FY2021 FY2022 

$1,867,030.18 $1,889,285.60 $2,298,289.34 $3,049,090.59 $2,661,447.47 $3,840,647.17 $2,593,965.56 
10% 1% 22% 33% -13% 44%  
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 2016 2017 2018  2019 2020 2021 2022 

Mean $162,083.23 $167,541.51 $198,194.66 $264,550.20 $231,029.67 $339,256.57 $372,321.27  
Median $147,024.55 $166,322.71 $163,821.97 $228,700.29 $228,845.67 $288,918.62 $300,125.91  
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NAICS CODE NAICS CODE DESCRIPTION 

111219 
Other Vegetable (except Potato) and Melon 
Farming  

212321 Construction Sand and Gravel Mining  

221112 Fossil Fuel Electric Power Generation  

236220 
Commercial and Institutional Building 
Construction  

238140 Masonry Contractors  

238150 Glass and Glazing Contractors  

238210 
Electrical Contractors and Other Wiring 
Installation Contractors 

238990 All Other Specialty Trade Contractors 

334111 Electronic Computer Manufacturing  

334614 
Software and Other Prerecorded Compact Disc, 
Tape, and Record Reproducing  

423450 
Medical, Dental, and Hospital Equipment and 
Supplies Merchant Wholesalers  

423610 
Electrical Apparatus and Equipment, Wiring 
Supplies, and Related Equipment Merchant 
Wholesalers  

423830 
Industrial Machinery and Equipment Merchant 
Wholesalers  

441310 Automotive Parts and Accessories Stores  

442110 Furniture Stores  

442210 Floor Covering Stores  

443142 Electronics Stores  

444110 Home Centers  

444120 Paint and Wallpaper Stores  

444130 Hardware Stores  

444190 Other Building Material Dealers  

444220 Nursery, Garden Center, and Farm Supply Stores  

445110 
Supermarkets and Other Grocery (except 
Convenience) Stores  

446120 Cosmetics, Beauty Supplies, and Perfume Stores  

447110 Gasoline Stations with Convenience Stores  

447190 Other Gasoline Stations  

448140 Family Clothing Stores  

451211 Book Stores  

452210 Department Stores  

452319 All Other General Merchandise Stores  

453210 Office Supplies and Stationery Stores  

453910 Pet and Pet Supplies Stores  

453998 
All Other Miscellaneous Store Retailers (except 
Tobacco Stores)  

454110 Electronic Shopping and Mail-Order Houses  
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454390 Other Direct Selling Establishments  

511210 Software Publishers 

515210 Cable and Other Subscription Programming 

517311 Wired Telecommunications Carriers  

517312 
Wireless Telecommunications Carriers (except 
Satellite) 

518210 Data Processing, Hosting, and Related Services 

541410 Interior Design Services 

561710 Exterminating and Pest Control Services 

561730 Landscaping Services 

561790 Other Services to Buildings and Dwellings  

713940 Fitness and Recreational Sports Centers  

722410 Drinking Places (Alcoholic Beverages)  

722511 Full-Service Restaurants  

722513 Limited-Service Restaurants  

811111 General Automotive Repair  

 

161

Item 10.



162

Item 11.



163

Item 11.



164

Item 11.



 

 
Public Works Department 

101 Old Plantersville Rd. 

Montgomery, TX 77316 

Main: 936-597-6434 Fax: 936-597-6437 

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Monthly Report for March 2022 

Water 
 

- Repaired leak at Houston Street and SH 105. 

- Completed monthly cutoff list for nonpayment. 

- Completed monthly leak notification door hangers. 

- Completed monthly meter verification list. 

- Completed monthly check of idle meter list for consumption. No issues were found. 

- Activated/deactivated 6 water accounts. 

- Completed 5 work orders for endpoint maintenance issues. 

- Completed 5 work orders for water leaks. 

- Completed 7 work orders for miscellaneous water issues.  

- Completed 9 work orders for water taps. 
 

Wastewater 
- Added additional rock to driveway at WWTP #2. 

- Added additional electrical line to the new office for security system at WWTP #2. 

- Performed minor repairs and upgrades to new WWTP #2 office. 

- Assembled Foreman’s desk at new WWTP #2 office. 

- Removed hog trap from WWTP #1 and stored. 

- Completed 10 work orders for sewer taps. 
 

Streets/Drainage/ROW 
- Removed fallen tree following storm on Eva. 

- Completed items for weed patrol.  

- Cleared culverts around town following storm. 

- Assisted Lake Creek HOA with reinstallation of stop sign at Clepper and Racetrack intersection. 

- Participated in the Hills of Town Creek 1 year inspection. 

- Completed 4 work orders for Street ROW – Ditch/Drainage. 

- Completed 3 work orders for street sign issues. 

- Completed daily utility locates as necessary. 

- Completed daily removal of bandit signs as necessary. 

 

Building/Facility/Vehicle/Equipment Maintenance 
- Rinsed coils on all A/C condensers at Fernland Park, WWTP #2, Water Plant 2 & 3. 

- Performed minor repairs and upgrades to Assistant City Administrator’s office. 

- Repaired women’s toilet at Community Center. 

- Removed tree limbs and pressure washed at 777 Clepper. 
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- Assisted with fire flow tests at Shoppes of Montgomery. 

- Conducted weekly Safety Inspection Reports. 

- Completed monthly light bulb check at all facilities. 

- Delivered cases of water to City Hall as requested. 

- Completed weekly cleaning of Community Center. 

- Completed weekly pre-trip inspections of crew trucks. 

- Completed monthly check of all irrigation systems and made repairs as necessary. 

- Completed 16 work orders for general-City Hall maintenance. 
 

Parks/Recreation 
- Ordered and replaced all mini blinds at Fernland Park Simonton House. 

- Posted all park reservation notices. 

- Attended monthly meeting with lead Docent. 

- Completed 36 work orders for maintenance-parks issues. 

- M/W/F cleaning of all restrooms and grounds. 

- Fernland docents reported 1303 visitors and provided 87 tours for the month.  
 

General 
- Setup and removed Texas flags for Flag Festival on SH 105 and Cedar Brake Park. 

- Assisted with Montgomery Tree Giveaway provided by TX A&M Forestry Services. 

- Attended the Preconstruction Sanitary Sewer Cleaning and Televising project meeting.  

- Attended the Montgomery GLO Generator Bid Opening and Bid Discussion. 

- Met with HOA for Lake Creek HOA regarding streets. 

- Attended the Water Plant No. 3 Project Progress Meeting. 

- Participated in the One Year Warranty Inspection for Hills of Town Creek Section 4. 

- Met with TCEQ and H2O Innovations regarding Lonestar Estates water quality complaint. 

- Met with Dr. Montgomery regarding event at Fernland Park and Community Center. 

- Attended the Capital Improvement Plan Workshop. 

- Conducted Heavy Trash Weekend. 

- Delivered concrete goats as requested. 

- Attended Department Head meeting. 

- Attended Water Plant Generator Overview meeting. 

- Completed 34 work orders for maintenance-general issues. 

- Completed monthly safety meeting with department and safety officer. 

- Attended bi-weekly conference calls with utility operator and engineer.  
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City of Montgomery
Financial Report

3/31/2022
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CHECKING ACCT PRIOR MONTH END TOTAL FUNDS
BALANCES INVESTMENTS AVAILABLE

GENERAL FUNDS
OPERATING FUND     #1017375 2,341,699.27$    2,341,699.27$    
HOME GRANT FUNDS /COPS UNIVERSAL  #1032895 10.00$    10.00$    
ESCROW FUND    #1025873 -$    -$    
PARK FUND    #7014236 -$    -$    
POLICE DRUG & MISC FUND     #1025675 10,675.64$    10,675.64$    
INVESTMENTS - GENERAL FUND    -$   -$   
TEXPOOL - GENERAL FUND    # 00003 368,883.18$    368,883.18$   
TEXPOOL - RESERVE FUND    # 00001 861.57$     861.57$   
TOTAL GENERAL FUND 2,352,384.91$    369,744.75$    2,722,129.66$    

CONSTRUCTION FUND
BUILDING FUND     #1058528 -$    -$    
CONSTRUCTION ACCOUNT    #1058544 198,841.43$    198,841.43$    
BOK FINANCIAL SERIES 2017A 103,075.58$    103,075.58$    
BOK FINANCIAL SERIES 2017B 643,148.80$    643,148.80$    
TEXPOOL - AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN      # 00009 168,650.19$    168,650.19$    
TEXPOOL - INFRASTRUCTURE    # 0011 46,713.75$    46,713.75$    
TEXPOOL - MOBILITY     # 0012 10,002.79$    10,002.79$    
INVESTMENTS - CONSTRUCTION -$   -$   
TOTAL CONSTRUCTION FUND 945,065.81$    225,366.73$    1,170,432.54$    

DEBT SERVICE FUND
DEBT SERVICE FUND    #7024730 147,177.57$    147,177.57$    
TEXPOOL DEBT SERVICE       # 00008 -$   517.57$    517.57$    
TOTAL DEBT SERVICE FUND 147,177.57$    517.57$    147,695.14$    

COURT SECURITY FUND     #1070580 5,212.12$    -$   5,212.12$   

COURT TECHNICAL FUND     #1058361 40,842.94$    -$   40,842.94$   

GRANT FUND
HOME GRANT ACCOUNT     #1059104 10.00$    10.00$    
GRANT ACCOUNT     #1048479 10.00$    10.00$    
TOTAL GRANT FUND 20.00$    -$   20.00$   

HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX FUND     #1025253 19,493.72$    -$   19,493.72$   

MEDC 
CHECKING ACCOUNT   #1017938 1,597,076.22$    1,597,076.22$    
TEXPOOL - MEDC    # 00006 442,452.43$    442,452.43$    
TEXPOOL - MEDC    # 00005 197,328.57$    197,328.57$    
TEXPOOL - MEDC    # 00010 200,073.01$    200,073.01$    
TOTAL MEDC 1,597,076.22$    839,854.01$    2,436,930.23$    

POLICE ASSET FORFEITURES    #1047745 12,086.80$    12,086.80$    

UTILITY FUND
UTILITY FUND     #1017383 1,785,033.82$    1,785,033.82$    
INVESTMENTS - UTILITY FUND    -$   -$   
TEXPOOL - UTILITY FUND    # 00002 759,830.00$    759,830.00$   
TOTAL UTILITY FUND 1,785,033.82$    759,830.00$    2,544,863.82$    

TOTAL ALL FUNDS 6,904,393.91$    2,195,313.06$    9,099,706.97$    

TEXPOOL - GENERAL FUND 369,744.75$    
INVESTMENTS - GENERAL FUND  -$    

TEXPOOL - CONST  # 00009 168,650.19$    
TEXPOOL - CONST  # 00011 46,713.75$    
TEXPOOL - CONST  # 00012 10,002.79$    

TEXPOOL - DEBT SERVICE    # 00008 517.57$    

TEXPOOL - MEDC 442,452.43$    
INVESTMENTS - MEDC 197,328.57$    
INVESTMENTS - MEDC 200,073.01$    

TEXPOOL - UTILITY 759,830.00$    
INVESTMENTS - UTILITY -$    

TOTAL ALL INVESTMENTS 2,195,313.06$    

*Note: 

CITY OF MONTGOMERY 
ACCOUNT BALANCES 03-31-2022 

For Meeting of April 26, 2022

INVESTMENTS

1
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List of Disbursements / Receipts - City of Montgomery for period 03/01 to 03/31/2022

Account

Fund: 100 - General Fund

Cash In Bank - General Fund

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/11/2022 Deposit March Sales Tax Collections 239,081.44$            

03/11/2022 Deposit March 2022 Admin MEDC Transfers 4,583.34$                

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from MEDC Fund 403.01$                   

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from MEDC Fund 4,583.33$                

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from MEDC Fund 4,583.34$                

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from MEDC Fund 108.57$                   

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from MEDC Fund 1,144.98$                

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Utility Fund 3,279.95$                

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Utility Fund 735.03$                   

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Utility Fund 66,556.03$              

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Utility Fund 11,705.39$              

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Utility Fund 1,021.30$                

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Court Security Fund 75.00$                     

03/31/2022 Deposit Miscellaneous Deposits - March 2022 3,218.00$                

03/31/2022 Deposit Miscellaneous Deposits - March 2022 20.00$                     

03/31/2022 Deposit Miscellaneous Deposits - March 2022 61,251.58$              

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 Tax Entries - O/S 712.56$                   

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 Tax Entries  - EOM 359.41$                   

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 Tax Entries - Current / P&I 5,525.81$                

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 Court Entries 46,292.14$              

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 Court Entries - O/S 483.80$                   

03/31/2022 Deposit E-Grant Reimbursement 4214601 42,075.00$              

03/31/2022 Deposit Rendition Penalties March 2022 2.21$                       

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 Beverage Tax Collections 2,000.54$                

03/31/2022 Deposit TXDOT Funds- Step Grant Reimbursement 114.04$                   

03/31/2022 Deposit FEMA Funds - Texas Dept of Emergency Mgmt 333.00$                   

Total Deposits 500,248.80$            

03/04/2022 32117 AEJenkins Design, LLC (550.51)$                  

03/04/2022 32118 Amazon Capital Services (173.74)$                  

03/04/2022 32119 Belt Harris Pechacek LLLP (14,997.00)$             

03/04/2022 32120 City of Montgomery - Utility Fund (1,112.18)$               

03/04/2022 32121 Daniel Trent Lozano (26.60)$                    

03/04/2022 32122 Easley Enterprises of Texas, Inc. (700.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32123 Google LLC (1,242.42)$               

03/04/2022 32124 HMBA (150.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32125 Impact Promotional Services LLC (432.15)$                  

03/04/2022 32126 Montgomery Central Appraisal District (2,430.67)$               

03/04/2022 32127 Municipal Accounts & Consulting, L.P. (9,346.40)$               

03/04/2022 32128 Municode (2,100.00)$               

03/04/2022 32129 OCS, Inc. (4,000.00)$               

03/04/2022 32130 Office Pride (1,039.20)$               

03/04/2022 32131 Rick Hanna, CBO (10,630.76)$             

03/04/2022 32132 Robert Rosenquist (1,000.00)$               

03/04/2022 32133 Rustic Cashmere LLC (50.00)$                    

03/04/2022 32134 Sales Revenue, Inc. (1,400.00)$               

03/04/2022 32135 Sarah Leone (150.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32136 Silencerco, LLC (4,206.80)$               

03/04/2022 32137 Stowe's Collision Repair LLC (71.88)$                    

03/04/2022 32138 Strahl LLC (595.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32139 Texas Municipal League (591.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32140 Thomas Printing & Publishing (389.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32141 ULINE, INC. (415.07)$                  

03/04/2022 32142 Vanessa Schiller (150.00)$                  

03/04/2022 32143 Ward, Getz and Associates (3,297.50)$               

03/04/2022 32144 OCS, Inc. (1,043.28)$               

03/04/2022 32044 Kambra Drummond - VOID -$                         

03/04/2022 32145 Optiquest Internet Services, Inc (214.95)$                  

03/04/2022 32146 Rebecca Huss (150.00)$                  

03/10/2022 32175 Houston Chronicle (383.54)$                  

03/11/2022 32147 Payroll (1,218.58)$               

03/11/2022 32148 Payroll (140.38)$                  

03/11/2022 32149 Payroll (676.61)$                  

03/11/2022 32150 Payroll (2,034.46)$               

03/11/2022 32151 Payroll (1,766.08)$               
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03/11/2022 32152 Payroll (1,099.73)$               

03/11/2022 32153 Payroll (182.85)$                  

03/11/2022 32154 Payroll (1,291.42)$               

03/11/2022 DD Payroll EFT (52,020.71)$             

03/11/2022 ACH Office of the Attorney General (1,205.54)$               

03/11/2022 ACH EFTPS (2,337.78)$               

03/11/2022 ACH EFTPS (9,996.16)$               

03/11/2022 ACH EFTPS (7,365.11)$               

03/11/2022 32155 Always Answer (29.70)$                    

03/11/2022 32156 Amazon Capital Services (1,559.73)$               

03/11/2022 32157 Bride & Bloom Floristry and Farm (802.00)$                  

03/11/2022 32158 Conroe/Lake Conroe Chamber of Commerce (20.00)$                    

03/11/2022 32159 Consolidated Communications (1,346.04)$               

03/11/2022 32160 CWK Real Estate Holdings (500.00)$                  

03/11/2022 32161 Entergy (1,364.54)$               

03/11/2022 32162 Houston Chronicle (369.00)$                  

03/11/2022 32163 Jim's Hardware (1,546.28)$               

03/11/2022 32164 JK Graphics, Inc. (300.00)$                  

03/11/2022 32165 LDC (406.99)$                  

03/11/2022 32166 OCS, Inc. (6,886.88)$               

03/11/2022 32167 Old Republic Title Co. (10,000.00)$             

03/11/2022 32168 Texas Workforce Commission - VOID -$                         

03/11/2022 32169 TML - IRP (7,295.34)$               

03/11/2022 32170 UBEO LLC (2,015.00)$               

03/11/2022 32171 UniFirst Holdings, Inc. (145.65)$                  

03/11/2022 32172 UniFirst Holdings, Inc. (428.30)$                  

03/11/2022 32173 Verizon (366.37)$                  

03/11/2022 32174 Wex Bank (980.82)$                  

03/17/2022 32176 Amazon Capital Services (308.04)$                  

03/17/2022 32177 AT&T (1,755.66)$               

03/17/2022 32178 Auto Trust Repairs (150.00)$                  

03/17/2022 32179 Card Service Center (10,089.63)$             

03/17/2022 32180 Cody's Lawn Service LLC (5,927.65)$               

03/17/2022 32181 Gordon B. Dudley. Jr. (450.00)$                  

03/17/2022 32182 Impact Promotional Services LLC (831.86)$                  

03/17/2022 32183 Innovative Collison and Accessories LLC (962.36)$                  

03/17/2022 32184 Johnson Petrov LLP (8,625.55)$               

03/17/2022 32185 Larry Evans (75.00)$                    

03/17/2022 32186 MCCI, LLC (7,132.80)$               

03/17/2022 32187 McCoy's Building Supply Corporation (637.83)$                  

03/17/2022 32188 Michael Shirley (450.00)$                  

03/17/2022 32189 Milton Weinzettle (200.00)$                  

03/17/2022 32190 Municipal Code Corp. (287.50)$                  

03/17/2022 32191 Municode (2,500.00)$               

03/17/2022 32192 NAPA Auto Parts (147.60)$                  

03/17/2022 32193 Nova Medical Centers (337.78)$                  

03/17/2022 32194 On Site Decals, LLC (450.00)$                  

03/17/2022 32195 O'Reilly Automotive, Inc. (9.99)$                      

03/17/2022 32196 Pathmark Traffic Equipment (203.40)$                  

03/17/2022 32197 Positive Promotions (90.12)$                    

03/17/2022 32198 Rick Hanna, CBO (11,725.46)$             

03/17/2022 32199 Spherion Staffing, LLC (1,946.88)$               

03/17/2022 32200 Tyler Technologies (10,590.04)$             

03/17/2022 32201 UBEO, LLC (883.26)$                  

03/17/2022 32202 Ultimate Lighting Solutions, LLC (1,236.00)$               

03/17/2022 32203 Vulcan Materials Company (5,201.54)$               

03/17/2022 32204 Wex Bank (4,016.35)$               

03/18/2022 32205 Larry Evans (300.00)$                  

03/18/2022 32206 Tyler Technologies (1,820.00)$               

03/24/2022 32208 Amazon Capital Services (208.48)$                  

03/24/2022 32209 Belt Harris Pechacek LLLP (9,998.00)$               

03/24/2022 32210 Consolidated Communications (129.06)$                  

03/24/2022 32211 Crown Paper and Chemical Inc. (19.80)$                    

03/24/2022 32212 Entergy (1,143.77)$               

03/24/2022 32213 Medical Air Services Association (140.00)$                  

03/24/2022 32214 OCS (160.00)$                  

03/24/2022 32215 Optiquest Internet Services, Inc (170.00)$                  

03/24/2022 32216 Pathmark Traffic Equipment (48.90)$                    

03/24/2022 32217 Spherion Staffing, LLC (2,184.00)$               

03/24/2022 32218 Tyler Technologies (1,102.50)$               

03/24/2022 32219 Verizon - VOID -$                         

03/24/2022 32220 Verizon  Connect NWF, Inc (80.95)$                    

03/25/2022 32207 Payroll (162.54)$                  
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03/25/2022 DD Payroll EFT (64,618.82)$             

03/25/2022 ACH Office of the Attorney General (1,205.54)$               

03/25/2022 ACH EFTPS (2,511.50)$               

03/25/2022 ACH EFTPS (10,738.76)$             

03/25/2022 ACH EFTPS (8,180.36)$               

03/25/2022 ACH Aflac (1,383.72)$               

03/25/2022 ACH TML-Health (25,788.46)$             

03/25/2022 32221 Texas Municipal Clerks Association, Inc. (100.00)$                  

03/25/2022 32222 Kyle Hensley. (352.00)$                  

03/31/2022 ACH Staples Business Credit (1,828.48)$               

03/31/2022 32223 Amazon Capital Services (139.92)$                  

03/31/2022 32224 City of Montgomery - Utility Fund (1,241.48)$               

03/31/2022 32225 Conroe Courier. (17.00)$                    

03/31/2022 32226 Dataprose LLC (169.44)$                  

03/31/2022 32227 Entergy (1,404.12)$               

03/31/2022 32228 Ger Nay Pest Control (212.00)$                  

03/31/2022 32229 Home Depot (4,712.71)$               

03/31/2022 32230 Sales Revenue, Inc. (1,400.00)$               

03/31/2022 32231 Texas Workforce Commission - VOID -$                         

03/31/2022 32232 TMRS (28,440.04)$             

03/31/2022 32233 Tyler Technologies (1,616.34)$               

03/31/2022 32234 Vulcan Materials Company (711.58)$                  

03/31/2022 32235 Zoom Video Communications, Inc. (149.90)$                  

03/31/2022 32236 Heather White (150.00)$                  

03/31/2022 32237 Spherion Staffing, LLC (2,926.95)$               

03/31/2022 32238 Tyler Technologies (403.71)$                  

03/31/2022 32239 Buckalew Chevrolet, LP (388.75)$                  

03/31/2022 32240 Daniel Trent Lazano (18.91)$                    

03/31/2022 32241 Innovative Collison and Accessories LLC (794.00)$                  

03/31/2022 32242 Stowe's Collision Repair LLC (125.19)$                  

03/31/2022 32243 Texas Top Cop Shop (59.95)$                    

03/31/2022 32244 Ultimate Lighting Solutions, LLC (650.00)$                  

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to Court Security Fund (90.69)$                    

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to Court Tech Fund (120.92)$                  

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to Debt Service Fund (65,488.74)$             

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to MEDC Fund - Sales Tax (79,693.81)$             

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to MEDC Fund (1,625.00)$               

03/31/2022 ACH Bank Fees - March 2022 (1,126.23)$               

03/31/2022 ACH UBEO LLC (2,015.00)$               

Total Disbursements (588,228.02)$           

Investments - CD's

03/31/2022 Transfer Principal on CD Maturing (153,000.00)$           

Total Disbursements (153,000.00)$           

Texpool - General

03/31/2022 Transfer Principal on CD Maturing 153,000.00$            

03/31/2022 INT Interest Income 303.63$                   

Total Deposits 153,303.63$            

Fund: 200 - Capital Projects

Cash In Bank - Construction Fund

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from Series 2017B Escrow TWDB 31,188.21$              

03/31/2022 Deposit GLO Funds - Draw 3 42,975.00$              

03/31/2022 Deposit GLO Funds - Draw 4 18,902.00$              

Total Deposits 93,065.21$              

03/17/2022 1382 Grant Works (10,472.00)$             

03/17/2022 1383 Jones & Carter, Inc (51,405.00)$             

Total Disbursements (61,877.00)$             

BOKF, NA Escrow - Series 2017B

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to Series 2017B Escrow TWDB (31,188.21)$             

Total Disbursements (31,188.21)$             

Fund: 300 - Water & Sewer

Cash In Bank - Water & Sewer Fund

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/31/2022 Deposit Transfer from MEDC Fund 90.00$                     

03/31/2022 Deposit Transfer from MEDC Fund 90.00$                     

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 A/R Collections 3,228.82$                
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03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 A/R Collections 2,950.00$                

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 A/R Collections 860.00$                   

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 A/R Collections 198,718.72$            

03/31/2022 Deposit March 2022 A/R Collections 20.00$                     

Total Deposits 205,957.54$            

03/03/2022 15715 Adams Homes (96.50)$                    

03/03/2022 15716 Brittany Smith (100.30)$                  

03/03/2022 15717 Crystal Bell (105.87)$                  

03/03/2022 15718 Electrical Field Services, Inc. (470.93)$                  

03/03/2022 15719 Hercules Industries, Inc. (529.70)$                  

03/03/2022 15720 Josh Cheatham (73.59)$                    

03/03/2022 15721 SFR JV-HD Property LLC (22.18)$                    

03/03/2022 15722 Vivian Hamilton (89.00)$                    

03/04/2022 15723 Dataprose LLC (773.37)$                  

03/04/2022 15724 Spherion Staffing, LLC (798.72)$                  

03/10/2022 15725 Badger Meter (1,051.09)$               

03/10/2022 15726 DataProse, LLC (259.44)$                  

03/10/2022 15727 DXI Industries Inc. (624.14)$                  

03/10/2022 15728 Electrical Field Services, Inc. (269.10)$                  

03/10/2022 15729 Entergy (7,902.42)$               

03/10/2022 15730 K-3 Resources,  LP (7,020.00)$               

03/10/2022 15731 LDC (60.94)$                    

03/10/2022 15732 Spherion Staffing, LLC (998.40)$                  

03/10/2022 15733 State Comptroller - VOID -$                         

03/10/2022 15734 Texas Excavation Safety System, Inc. (93.10)$                    

03/10/2022 15735 Vulcan Materials Company (142.13)$                  

03/10/2022 15736 Vulcan Materials Company (149.45)$                  

03/10/2022 ACH State Comptroller (1,361.09)$               

03/17/2022 15737 DSHS Central Lab MC2004 (213.92)$                  

03/17/2022 15738 DXI Industries Inc. (200.00)$                  

03/17/2022 15739 Tyler Technologies (82.00)$                    

03/17/2022 15740 Waste Management (16,422.24)$             

03/24/2022 15741 Coburn's Conroe Inc. (340.00)$                  

03/24/2022 15742 H2O Innovation (25,620.85)$             

03/24/2022 15743 Terry Casey (125.00)$                  

03/31/2022 15744 Claudia Murray (55.34)$                    

03/31/2022 15745 Dataprose LLC (259.44)$                  

03/31/2022 15746 Electrical Field Services, Inc. (3,013.78)$               

03/31/2022 15747 EWC Properties (12.25)$                    

03/31/2022 15748 Harrisburg Homes, LLC (96.50)$                    

03/31/2022 15749 Kara Witzkoski (22.18)$                    

03/31/2022 15750 Megan Murphy (17.02)$                    

03/31/2022 15751 Old Iron Works, LLC (47.46)$                    

03/31/2022 15752 Stylecraft Builders (208.20)$                  

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (735.03)$                  

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (1,547.42)$               

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (3,279.95)$               

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (66,556.03)$             

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (11,705.39)$             

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (1,021.30)$               

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (20.00)$                    

Total Disbursements (154,592.76)$           

TexPool - Utility

03/31/2022 Transfer Principal on CD Maturing 100,000.00$            

03/31/2022 INT Interest Income 73.67$                     

Total Deposits 100,073.67$            

CD Investments

03/31/2022 Transfer Principal on CD Maturing (100,000.00)$           

Total Disbursements (100,000.00)$           

Fund: 400 - MEDC

Cash In Bank - MEDC Checking

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/11/2022 Deposit March Sales Tax Collections 79,693.81$              

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from General Fund 1,625.00$                

Total Deposits 81,318.81$              

03/02/2022 2173 Amy Brown (3,034.22)$               

03/02/2022 2174 Rebecca Huss (68.25)$                    
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03/04/2022 2175 Rebecca Huss (1,500.00)$               

03/07/2022 2176 Angela Love (100.00)$                  

03/07/2022 2177 Montgomery Fire Department (250.00)$                  

03/07/2022 2178 Randy Burleigh (150.00)$                  

03/07/2022 2179 Rustic Cashmere (100.00)$                  

03/07/2022 2180 Scott Howard (250.00)$                  

03/07/2022 2181 The Rancher's Daughter (150.00)$                  

03/10/2022 2182 Bride & Bloom Floristry & Farm (460.00)$                  

03/11/2022 Transfer March 2022 Admin MEDC Transfers (4,583.34)$               

03/18/2022 2183 JK Graphics, Inc. (93.75)$                    

03/22/2022 2184 Charlie Diggs Entertainment (8,000.00)$               

03/31/2022 2185 Amy Brown (3,131.92)$               

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (403.01)$                  

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (1,144.98)$               

03/31/2022 Transfer February 2022 Admin MEDC Transfers (4,583.33)$               

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (108.57)$                  

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to Utility Fund (90.00)$                    

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to Utility Fund (90.00)$                    

Total Disbursements (28,291.37)$             

TexPool - MEDC General

03/11/2022 Transfer March 2022 MEDC Kroger Transfer (20,833.34)$             

Total Disbursements (20,833.34)$             

TexPool - Reimbursement/Kroger

03/11/2022 Transfer March 2022 MEDC Kroger Transfer 20,833.34$              

Total Deposits 20,833.34$              

Fund: 500 - Debt Service

Cash In Bank - Debt Service Fund

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from General Fund 65,488.74$              

Total Deposits 65,488.74$              

Fund: 600 - Grant Acct - No activity for Month of March

Fund: 700 - Court Security

Cash In Bank - Court Security

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from General Fund 90.69$                     

Total Deposits 90.69$                     

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer to General Fund (75.00)$                    

Total Disbursements (75.00)$                    

Fund: 750 - Court Technology

Cash In Bank - Court Technology

Post Date Check / Deposit / ACH Description Amount

03/31/2022 Transfer Transfer from General Fund 120.92$                   

Total Deposits 120.92$                   

Fund: 800 - Hotel Occupancy - No activity for Month of March

Fund: 850 - Police Asset - No activity for Month of March

Interest on Bank Accounts : Amount

BOK Financial 2123 Series 2017B 3.15$                       

BOK Financial 2124 Series 2017A 0.48$                       

Texpool XXXX0001 General Fund - Reimb 0.14$                       

Texpool XXXX0002 Utility Fund 99.10$                     

Texpool XXXX0003 General Fund 48.12$                     

Texpool XXXX0005 MEDC Fund - Reimb 25.35$                     

Texpool XXXX0006 MEDC Fund 58.16$                     
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Texpool XXXX0009 Capital Projects - American Rescue Plan 22.00$                     

Texpool XXXX0010 MEDC Fund - Downtown Development 26.11$                     

Texpool XXXX0011 Capital Projects - Mobility 1.27$                       

Texpool XXXX0012 Capital Projects - Infrastructure 6.11$                       

FFB General Fund XXXX7375 General Fund 80.62$                     

FFB General Fund XXXX7383 Utility Fund 61.12$                     

FFB General Fund XXXX7938 MEDC Fund 53.93$                     

FFB General Fund XXXX8361 Court Tech Fund 0.70$                       

FFB General Fund XXXX5253 Hotel Occupancy 0.33$                       

FFB General Fund XXXX4730 Debt Service 3.05$                       
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Budget 
Remaining

17,160.46               
87,323.59               

7,479.67                 
435.62                    

7,671.32                 
55.01                      

1,147,889.77         
573,945.89            

26,287.00               
(350.00)                   
(250.00)                   

2,567.00                 
(609.75)                   

11,050.00               
1,768.05                 
6,505.66                 

100.00                    
350.00                    

133,616.35            
786.53                    

50.00                      
636.24                    
500.00                    
245.00                    
188.06                    

(490.44)                   
364.34                    
558.81                    

(29,438.98)             
41,195.46               

168,494.00            
27,500.00               

2,500.00                 
2,236,084.66         

26,023.75               
883.53                    
263.69                    

2,652.93                 
442.80                    

20,019.65               
222,736.76            

(4,665.57)                
500.00                    

26,174.73               
303.51                    

8,961.00                 
21,950.00               

1,616.46                 
3,274.60                 
2,500.00                 
3,279.80                 

19,960.35               
1,000.00                 

204.00                    
92,930.84               
14,257.15               

5.00                         
2,000.00                 
2,462.20                 
1,000.00                 
1,961.13                 

-                           
1,043.82                 
7,897.54                 
5,138.66                 

14,480.00               
2,845.13                 

26,462.50               
41,055.83               

100-10-16249-0000000 Contract Services - Computer/Technology 19,500.00                 19,500.00                  10,535.96          16,654.87                
100-10-16252-0000000 Contract Services- Code Enforcement 30,000.00                 30,000.00                  287.50               3,537.50                   
100-10-16254-0000000 Contract Services - Software Upgrades 78,500.00                 78,500.00                  11,367.50          37,444.17                

100-10-16243-0000000 Contract Services - Telephone 12,000.00                 12,000.00                  428.81               4,102.46                   
100-10-16244-0000000 Contract Services - Tax Assessor Fees 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  2,430.67            4,861.34                   
100-10-16245-0000000 Contract Services - Election 14,500.00                 14,500.00                  -                      20.00                        

100-10-16239-0000000 Contract Services - Printing & Office supplies 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    1,871.45            3,038.87                   
100-10-16241-0000000 Contract Services - Computers/Website 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    2,500.00            2,500.00                   
100-10-16242-0000000 Contract Services - Postage/Delivery 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      956.18                      

100-10-16217-0000000 Contract Services - Engineering 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      -                            
100-10-16223-0000000 Contract Services - Accounting Fees 35,000.00                 35,000.00                  9,346.40            32,537.80                
100-10-16224-0000000 Contract Services - Repairs & Maintenance 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      -                            

400.00                       400.00                       -                      196.00                      
100-10-16210-0000000 Contract Services - Inspections Permits Backflows 195,000.00               195,000.00                22,356.22          102,069.16              
100-10-16213-0000000 Contract Services - Legal Fees 40,000.00                 40,000.00                  7,947.55            25,742.85                
100-10-16216-0000000 Contract Services - Audit Fees 25,000.00                 25,000.00                  24,995.00          24,995.00                

100-10-16103-0000000 Communications - Recording Fees 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      -                            
100-10-16104-0000000 Communications - Community Relations 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    100.00               720.20                      
100-10-16202-0000000 Contract Services - General Consultant Fees 20,000.00                 20,000.00                  -                      39.65                        
100-10-16203-0000000 Contract Services - Sales Tax Tracking 8,000.00                    8,000.00                    1,400.00            7,000.00                   
100-10-16209-0000000 Contract Services - Records Shredding

100-10-16015-0000000 Personnel - Dependent Insurance 21,950.00                 21,950.00                  -                      -                            
100-10-16101-0000000 Communications - Advertising / Promotion 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    383.54               383.54                      
100-10-16102-0000000 Communications - Legal Notices & Publications 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    369.00               1,725.40                   

100-10-16012-0000000 Personnel - Retirement Expense 45,000.00                 45,000.00                  -                      18,825.27                
100-10-16013-0000000 Personnel - MASA 400.00                       400.00                       (1.51)                   96.49                        
100-10-16014-0000000 Personnel - COLA 8,961.00                    8,961.00                    -                      -                            

100-10-16009-0000000 Personnel - Wages 465,500.00               465,500.00                34,786.96          242,763.24              
100-10-16010-0000000 Personnel - Overtime 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    1,964.68            5,665.57                   
100-10-16011-0000000 Personnel - Employee Assistance Program 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            

100-10-16005-0000000 Personnel - Dental & Vision Insurance 4,500.00                    4,500.00                    255.42               1,847.07                   
100-10-16006-0000000 Personnel - Life & AD&D Insurance 700.00                       700.00                       -                      257.20                      
100-10-16008-0000000 Personnel - Payroll Taxes 35,000.00                 35,000.00                  -                      14,980.35                

Expense
100-10-16002-0000000 Personnel - Health Insurance 45,000.00                 45,000.00                  657.30               18,976.25                
100-10-16003-0000000 Personnel - Unemployment Insurance 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    (878.13)              116.47                      
100-10-16004-0000000 Personnel - Workers Comp 3,500.00                    3,500.00                    99.87                  3,236.31                   

100-00-14950-0000000 Transfers In - Admin from MEDC 55,000.00                 55,000.00                  -                      27,500.00                
100-00-14960-0000000 Transfers In - Admin from Court Security 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      -                            

Revenue Total: 5,406,080.00           5,406,080.00            328,843.29       3,169,995.34          

100-00-14880-F4332DR Other Revenues - FEMA Reimb - Atkins Creek -                             -                              333.00               29,438.98                
100-00-14910-0000000 Other Revenues - Grant Revenue - Police 42,075.00                 42,075.00                  114.04               879.54                      
100-00-14930-0000000 Other Revenues - American Rescue Plan Funds 168,494.00               168,494.00                -                      -                            

100-00-14650-0000000 Other Revenues - Unanticipated Income 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  1,406.00            15,490.44                
100-00-14670-0000000 Other Revenues - Interest Income 750.00                       750.00                       80.62                  385.66                      
100-00-14680-0000000 Other Revenues - Interest on Investments 1,200.00                    1,200.00                    351.89               641.19                      

100-00-14410-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Accident Reports 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            
100-00-14530-0000000 Other Revenues - Wrecker Service Fees 245.00                       245.00                       -                      -                            
100-00-14570-0000000 Other Revenues - Leose Funds - PD 1,300.00                    1,300.00                    -                      1,111.94                   

100-00-14370-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - OMNI 1,600.00                    1,600.00                    259.82               813.47                      
100-00-14390-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Warrant Fees 50.00                         50.00                          -                      -                            
100-00-14400-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Judicial Efficiency 700.00                       700.00                       19.42                  63.76                        

100-00-14320-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Asset Fortfeitures 100.00                       100.00                       -                      -                            
100-00-14340-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Child Belt/Safety 500.00                       500.00                       -                      150.00                      
100-00-14360-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Fines 300,000.00               300,000.00                43,854.38          166,383.65              

100-00-14210-0000000 Fees for Service - Community Building Rental 16,000.00                 16,000.00                  500.00               4,950.00                   
100-00-14230-0000000 Fees for Service - Right of Way Use Fees 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    4.08                    3,231.95                   
100-00-14310-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Collection Fees 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  2,415.71            8,494.34                   

100-00-14130-0000000 Permits & Licenses - Sign Fee 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      1,250.00                   
100-00-14140-0000000 Permits & Licenses - Plats, Zoning, Misc. 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    740.00               2,433.00                   
100-00-14150-0000000 Permits & Licenses - Culverts -                             -                              -                      609.75                      

100-00-14080-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Sales Tax ILO AdVal Tax 1,152,789.00            1,152,789.00            79,693.81          578,843.11              
100-00-14110-0000000 Permits & Licenses - Building Permits/MEP 250,000.00               250,000.00                33,386.50          223,713.00              
100-00-14120-0000000 Permits & Licenses - Vendor/Beverage Permits 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    -                      1,850.00                   

100-00-14050-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Penalties & Interest 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  (529.06)              2,328.68                   
100-00-14060-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Rendition Penalties 100.00                       100.00                       2.21                    44.99                        
100-00-14070-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Sales Tax 2,305,576.00            2,305,576.00            159,387.63        1,157,686.23           

100-00-14020-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Franchise Tax 95,000.00                 95,000.00                  -                      7,676.41                   
100-00-14030-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Ad Valorem Taxes 889,101.00               889,101.00                4,822.70            881,621.33              
100-00-14040-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - PID Tax Revenue 39,000.00                 39,000.00                  -                      38,564.38                

Budget Summary - 03/2022
City of Montgomery, TX Account Summary

For Fiscal: 2021-2022 Period Ending: 03/31/2022

Original 
Total Budget

Current 
Total Budget MTD Activity YTD Activity

Fund: 100 - General Fund
Revenue

100-00-14010-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Beverage Tax 31,000.00                 31,000.00                  2,000.54            13,839.54                
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Budget 
Remaining

3,873.99                 
3,279.55                 

660.00                    
3,633.00                 
5,923.77                 
2,868.20                 
4,098.22                 
2,864.69                 

500.00                    
67.20                      

(343.59)                   
(14,779.83)             
349,809.00            

2,558.05                 
125,000.00            

57,500.00               
38,815.00               

Subtotal Administrative Expenses        1,965,035.00 1,965,035.00           186,935.29     807,085.96           1,157,949.04         

61,271.80               
2,181.30                 

13,179.28               
6,680.29                 
2,966.40                 

76,350.75               
456,939.21            

12,387.58               
1,050.00                 

53,274.62               
577.51                    

18,850.00               
49,850.00               

2,028.43                 
304.00                    

18,551.97               
8,319.36                 
3,764.00                 
2,943.20                 
8,000.00                 

259.53                    
4,922.62                 
6,590.12                 

(6,631.32)                
5,200.00                 
4,911.65                 
7,000.00                 
1,704.98                 
2,367.37                 

100.00                    
12,635.77               
20,732.00               

1,500.00                 
1,576.75                 
9,713.32                 
7,355.24                 
2,442.90                 

40,000.00               
4,990.13                 

15,000.00               
12,357.07               

7,000.00                 
6,113.00                 
2,283.78                 
7,859.20                 

-                           
4,128.81                 

(20,397.00)             
6,752.55                 

302.88                    
Subtotal Police Department Expenses 1,863,262.00      1,863,262.00           109,149.32     895,020.95           968,241.05            

12,165.75               
313.18                    

1,104.63                 
903.78                    
253.20                    

7,312.72                 
69,940.93               

(461.71)                   
500.00                    

100-12-16010-0000000 Personnel - Overtime 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    121.80               2,461.71                   
100-12-16011-0000000 Personnel - Employee Assistance Program 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            

100-12-16006-0000000 Personnel - Life & AD&D Insurance 300.00                       300.00                       -                      46.80                        
100-12-16008-0000000 Personnel - Payroll Taxes 12,900.00                 12,900.00                  -                      5,587.28                   
100-12-16009-0000000 Personnel - Wages 155,800.00               155,800.00                12,544.26          85,859.07                

100-12-16003-0000000 Personnel - Unemployment Insurance 400.00                       400.00                       (519.41)              86.82                        
100-12-16004-0000000 Personnel - Workers Comp 6,000.00                    6,000.00                    322.09               4,895.37                   
100-12-16005-0000000 Personnel - Dental & Vision Insurance 1,800.00                    1,800.00                    118.84               896.22                      

100-11-16921-0000000 Capital Outlay - Office Maintenance 11,800.00                 11,800.00                  (845.81)              5,047.45                   
100-11-17001-0000000 Misc Expenses - Other 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      2,197.12                   

100-12-16002-0000000 Personnel - Health Insurance 23,000.00                 23,000.00                  1,438.10            10,834.25                

100-11-16918-0000000 Capital Outlay - Miscellaneous -                             -                              (42,075.00)        -                            
100-11-16919-0000000 Capital Outlay - Patrol Weapons 12,000.00                 12,000.00                  650.00               7,871.19                   
100-11-16920-0000000 Capital Outlay - Traffic Equipment 27,000.00                 27,000.00                  -                      47,397.00                

100-11-16913-0000000 Capital Outlay - Radar 12,500.00                 12,500.00                  -                      6,387.00                   
100-11-16916-0000000 Capital Outlay - Investigate & Testing Equipment 6,500.00                    6,500.00                    -                      4,216.22                   
100-11-16917-0000000 Capital Outlay - Ballistic Vests & Shields 14,000.00                 14,000.00                  4,206.80            6,140.80                   

100-11-16910-0000000 Capital Outlay - Vehicle Replacement - CPF 24011 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      -                            
100-11-16911-0000000 Capital Outlay - Computers Equipment 18,000.00                 18,000.00                  15.99                  5,642.93                   
100-11-16912-0000000 Capital Outlay - Copsync 7,000.00                    7,000.00                    -                      -                            

100-11-16702-0000000 Insurance - Property 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    406.00               2,557.10                   
100-11-16906-0000000 Capital Outlay - Police Cars 40,000.00                 40,000.00                  -                      -                            
100-11-16907-0000000 Capital Outlay - Emergency Lights, Decals 7,500.00                    7,500.00                    450.00               2,509.87                   

100-11-16502-0000000 Staff Development - Dues & Subscriptions 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      923.25                      
100-11-16503-0000000 Staff Development - Travel & Training Staff 21,000.00                 21,000.00                  1,441.44            11,286.68                
100-11-16701-0000000 Insurance - Liability 17,000.00                 17,000.00                  1,067.46            9,644.76                   

100-11-16415-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Emergency Equipment 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      2,364.23                   
100-11-16416-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Radios 21,902.00                 21,902.00                  -                      1,170.00                   
100-11-16417-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Capital Pur. Furniture 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    -                      -                            

7,000.00                    7,000.00                    -                      -                            
100-11-16404-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Copier/Fax Machine 5,500.00                    5,500.00                    1,071.32            3,795.02                   
100-11-16405-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Operating Supplies 7,000.00                    7,000.00                    1,964.07            4,632.63                   
100-11-16411-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Tools, Etc, 300.00                       300.00                       200.00               200.00                      

100-11-16247-0000000 Contract Services - Mobil Data Terminal 12,000.00                 12,000.00                  1,755.66            5,409.88                   
100-11-16249-0000000 Contract Services - Computer/Technology 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  4,784.64            16,631.32                
100-11-16401-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Radio Fees 5,200.00                    5,200.00                    -                      -                            
100-11-16402-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Uniforms & Safety Equip 9,000.00                    9,000.00                    891.81               4,088.35                   
100-11-16403-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Protective Gear

100-11-16241-0000000 Contract Services - Computers/Website 8,000.00                    8,000.00                    -                      -                            
100-11-16242-0000000 Contract Services - Postage/Delivery 500.00                       500.00                       -                      240.47                      
100-11-16243-0000000 Contract Services - Telephone 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  798.01               5,077.38                   

100-11-16229-0000000 Contract Services - Auto Repairs 27,000.00                 27,000.00                  4,758.17            18,680.64                
100-11-16230-0000000 Contract Services - Equipment repairs 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    1,236.00            1,236.00                   
100-11-16239-0000000 Contract Services - Printing & Office supplies 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    557.73               1,056.80                   

100-11-16104-0000000 Communications - Community Relations 5,500.00                    5,500.00                    45.11                  3,471.57                   
100-11-16209-0000000 Contract Services - Records Shredding 500.00                       500.00                       -                      196.00                      
100-11-16227-0000000 Contract Services - Gas/Oil 40,000.00                 40,000.00                  4,016.35            21,448.03                

100-11-16013-0000000 Personnel - MASA 850.00                       850.00                       (7.51)                   272.49                      
100-11-16014-0000000 Personnel - COLA 18,850.00                 18,850.00                  -                      -                            
100-11-16015-0000000 Personnel - Dependent Insurance 49,850.00                 49,850.00                  -                      -                            

100-11-16010-0000000 Personnel - Overtime 50,000.00                 50,000.00                  8,228.87            37,612.42                
100-11-16011-0000000 Personnel - Employee Assistance Program 1,050.00                    1,050.00                    -                      -                            
100-11-16012-0000000 Personnel - Retirement Expense 90,000.00                 90,000.00                  -                      36,725.38                

100-11-16006-0000000 Personnel - Life & AD&D Insurance 4,200.00                    4,200.00                    -                      1,233.60                   
100-11-16008-0000000 Personnel - Payroll Taxes 105,000.00               105,000.00                -                      28,649.25                
100-11-16009-0000000 Personnel - Wages 965,000.00               965,000.00                102,581.83        508,060.79              

100-11-16003-0000000 Personnel - Unemployment Insurance 2,260.00                    2,260.00                    (2,151.28)           78.70                        
100-11-16004-0000000 Personnel - Workers Comp 27,000.00                 27,000.00                  1,522.18            13,820.72                
100-11-16005-0000000 Personnel - Dental & Vision Insurance 12,000.00                 12,000.00                  893.52               5,319.71                   

100-10-17320-380AGR0 Tax Rebatement - 380 Ad Valorem Tax Rebate 115,000.00               115,000.00                9,583.33            57,500.00                
100-10-17330-0000000 Tax Rebatement - PID Property Tax Reimb 38,815.00                 38,815.00                  -                      -                            

100-11-16002-0000000 Personnel - Health Insurance 123,000.00               123,000.00                10,685.96          61,728.20                

100-10-17004-0000000 Misc Expenses - Captial Proj Trans Infra 24013 349,809.00               349,809.00                -                      -                            
100-10-17180-0000000 Leases - Parks and Recreation - Adams Park 8,000.00                    8,000.00                    -                      5,441.95                   
100-10-17310-KROGER0 Tax Rebatement -Sales Tax Rebate 250,000.00               250,000.00                20,833.33          125,000.00              

100-10-16915-0000000 Capital Outlay - Laserfische Software 7,200.00                    7,200.00                    7,132.80            7,132.80                   
100-10-16923-0000000 Capital Outlay - General Improvements -                             -                              -                      343.59                      
100-10-17001-0000000 Misc Expenses - Other 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    11,785.00          15,779.83                

100-10-16701-0000000 Insurance - Liability 7,000.00                    7,000.00                    249.54               2,901.78                   
100-10-16702-0000000 Insurance - Property 5,300.00                    5,300.00                    405.16               2,435.31                   
100-10-16703-0000000 Insurance - Bond 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            

100-10-16502-0000000 Staff Development - Dues & Subscriptions 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    591.00               1,367.00                   
100-10-16503-0000000 Staff Development - Travel & Training Staff 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  350.00               4,076.23                   
100-10-16504-0000000 Staff Development - Travel & Training Council 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    133.85               2,131.80                   

100-10-16404-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Copier/Fax Machine 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  1,815.64            6,126.01                   
100-10-16405-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Operating Supplies 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    11.45                  720.45                      
100-10-16417-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Capital Pur. Furniture 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    840.00               840.00                      
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4,746.79                 
(28.00)                     

2,806.00                 
5,400.00                 

500.00                    
1,500.00                 
1,000.00                 

(53.65)                     
82,216.00               

150.00                    
2,500.00                 

55,499.45               
3,310.07                 
1,263.77                 
2,327.93                 
4,478.66                 
3,328.44                 
4,394.53                 
8,320.31                 

19,721.76               
7,000.00                 
1,300.00                 
4,920.00                 
1,656.14                 

433.77                    
750.00                    
557.34                    

4,443.58                 
2,491.70                 
1,925.23                 
6,612.28                 
3,487.01                 
5,670.35                 
1,136.53                 
2,340.15                 
1,673.93                 
1,265.54                 
1,767.07                 
2,380.00                 
1,000.00                 
1,421.00                 
3,443.45                 

24,554.66               
17,439.85               
20,617.07               
19,906.94               

1,330.86                 
792.05                    
334.86                    

6,576.31                 
553.83                    

1,114.52                 
767.86                    

2,570.90                 
7,579.70                 
2,523.33                 
7,193.24                 
3,972.01                 
7,000.00                 

(9,375.32)                
7,050.00                 
3,731.10                 

211,270.00            
Subtotal Public Works Expenses 1,078,961.00      1,078,961.00           46,779.70        388,367.62           690,593.38            

14,621.92               
445.28                    
225.08                    

1,145.01                 
162.56                    
355.74                    

9,294.17                 
84,966.77               

2,907.84                 
150.00                    

11,367.42               
241.01                    

2,696.00                 
14,350.00               

100-13-16014-0000000 Personnel - COLA 2,696.00                    2,696.00                    -                      -                            
100-13-16015-0000000 Personnel - Dependent Insurance 14,350.00                 14,350.00                  -                      -                            

100-13-16011-0000000 Personnel - Employee Assistance Program 150.00                       150.00                       -                      -                            
100-13-16012-0000000 Personnel - Retirement Expense 17,850.00                 17,850.00                  -                      6,482.58                   
100-13-16013-0000000 Personnel - MASA 350.00                       350.00                       (3.01)                   108.99                      

100-13-16008-0000000 Personnel - Payroll Taxes 14,500.00                 14,500.00                  -                      5,205.83                   
100-13-16009-0000000 Personnel - Wages 162,300.00               162,300.00                14,749.66          77,333.23                
100-13-16010-0000000 Personnel - Overtime 3,750.00                    3,750.00                    114.73               842.16                      

100-13-16005-0000000 Personnel - Dental & Vision Insurance 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    130.58               854.99                      
100-13-16006-0000000 Personnel - Life & AD&D Insurance 200.00                       200.00                       -                      37.44                        
100-13-16007-0000000 Personnel - Crime Insurance 600.00                       600.00                       40.71                  244.26                      

100-13-16002-0000000 Personnel - Health Insurance 25,500.00                 25,500.00                  1,686.72            10,878.08                
100-13-16003-0000000 Personnel - Unemployment Insurance 500.00                       500.00                       (326.36)              54.72                        
100-13-16004-0000000 Personnel - Workers Comp 1,800.00                    1,800.00                    100.11               1,574.92                   

100-12-16924-0000000 Capital Outlay - Drainage Improvements 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      2,950.00                   
100-12-17001-0000000 Misc Expenses - Other 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    -                      268.90                      
100-12-17150-0000000 Contract Labor - Streets 220,000.00               220,000.00                -                      8,730.00                   

100-12-16911-0000000 Capital Outlay - Computers Equipment 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    27.99                  27.99                        
100-12-16922-0000000 Capital Outlay - Public Works Items 7,000.00                    7,000.00                    -                      -                            
100-12-16923-0000000 Capital Outlay - General Improvements 100,000.00               100,000.00                10,528.54          109,375.32              

100-12-16809-0000000 Utilities - City Hall 13,000.00                 13,000.00                  2,029.79            5,420.30                   
100-12-16811-0000000 Utilities - Community Center Building 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    652.00               2,476.67                   
100-12-16812-0000000 Utilities - Memory Park 8,000.00                    8,000.00                    349.12               806.76                      

100-12-16806-0000000 Utilities - Cedar Brake Park 2,200.00                    2,200.00                    150.87               1,085.48                   
100-12-16807-0000000 Utilities - Homecoming Park 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    131.13               732.14                      
100-12-16808-0000000 Utilities - Fernland Park 5,800.00                    5,800.00                    651.87               3,229.10                   

100-12-16803-0000000 Utilities - Electronic Sign-City 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    63.11                  665.14                      
100-12-16804-0000000 Utilities - Street Lights 12,000.00                 12,000.00                  1,143.77            5,423.69                   
100-12-16805-0000000 Utilities - Downtown Utilities 1,200.00                    1,200.00                    108.74               646.17                      

100-12-16604-0000000 Maintenance - Park Maint - Homecoming Park 20,000.00                 20,000.00                  37.99                  93.06                        
100-12-16701-0000000 Insurance - Liability 2,400.00                    2,400.00                    178.19               1,069.14                   
100-12-16702-0000000 Insurance - Property 1,340.00                    1,340.00                    87.00                  547.95                      

100-12-16601-0000000 Maintenance - Park Maint - Memory Pk 25,000.00                 25,000.00                  -                      445.34                      
100-12-16602-0000000 Maintenance - Park Maint - Fernland 20,000.00                 20,000.00                  2,050.18            2,560.15                   
100-12-16603-0000000 Maintenance - Park Maint - Cedar Brake Park 25,000.00                 25,000.00                  300.00               4,382.93                   

100-12-16414-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Code Enforcement 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      -                            
100-12-16502-0000000 Staff Development - Dues & Subscriptions 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      579.00                      
100-12-16503-0000000 Staff Development - Travel & Training Staff 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    -                      1,556.55                   

100-12-16411-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Tools, Etc, 2,750.00                    2,750.00                    135.48               1,484.46                   
100-12-16412-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Memory Park 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      232.93                      
100-12-16413-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Culverts 3,000.00                    3,000.00                    -                      620.00                      

100-12-16408-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Homecoming Park 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      863.47                      
100-12-16409-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Fernland Park 2,750.00                    2,750.00                    -                      409.85                      
100-12-16410-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Community Building 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      326.07                      

100-12-16405-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Operating Supplies 9,000.00                    9,000.00                    1,075.07            2,387.72                   
100-12-16406-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Streets & Drainage 3,500.00                    3,500.00                    -                      12.99                        
100-12-16407-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Cedar Break Park 6,500.00                    6,500.00                    -                      829.65                      

750.00                       750.00                       -                      192.66                      
100-12-16243-0000000 Contract Services - Telephone 8,400.00                    8,400.00                    452.43               3,956.42                   
100-12-16249-0000000 Contract Services - Computer/Technology 18,000.00                 18,000.00                  1,410.32            15,508.30                
100-12-16402-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Uniforms & Safety Equip 3,900.00                    3,900.00                    286.98               1,974.77                   

100-12-16237-0000000 Contract Services - Mosquito Spraying 5,500.00                    5,500.00                    -                      580.00                      
100-12-16238-0000000 Contract Services - Street Signs 3,000.00                    3,000.00                    264.79               1,343.86                   
100-12-16239-0000000 Contract Services - Printing & Office supplies 1,200.00                    1,200.00                    548.87               766.23                      
100-12-16241-0000000 Contract Services - Computers/Website 750.00                       750.00                       -                      -                            
100-12-16242-0000000 Contract Services - Postage/Delivery

100-12-16232-0000000 Contract Services - Street Repairs - Minor 20,000.00                 20,000.00                  -                      278.24                      
100-12-16233-0000000 Contract Services - Streets-Preventive Maintenance 7,000.00                    7,000.00                    -                      -                            
100-12-16234-0000000 Contract Services - City Hall Cleaning - COVID 19 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    700.00               700.00                      

100-12-16229-0000000 Contract Services - Auto Repairs 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    44.00                  1,671.56                   
100-12-16230-0000000 Contract Services - Equipment repairs 5,500.00                    5,500.00                    904.97               1,105.47                   
100-12-16231-0000000 Contract Services - Bldg Repairs-City Hall/Comm 18,000.00                 18,000.00                  740.86               9,679.69                   

100-12-16225-0000000 Contract Services - Downtown Repairs 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    -                      236.23                      
100-12-16226-0000000 Contract Services - Maint - Vehicles & Equipment 3,000.00                    3,000.00                    242.70               672.07                      
100-12-16227-0000000 Contract Services - Gas/Oil 7,750.00                    7,750.00                    490.41               3,271.34                   

100-12-16213-0000000 Contract Services - Legal Fees 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      -                            
100-12-16217-0000000 Contract Services - Engineering 85,000.00                 85,000.00                  -                      29,500.55                
100-12-16224-0000000 Contract Services - Repairs & Maintenance 9,300.00                    9,300.00                    1,039.20            5,989.93                   

100-12-16202-0000000 Contract Services - General Consultant Fees -                             -                              -                      53.65                        
100-12-16208-0000000 Contract Services - Mowing 116,000.00               116,000.00                5,927.65            33,784.00                
100-12-16209-0000000 Contract Services - Records Shredding 150.00                       150.00                       -                      -                            

100-12-16101-0000000 Communications - Advertising / Promotion 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            
100-12-16102-0000000 Communications - Legal Notices & Publications 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    -                      -                            
100-12-16104-0000000 Communications - Community Relations 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      -                            

100-12-16013-0000000 Personnel - MASA -                             -                              -                      28.00                        
100-12-16014-0000000 Personnel - COLA 2,806.00                    2,806.00                    -                      -                            
100-12-16015-0000000 Personnel - Dependent Insurance 5,400.00                    5,400.00                    -                      -                            

100-12-16012-0000000 Personnel - Retirement Expense 10,915.00                 10,915.00                  -                      6,168.21                   
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400.00                    
7,008.95                 
2,188.00                 
9,050.00                 

4.01                         
6,000.00                 

13,174.53               
302.42                    

2,208.70                 
220.34                    

2,627.83                 
(654.31)                   

132,752.78            
100.00                    

3,251.17                 
2,316.24                 

500.00                    
705.00                    

6,315.00                 
50.00                      

1,170.00                 
956.10                    

Subtotal Court Expenses 497,516.00         497,516.00              21,414.04        163,940.44           333,575.56            

500.00                    
100.00                    
(50.00)                     

Subtotal Non Fund Expenses 600.00                 600.00                      -                    50.00                     550.00                    

3,150,909.03         

160,000.00            
628,469.00            

15,000.00               
349,809.00            

2,150,623.00         
100,000.00            
(22,272.26)             

(67.75)                     
26.51                      
43.51                      

942,612.00            
4,324,243.01         

-                           
97,888.00               

7,263.99                 
(10,942.40)             
15,000.00               

123,595.00            
50,000.00               

501,000.00            
60,182.50               

716,060.00            
200.59                    

311,000.00            
504,981.25            
250,763.75            
722,600.00            
668,040.00            

15,000.00               
40,000.00               

4,072,632.68         

452,645.33            
4,316.19                 
7,808.65                 

434,248.89            
(36,112.00)             

7,900.00                 
7,224.49                 

221.43                    
16,000.00               

300-00-34190-0000000 Late Charges 17,500.00                 17,500.00                  1,488.44            10,275.51                
300-00-34200-0000000 Returned Check Fee 1,150.00                    1,150.00                    234.90               928.57                      
300-00-34210-0000000 Backflow Testing 16,000.00                 16,000.00                  -                      -                            

300-00-34160-0000000 Sewer Revenue 787,700.00               787,700.00                51,065.71          353,451.11              
300-00-34170-0000000 Tap Fees/Inspections 300,000.00               300,000.00                43,250.00          336,112.00              
300-00-34180-0000000 Grease Trap Inspections 19,300.00                 19,300.00                  1,850.00            11,400.00                

Fund: 300 - Water & Sewer
Revenue

300-00-34110-0000000 Water Revenue 812,000.00               812,000.00                49,896.69          359,354.67              
300-00-34130-0000000 Surface Water Revenue 8,200.00                    8,200.00                    502.53               3,883.81                   
300-00-34150-0000000 Disconnect Reconnect 11,000.00                 11,000.00                  118.56               3,191.35                   

Expense Total: 4,532,975.00           4,532,975.00            61,877.00         460,342.32              

Fund: 200 - Capital Projects Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              33.01                 (251,610.33)            

200-20-26712-017B366 Capital Outlay - Anders Branch GLO 668,040.00               668,040.00                -                      -                            
200-20-26713-017B366 Capital Outlay - GLO Environmental 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      -                            
200-20-26714-017B366 Capital Outlay - GLO Acquisition - Land 40,000.00                 40,000.00                  -                      -                            

200-20-26509-0000000 Roadway System - Streets / Sidewalks 508,000.00               508,000.00                -                      3,018.75                   
200-20-26704-0000000 Capital Outlay - Utility Projects Prev Maint 255,800.00               255,800.00                -                      5,036.25                   
200-20-26707-017B366 Capital Outlay - Baja / MLK GLO 722,600.00               722,600.00                -                      -                            

200-20-26404-0062715 Water System - Water Plant #3 Imp TWDB 996,550.00               996,550.00                -                      280,490.00              
200-20-26408-7217320 Water System - Baja MLK Water & Drain 7320 38,000.00                 38,000.00                  -                      37,799.41                
200-20-26409-0000000 Water System - Bleach Conversion 2&3 311,000.00               311,000.00                -                      -                            

200-20-26120-0000000 Engineering - WP Bleach Conversion 2&3 50,000.00                 50,000.00                  -                      -                            
200-20-26401-017B366 Water System - WP #3 Generator - GLO 501,000.00               501,000.00                -                      -                            
200-20-26402-0062715 Water System - Downtown SH 105 Water Line TWDB 91,300.00                 91,300.00                  -                      31,117.50                

200-20-26104-0000000 Engineering - Waterline Replace Houston St -                             -                              -                      10,942.40                
200-20-26107-0062715 Engineering - Downtown SH 105 Imp - TWDB 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      -                            
200-20-26117-017B366 Engineering - All GLO 175,000.00               175,000.00                51,405.00          51,405.00                

Expense
200-20-26002-7217320 Grant Admin - Baja Project - CDBG 7320 3,325.00                    3,325.00                    -                      3,325.00                   
200-20-26003-017B366 Grant Admin Expenses - GLO All Projects 108,360.00               108,360.00                10,472.00          10,472.00                
200-20-26102-0062715 Engineering - Water Plant #3 Imp - TWDB 34,000.00                 34,000.00                  -                      26,736.01                

200-00-24502-0073740 Interest Earned on Investments - 2017B 70.00                         70.00                          3.15                    26.49                        
200-00-24700-0000000 Use of Surplus Funds 942,612.00               942,612.00                -                      -                            

Revenue Total: 4,532,975.00           4,532,975.00            61,910.01         208,731.99              

200-00-24302-7217320 Grant Funds - CDBG Baja 7320 56,985.00                 56,985.00                  -                      79,257.26                
200-00-24500-0000000 Interest Earned on Investments -                             -                              29.38                  67.75                        
200-00-24501-0062715 Interest Earned on Investments - 2017A 30.00                         30.00                          0.48                    3.49                          

200-00-24013-0000000 Transfer From General Fund - Infrastructure 349,809.00               349,809.00                -                      -                            
200-00-24104-0000000 Other - Proceeds GLO 2,280,000.00            2,280,000.00            61,877.00          129,377.00              
200-00-24203-F4332DR FEMA Grant Revenue - Impact Fees 100,000.00               100,000.00                -                      -                            

Revenue
200-00-24003-0000000 Transfer from MEDC - Other 160,000.00               160,000.00                -                      -                            
200-00-24005-0000000 Transfer From Utility Fund - Capital 628,469.00               628,469.00                -                      -                            
200-00-24011-0000000 Transfer From General Fund - Police Veh 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      -                            

100-17-17000-0000000 Misc Expenses -                             -                              -                      50.00                        

Expense Total: 5,405,374.00           5,405,374.00            364,278.35       2,254,464.97          

Fund: 100 - General Fund Surplus (Deficit): 706.00                       706.00                       (35,435.06)        915,530.37              

Fund: 200 - Capital Projects

100-13-17001-0000000 Misc Expenses - Other 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      43.90                        

100-17-16400-0000000 Supplies & Equipment 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            
100-17-16500-0000000 Staff Development 100.00                       100.00                       -                      -                            

100-13-16503-0000000 Staff Development - Travel & Training Staff 6,500.00                    6,500.00                    -                      185.00                      
100-13-16701-0000000 Insurance - Liability 50.00                         50.00                          -                      -                            
100-13-16702-0000000 Insurance - Property 1,170.00                    1,170.00                    -                      -                            

100-13-16405-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Operating Supplies 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      183.76                      
100-13-16417-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Capital Pur. Furniture 500.00                       500.00                       -                      -                            
100-13-16502-0000000 Staff Development - Dues & Subscriptions 750.00                       750.00                       -                      45.00                        

100-13-16251-0000000 Contract Services - State Portion of Fines/Payouts 160,000.00               160,000.00                -                      27,247.22                
100-13-16402-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Uniforms & Safety Equip 100.00                       100.00                       -                      -                            
100-13-16404-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Copier/Fax Machine 8,800.00                    8,800.00                    1,641.48            5,548.83                   

100-13-16242-0000000 Contract Services - Postage/Delivery 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      1,779.66                   
100-13-16243-0000000 Contract Services - Telephone 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    -                      1,372.17                   
100-13-16249-0000000 Contract Services - Computer/Technology 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    1,269.59            5,654.31                   

100-13-16222-0000000 Contract Services - Collection Agency 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      1,825.47                   
100-13-16239-0000000 Contract Services - Printing & Office supplies 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    109.83               697.58                      
100-13-16241-0000000 Contract Services - Computers/Website 5,500.00                    5,500.00                    -                      3,291.30                   

100-13-16209-0000000 Contract Services - Records Shredding 200.00                       200.00                       -                      195.99                      
100-13-16211-0000000 Contract Services - Judge's Fee 12,000.00                 12,000.00                  1,000.00            6,000.00                   

100-13-16202-0000000 Contract Services - General Consultant Fees 8,000.00                    8,000.00                    -                      991.05                      
100-13-16205-0000000 Contract Services - Omni Expense 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      312.00                      
100-13-16207-0000000 Contract Services - Prosecutors Fees 14,000.00                 14,000.00                  900.00               4,950.00                   

100-13-16104-0000000 Communications - Community Relations 400.00                       400.00                       -                      -                            
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Budget 
Remaining

91,146.80               
6,887.06                 

103,385.40            
100,000.00            

105.19                    
244.70                    
615.00                    
315.00                    

5,031.25                 
(1,297.57)                

1,200,685.81         

22,002.75               
491.10                    

2,094.15                 
1,624.29                 

724.37                    
255.74                    

14,356.15               
13,692.20               

151,604.68            
2,333.36                 
5,600.00                 

16,200.00               
9,975.00                 

15,000.00               
19,418.20               
67,775.00               

6,204.44                 
16,000.00               
10,282.16               

6,878.83                 
19,570.00               

4.61                         
777.04                    

5,241.94                 
54,064.53               

101,485.81            
1,500.00                 

27,599.30               
1,920.00                 

440.63                    
22,847.34               

1,092.65                 
56,657.47               

2,812.92                 
22,563.17               

(534.50)                   
3,990.00                 

877.26                    
76,108.43               

2,324.40                 
8,659.67                 
4,400.27                 
2,419.94                 

15,217.32               
685.99                    

39,750.36               
59,511.03               
11,475.21               
10,000.00               
69,207.70               

100,000.00            
(121.89)                   

17,188.28               
628,469.00            

1,750,718.30         

421,156.91            
3,465.39                 

250.00                    
(10,475.00)             

414,397.30            Revenue Total: 1,004,250.00           1,004,250.00            82,222.36         589,852.70              

400-00-44230-0000000 Interest Income 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    163.55               534.61                      
400-00-44240-0000000 Miscellaneous Income 250.00                       250.00                       -                      -                            
400-00-44300-0000000 Events Revenue -                             -                              2,365.00            10,475.00                

Expense Total: 2,486,300.00           2,486,300.00            89,489.55         735,581.70              

Fund: 300 - Water & Sewer Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              89,846.81         550,032.49              

Fund: 400 - MEDC
Revenue

400-00-44110-0000000 Sales Tax Revenue 1,000,000.00            1,000,000.00            79,693.81          578,843.09              

300-30-37101-0000000 Miscellaneous Expenses - Misc -                             -                              (3.01)                   121.89                      
300-30-37102-0000000 Miscellaneous Expenses - Bank Charges 35,000.00                 35,000.00                  2,673.65            17,811.72                
300-30-37205-0000000 Other Expense - Transfer to Captial Projects 628,469.00               628,469.00                -                      -                            

300-30-36900-0000000 Capital Outlay 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      -                            
300-30-37000-0000000 Utility Projects - Prev Maint 76,581.00                 76,581.00                  -                      7,373.30                   
300-30-37003-0000000 Utility Projects - Impact Fees Transfer to CPF 100,000.00               100,000.00                -                      -                            

300-30-36802-0000000 Utilities Expense - Water Plants 82,000.00                 82,000.00                  6,829.28            42,249.64                
300-30-36803-0000000 Utilities Expense - WWTP 60,000.00                 60,000.00                  26.72                  488.97                      
300-30-36804-0000000 Utilities Expense - Lift Stations 20,000.00                 20,000.00                  1,456.15            8,524.79                   

300-30-36701-0000000 Insurance Expense - Liability Insurance 3,800.00                    3,800.00                    (1.35)                   1,380.06                   
300-30-36702-0000000 Insurance Expense - Property Insurance 30,000.00                 30,000.00                  2,455.34            14,782.68                
300-30-36801-0000000 Utilities Expense - Gas For Generators 1,200.00                    1,200.00                    60.94                  514.01                      

300-30-36602-0000000 Maintenance - Vehicle Repair and Maint. 3,000.00                    3,000.00                    203.41               675.60                      
300-30-36604-0000000 Maintenance - Water & Sewer Items 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      1,340.33                   
300-30-36605-0000000 Maintenance - Gas & Oil 7,750.00                    7,750.00                    490.41               3,349.73                   

300-30-36502-0000000 Staff Development - Travel & Training 5,500.00                    5,500.00                    -                      1,510.00                   
300-30-36503-0000000 Staff Development - Employee Relations 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      122.74                      
300-30-36601-0000000 Maintenance - Repairs & Maintenance 175,000.00               175,000.00                (6,367.24)           98,891.57                

300-30-36406-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Computer Technology 28,000.00                 28,000.00                  1,259.60            5,436.83                   
300-30-36407-0000000 Groundwater Reduction Expenses 100.00                       100.00                       -                      634.50                      

300-30-36402-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Copier / Fax Machine 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    384.82               907.35                      
300-30-36403-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Operating Supplies 80,000.00                 80,000.00                  361.94               23,342.53                
300-30-36404-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Uniforms 4,500.00                    4,500.00                    286.97               1,687.08                   

300-30-36307-0000000 Dues & Subscriptions 2,000.00                    2,000.00                    -                      80.00                        
300-30-36400-0000000 Supplies & Equipment 600.00                       600.00                       -                      159.37                      
300-30-36401-0000000 Supplies & Equipment - Chemicals 34,000.00                 34,000.00                  2,384.64            11,152.66                

300-30-36221-0000000 Contract Services - Garbage Pickup 185,000.00               185,000.00                16,422.24          83,514.19                
300-30-36302-0000000 Communications - Advertising/Promotion 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    -                      -                            
300-30-36303-0000000 Permits & Licenses 46,000.00                 46,000.00                  -                      18,400.70                

300-30-36216-0000000 Contract Services - Postage 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      222.96                      
300-30-36217-0000000 Contract Services - Telephone 9,500.00                    9,500.00                    616.66               4,258.06                   
300-30-36218-0000000 Contract Services - Tap Fees & Inspections 75,000.00                 75,000.00                  1,665.00            20,935.47                

300-30-36212-0000000 Contract Services - Sales Tax for Solid Waste 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  1,361.09            8,121.17                   
300-30-36214-0000000 Contract Services - Sludge Hauling 34,000.00                 34,000.00                  7,020.00            14,430.00                
300-30-36215-0000000 Contract Services - Printing 600.00                       600.00                       183.32               595.39                      

300-30-36209-0000000 Contract Services - Billing & Collections 33,000.00                 33,000.00                  2,034.90            26,795.56                
300-30-36210-0000000 Contract Services - Backflow Testing 16,000.00                 16,000.00                  -                      -                            
300-30-36211-0000000 Contract Services - Testing 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  1,051.92            4,717.84                   

300-30-36203-0000000 Contract Services - Legal Fees 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      -                            
300-30-36204-0000000 Contract Services - Engineering 75,000.00                 75,000.00                  -                      55,581.80                
300-30-36208-0000000 Contract Services - Operator 115,000.00               115,000.00                9,445.00            47,225.00                

300-30-36113-0000000 Personnel - COLA 5,600.00                    5,600.00                    -                      -                            
300-30-36114-0000000 Personnel - Dependent Insurance 16,200.00                 16,200.00                  -                      -                            
300-30-36202-0000000 Contract Services - General Consultant Fees 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      25.00                        

300-30-36110-0000000 Personnel - Payroll Taxes 21,000.00                 21,000.00                  -                      7,307.80                   
300-30-36111-0000000 Personnel - Wages 314,000.00               314,000.00                32,120.10          162,395.32              
300-30-36112-0000000 Personnel - Overtime 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    840.16               2,666.64                   

300-30-36106-0000000 Personnel - Life & AD&D Insurance 1,000.00                    1,000.00                    -                      275.63                      
300-30-36107-0000000 Personnel - Crime Insurance 500.00                       500.00                       40.71                  244.26                      
300-30-36108-0000000 Personnel - Retirement Expense 24,000.00                 24,000.00                  -                      9,643.85                   

300-30-36103-0000000 Personnel - Unemployment Insurance 500.00                       500.00                       (314.77)              8.90                          
300-30-36104-0000000 Personnel - Workers Comp 5,200.00                    5,200.00                    322.33               3,105.85                   
300-30-36105-0000000 Personnel - Dental & Vision Insurance 3,200.00                    3,200.00                    310.50               1,575.71                   

300-00-34530-0000000 Utility Contracts -                             -                              0.02                    1,297.57                   
Revenue Total: 2,486,300.00           2,486,300.00            179,336.36       1,285,614.19          

Expense
300-30-36102-0000000 Personnel - Health Insurance 43,000.00                 43,000.00                  3,868.12            20,997.25                

300-00-34450-0000000 Meter Box Replacement 1,500.00                    1,500.00                    -                      885.00                      
300-00-34460-0000000 EndPoint Charge 500.00                       500.00                       -                      185.00                      
300-00-34470-0000000 Miscellaneous Revenue & ETS Revenue 10,500.00                 10,500.00                  880.00               5,468.75                   

300-00-34420-0000000 Impact Fees - Capital Cost 100,000.00               100,000.00                -                      -                            
300-00-34430-0000000 Interest Income 450.00                       450.00                       61.12                  344.81                      
300-00-34440-0000000 Interest earned on Investments 500.00                       500.00                       172.77               255.30                      

300-00-34220-0000000 Solid Waste Revenue 190,000.00               190,000.00                16,609.68          98,853.20                
300-00-34310-0000000 Sales Tax Revenue for Solid Waste 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  1,360.59            8,112.94                   
300-00-34320-0000000 Groundwater Reduction Revenue 195,000.00               195,000.00                11,845.35          91,614.60                
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168,683.95            
50,000.00               

160,000.00            
40,000.00               

125,000.00            
15,000.00               
15,000.00               
32,000.00               

2,500.00                 
-                           

(300.00)                   
-                           

3,968.95                 
14,992.07               

9,584.05                 
10,000.00               

2,143.20                 
3,655.53                 

(8,000.00)                
-                           

7,195.29                 
30,000.00               
10,000.00               

3,558.92                 
(383.84)                   

4,000.00                 
5,564.66                 
2,572.00                 
5,000.00                 

27,500.00               
326.26                    

15,250.00               
9,059.51                 

763,870.55            

752.83                    
4,619.80                 

(36.17)                     
135,660.00            
140,996.46            

93,355.25               
2,010.09                 

-                           
95,365.34              

3,199.20                 
3,199.20

-300
2,500.00                 
2,200.00                 

4,562.95                 
(4.07)                       

7,710.00                 
12,268.88              

12,710.00               
12,710.00

10,400.00               
1.16                         

10,401.16              

7,800.00                 
4,700.00                 

Expense
800-80-86200-0000000 Tourism Expenses 7,800.00                    7,800.00                    -                      -                            
800-80-86300-0000000 Miscellaneous Expenses 4,700.00                    4,700.00                    -                      -                            

Fund: 800 - Hotel Occupancy
Revenue

800-00-84110-0000000 Taxes and Franchise Fees - Hotel Occupancy Taxes 12,500.00                 12,500.00                  -                      2,100.00                   
800-00-84210-0000000 Other Revenues - Interest on Checking 3.00                           3.00                            0.62                    1.84                          

Revenue Total: 12,503.00                 12,503.00                 0.62                    2,101.84                  

Expense
750-75-76240-0000000 Contract Services - Computer Website Services 12,710.00                 12,710.00                  -                      -                            

Expense Total: 12,710.00                 12,710.00                 -                      -                            

Fund: 750 - Court Technology Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              130.19               441.12                      

750-00-74210-0000000 Interest Income -                             -                              0.70                    4.07                          
750-00-74500-0000000 Use of Surplus Funds 7,710.00                    7,710.00                    -                      -                            

Revenue Total: 12,710.00                 12,710.00                 130.19               441.12                      

Expense Total: 2,500.00                   2,500.00                    75.00                 300.00                      

Fund: 700 - Court Security Surplus (Deficit): 1,000.00                   1,000.00                    22.12                 0.80                          

Fund: 750 - Court Technology
Revenue

750-00-74120-0000000 Court Technology Fees 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    129.49               437.05                      

Revenue Total: 3,500.00                   3,500.00                    97.12                 300.80                      

Expense
700-70-76120-0000000 Contracted Services - Security Services 0 0 75 300
700-70-76340-0000000 Baliff Transfer to General Fund 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      -                            

Expense Total: 625,750.00               625,750.00               -                      530,384.66              

Fund: 500 - Debt Service Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              2,307.19            (45,631.12)               

Fund: 700 - Court Security
Revenue

700-00-74110-0000000 Court Fines & Forfeitures - Court Security Fees 3,500.00                    3,500.00                    97.12                  300.80                      

Expense
500-50-56220-0000000 Debt Service Payments - Int. Payments on Note 193,250.00               193,250.00                -                      99,894.75                
500-50-56230-0000000 Debt Service Payments - Paying Agent Fees 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      489.91                      
500-50-56250-0000000 Debt Service Payments - Principal Payments 430,000.00               430,000.00                -                      430,000.00              

500-00-54420-0000000 Other Revenues - Interest on Investments -                             -                              3.05                    36.17                        
500-00-54500-0000000 Use of Surplus Funds 135,660.00               135,660.00                -                      -                            

Revenue Total: 625,750.00               625,750.00               2,307.19            484,753.54              

Fund: 400 - MEDC Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              40,711.47         349,473.25              

Fund: 500 - Debt Service
Revenue

500-00-54110-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Ad Valorem Taxes 485,090.00               485,090.00                2,605.66            484,337.17              
500-00-54120-0000000 Taxes & Franchise Fees - Penalty & Interest 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    (301.52)              380.20                      

400-40-46604-0000000 Administration - Consulting/Professional Serv 40,000.00                 40,000.00                  4,500.00            24,750.00                
400-40-46607-0000000 Administration - Travel & Trainings Expenses 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  34.22                  940.49                      

Expense Total: 1,004,250.00           1,004,250.00            41,510.89         240,379.45              

400-40-46601-0000000 Administration - Transfers to General Fund 55,000.00                 55,000.00                  4,583.34            27,500.00                
400-40-46603-0000000 Administration - Miscellaneous Expenses 500.00                       500.00                       143.75               173.74                      

400-40-46511-0000000 Marketing and Tourism - Website 6,500.00                    6,500.00                    150.00               935.34                      
400-40-46514-0000000 Marketing and Tourism - Social Media Advertising 3,000.00                    3,000.00                    71.53                  428.00                      
400-40-46515-0000000 Marketing and Tourism - Historical Signage 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    -                      -                            

400-40-46339-0000000 Quality of Life - Trick or Treat Historic Mont. 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    -                      1,441.08                   
400-40-46500-0000000 Marketing and Tourism - Category IV -                             -                              -                      383.84                      
400-40-46505-0000000 Marketing and Tourism - Brochures / Printed Lit 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    -                      -                            

400-40-46321-0000000 Quality of Life - Lonestar Flag Fest 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  2,804.71            2,804.71                   
400-40-46322-0000000 Quality of Life - Downtown Enhancement Proj 30,000.00                 30,000.00                  -                      -                            
400-40-46338-0000000 Quality of Life - Fall Heritage Festival 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      -                            

400-40-46318-0000000 Quality of Life - Pet Parade 5,000.00                    5,000.00                    -                      1,344.47                   
400-40-46319-0000000 Quality of Life - Montgomery Fall Festival -                             -                              -                      8,000.00                   
400-40-46320-0000000 Quality of Life - Snow in Historic Mont TX 20,000.00                 14,367.69                  -                      14,367.69                

400-40-46314-0000000 Quality of Life - Montgomery Quilt Walk 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      415.95                      
400-40-46315-0000000 Quality of Life - Montgomery Antiques Festival 10,000.00                 10,000.00                  -                      -                            
400-40-46316-0000000 Quality of Life - Movie Night 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      356.80                      

400-40-46311-0000000 Quality of Life - Christmas Parade 10,000.00                 6,826.47                    -                      6,826.47                   
400-40-46312-0000000 Quality of Life - Contests / Prizes 4,000.00                    4,000.00                    -                      31.05                        
400-40-46313-0000000 Quality of Life - Events - Equipment 10,000.00                 19,956.85                  90.00                  4,964.78                   

400-40-46304-0000000 Quality of Life - Neighborhood Water Party 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    -                      -                            
400-40-46308-0000000 Quality of Life - Light up Montgomery 4,000.00                    2,848.99                    -                      2,848.99                   
400-40-46310-0000000 Quality of Life - Mudbugs and Music -                             8,000.00                    8,300.00            8,300.00                   

400-40-46206-0000000 Business & Development - Econ Dev Grant Prog 20,000.00                 20,000.00                  -                      5,000.00                   
400-40-46302-0000000 Quality of Life - Removal of Blight 15,000.00                 15,000.00                  -                      -                            
400-40-46303-0000000 Quality of Life - Events 40,000.00                 32,000.00                  -                      -                            

400-40-46107-0000000 Public Infrastructure - Transfer to Capital Proj 160,000.00               160,000.00                -                      -                            
400-40-46111-0000000 Public Infrastructure - Streets & Sidewalks 40,000.00                 40,000.00                  -                      -                            
400-40-46205-0000000 Business & Development - Sales Tax Reimb 250,000.00               250,000.00                20,833.34          125,000.00              

Expense
400-40-46103-0000000 Public Infrastructure - Downtown Dev. Imp. 172,250.00               172,250.00                -                      3,566.05                   
400-40-46104-0000000 Public Infrastructure - Utility Extensions 50,000.00                 50,000.00                  -                      -                            

Original 
Total Budget

Current 
Total Budget MTD Activity YTD Activity
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12,500.00              

Fund: 800 - Hotel Occupancy Surplus (Deficit): 3.00                           3.00                            0.62                    2,101.84                  

Total Surplus (Deficit): 1,709.00                   1,709.00                    97,616.35         1,520,338.42          

Expense Total: 12,500.00                 12,500.00                 -                      -                            
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2,236,084.66         
3,150,909.03         
(914,824.37)           

4,324,243.01         
4,072,632.68         

251,610.33            

1,200,685.81         
1,750,718.30         
(550,032.49)           

414,397.30            
763,870.55            

(349,473.25)           

140,996.46            
95,365.34               
45,631.12              

3,199.20                 
2,200.00                 

999.20                    

12,268.88               
12,710.00               

(441.12)                   

10,401.16               
12,500.00               
(2,098.84)               

Original Total Budget
706.00                              

-                                    
-                                    
-                                    
-                                    

1,000.00                           
-                                    

3.00                                  
1,709.00                                                                                   1,709.00                                          133,051.41          1,520,338.42             

700 - Court Security 1,000.00                                          22.12                     0.80                             999.20                 
750 - Court Technology -                                                    130.19                  441.12                        (441.12)               
800 - Hotel Occupancy 3.00                                                  0.62                       2,101.84                     (2,098.84)            

300 - Water & Sewer -                                                    89,846.81             550,032.49                (550,032.49)        
400 - MEDC -                                                    40,711.47             349,473.25                (349,473.25)        
500 - Debt Service -                                                    2,307.19               (45,631.12)                 45,631.12           

Fund Summary

Fund Current Total Budget MTD Activity YTD Activity
Budget 

Remaining
100 - General Fund 706.00                                              (35,435.06)            915,530.37                (914,824.37)        
200 - Capital Projects -                                                    33.01                     (251,610.33)               251,610.33         

Expense 12,500.00                 12,500.00                  -                      -                            
Fund: 800 - Hotel Occupancy Surplus (Deficit): 3.00                           3.00                            0.62                    2,101.84                  

Total Surplus (Deficit): 1,709.00                   1,709.00                    97,616.35         1,520,338.42          

Revenue 12,710.00                 12,710.00                  130.19               441.12                      
Expense 12,710.00                 12,710.00                  -                      -                            

Fund: 750 - Court Technology Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              130.19               441.12                      

Fund: 800 - Hotel Occupancy
Revenue 12,503.00                 12,503.00                  0.62                    2,101.84                   

Fund: 700 - Court Security
Revenue 3,500.00                    3,500.00                    97.12                  300.80                      
Expense 2,500.00                    2,500.00                    75.00                  300.00                      

Fund: 700 - Court Security Surplus (Deficit): 1,000.00                   1,000.00                    22.12                 0.80                          

Fund: 750 - Court Technology

Fund: 400 - MEDC Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              40,711.47         349,473.25              

Fund: 500 - Debt Service
Revenue 625,750.00               625,750.00                2,307.19            484,753.54              
Expense 625,750.00               625,750.00                -                      530,384.66              

Fund: 500 - Debt Service Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              2,307.19            (45,631.12)               

Expense 2,486,300.00            2,486,300.00            89,489.55          735,581.70              
Fund: 300 - Water & Sewer Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              89,846.81         550,032.49              

Fund: 400 - MEDC
Revenue 1,004,250.00            1,004,250.00            82,222.36          589,852.70              
Expense 1,004,250.00            1,004,250.00            41,510.89          240,379.45              

Revenue 4,532,975.00            4,532,975.00            61,910.01          208,731.99              
Expense 4,532,975.00            4,532,975.00            61,877.00          460,342.32              

Fund: 200 - Capital Projects Surplus (Deficit): -                             -                              33.01                 (251,610.33)            

Fund: 300 - Water & Sewer
Revenue 2,486,300.00            2,486,300.00            179,336.36        1,285,614.19           

Fund: 100 - General Fund
Revenue 5,406,080.00            5,406,080.00            328,843.29        3,169,995.34           
Expense 5,405,374.00            5,405,374.00            364,278.35        2,254,464.97           

Fund: 100 - General Fund Surplus (Deficit): 706.00                       706.00                       (35,435.06)        915,530.37              

Fund: 200 - Capital Projects

Group Summary
Original 

Total Budget
Current 

Total Budget MTD Activity YTD Activity
Budget 

RemainingAccount Type
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                 City of Montgomery
                               Debt Service Payments

                               04/01/2022 - 04/01/2023

Debt Service Payment Due 

09/01/2022

      First National Bank of 

Huntsville

2015 - 

Refunding
09/01/2022 0.00 3,647.50 3,647.50

Bank of Texas 2017A - WS&D 09/01/2022
0.00 4,742.25

4,742.25

Bank of Texas 2017B - WS&D 09/01/2022
0.00 9,521.25

9,521.25

Amegy Bank of Texas
2021 - 

Refunding
09/01/2022

0.00 75,425.00
75,425.00

Total Due 09/01/2022 0.00          93,336.00          93,336.00 

Debt Service Payment Due 

03/01/2023

      First National Bank of 

Huntsville

2015 - 

Refunding
03/01/2023 90,000.00 3,647.50 93,647.50

Bank of Texas 2017A - WS&D 03/01/2023
50,000.00 4,742.25

54,742.25

Bank of Texas 2017B - WS&D 03/01/2023
80,000.00 9,521.25

89,521.25

Amegy Bank of Texas
2021 - 

Refunding
03/01/2023

230,000.00 75,425.00
305,425.00

Total Due 03/01/2023 450,000.00 93,336.00 543,336.00

City Total $450,000.00 $186,672.00 $636,672.00
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Montgomery Police Department 
Chief Anthony Solomon 

 

Activity Report  
 

March 1, 2022 – March 31, 2022 
 

Patrol Division 
 

Calls for Service   -  201 
Total Reports    -  28 
Citations Issued   -  125 
Warnings Issued   -  245 
Arrests    -  13 
Accidents    -  7 
 
Personnel/Training 
 
Officer Griffin attended Criminal Investigation/Street Patrol training in March. 
 
Officers Lozano, Hensley and Graves attended Leadership for FTO training in March. 
 
Lieutenant Belmares and Sergeant Hernandez attended Managing Traffic Enforcement training in 
March. 
 
Investigation Division 

Total number of assigned cases to C.I.D. for the month: 8 
 
 

Breakdown by Offense Category 
 

 DWI        4 
 Drug Arrests/Citations     5 
 Family Violence/Assault     2 
 Criminal Mischief      2 
 Unauthorized Use of MV     1 
 Fraud        3 
 Weapons Offenses      1 
 Theft        2 
 Assault on a Peace Officer     1 
 Indency       1 
 Driving While License Invalid    1 
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Major Incidents  
 
No Major Incidents in March. 
 
Upcoming Events 
 

 April 20th – The Citizen’s Police Academy begins weekly for 8 weeks. 
 April 29th-May 1st – Antiques Festival 
 May 28th – Montgomery Homecoming Parade 
 June 29th – CERT course begins for 9 weeks 

 
 
Traffic and Safety Initiatives 
 

 Our department participated in Impaired Driving Mobilization during the month of March. 
The aim of this TXDOT program is to take impaired drivers off the street. 
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City of Montgomery 

Operations Report  
March 2022 

02/18/22 – 03/17/22 
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Page 2 of 7 
 

District Alerts 
 
02/21/2022—Water Plant 2, Phase failure 
Upon arrival operator found facility running normal. Operator investigated the area and call out 
due to a power surge in the area.  
 
02/23/2022 – Lift Station 3, Lift Pumps 
During regular facility check-in operator found lift pumps had ragged up with debris. Lift pump 
was pulled and cleaned. No further issues.  
 
02/25/2022— WWTP1 
Operator was called out to facility due to clarifier bulking heavily. Pinnacle was notified and 
arrived at facility and found transfer line in aeration was clogged. The facility was cleared of the 
blockage and no further issues.  
 
02/25/2022— WWTP1  
Operator was called out to facility due to blower 1 sending surge alert. Operator investigated the 
issue and reset facility equipment. No further issues, call out due to a possible power outage.  
 
02/28/2022—Water Plant 2, GST  
Upon arrival operator found facility overflowing. Operator investigated the area and found a 
check valve on blower pump 2 leaking. Repairs were made and no issues were reported.  
 
02/28/2022— WWTP2 
Upon arrival operator noticed the breaker on non-potable pump 1 is corroded and wires were 
heating. Repairs were made and no further issues were reported.  
 
03/07/2022— Water quality, 602 Worsham 
Resident reported having poor water quality. Technician arrived at the location and flushed the 
nearest hydrants. No further issues were reported.  
 
03/08/2022— Lift Station 3, High level  
Operator was called out to facility due to high wet well. Operator investigated the area and found 
lift pumps ragged. Maintenance was notified and cleared the pumps.   
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Page 3 of 7 
 

Wastewater Plant Flow Detail 
 

 

 
 

 Flow for the month of February - March was 5,231,000 gallons   
 

 Daily peak flow was March 9, 2022 was 331,000 gallons  
 

 Average Daily Flow 186,800 gallons 
 

o 3-month average flow 189,667 gallons 
 

o 47% of permitted capacity   
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Page 4 of 7 
 

Discharge Limitations 
 

 Daily Average Flow 400,000 gallons (0.4 MGD) 
 2-Hour Peak Flow 833 gpm 
 CBOD daily average 10 mg/l 
 Total Suspended Solids (TSS) 15 mg/l 
 Ammonium Nitrogen (NH3) 2 mg/l 
 Chlorine Residual >1.0 mg/l < 4.0 mg/l 

 The current permit expires 06/01/2022 
 
 
Effluent 
 
TSS, DO, E.Coli, NH3N, PH sample results were all comfortable within the parameters set by the 
State of Texas. 
 
  Buffalo Springs WWTP Effluent Monitoring Report 

Effluent Permitted Values Parameter Measured Excursion 

Average Monthly T.S.S. 15 mg/l 2.00 no 

Average Monthly NH3 2 mg/l 0.20 no 

Minimal CL2 Residual 1 mg/l 1.12 no 

Max CL2 Residual 4 mg/l 3.22 no 

Rainfall for the Month 
 

3.50 inches  
  There were no excursions for the month of March. 
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Water Report:  
 
02/18/2022-03/17/2022 
 

2022 

Well Name Recorded Flow 
MGD % of Total Rating MGD/Day YTD Pumpage 

MGD YTD % Permitted 
Value 

Remaining 
Permit % 

Well 2 0.977 12.16% 0.864 7.306 33.14% 
92.930 88.30% 

Well 3 2.394 29.79% 0.864 3.570 16.19% 

Well 4 4.665 58.05% 2.160 10.580 47.99% 90.000 88.24% 

Total 8.036 100.00% 3.888 22.044 97% 182.930   

Flushing                          0.525             

Subtotal 7.511             

Sold 7.184             

% Accounted 96%             

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CONNECTIONS 
School 12 
Commercial Inside 172 
Commercial Outside 1 
Residential Inside 861 
Residential Outside 29 
Church 14 
City 15 
Hydrant 7 
Multifamily 14 
n/a 3 
Total 1128 

Accountability  
Total Water Sourced 8.036 
Flushing 0.525 

Subtotal 7.511 

Sold 7.184 

Accountability % 96% 
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Date Total  Well_1 Well_2 Well_3 Well_4 

AVG 11.12 0.000 1.719 5.059 4.291 

3/19/2021 8.527 0.000 1.580 3.693 4.830 

4/19/2021 9.314 0.000 0.185 3.572 7.080 

5/19/2021 10.103 0.000 0.642 4.734 4.989 

6/19/2021 10.837 0.000 0.773 4.962 3.741 

7/19/2021 10.365 0.000 0.372 6.073 4.093 

8/19/2021 9.476 0.000 1.421 8.492 4.495 

9/19/2021 10.538 0.000 1.490 10.916 4.451 

10/19/2021 14.408 0.000 1.902 7.784 4.116 

11/19/2021 16.857 0.000 1.088 6.855 3.602 

12/19/2021 13.802 0.000 3.066 4.41 2.343 

1/19/2022 11.545 0.000 5.511 0.124 3.281 

2/19/2022 9.819 0.000 3.343 1.764 4.093 

3/19/2022 8.916 0.000 0.977 2.394 4.665 

Total  144.51 0.000 22.35 65.773 55.779 
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Ground Water Production
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Well 3
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Date Accountability  Unaccounted  
Total 

Sourced  
Water 
Sold  

Flushing/ 
Leaks 

Unbilled 
Water 

3/19/2021 94% 0.618 10.103 8.642 0.843 1.461 

4/19/2021 97% 0.328 10.837 10.126 0.383 0.711 

5/19/2021 96% 0.465 10.365 9.722 0.178 0.643 

6/19/2021 96% 0.332 9.476 8.966 0.178 0.510 

7/19/2021 94% 0.634 10.538 9.803 0.101 0.735 

8/19/2021 98% 0.355 14.408 13.579 0.474 0.829 

9/19/2021 97% 0.577 16.857 16.097 0.183 0.760 

10/19/2021 94% 0.885 13.802 12.760 0.157 1.042 

11/19/2021 95% 0.632 11.545 10.758 0.155 0.787 

12/19/2021 91% 0.904 9.819 8.721 0.194 1.098 

1/19/2022 96% 0.401 8.916 8.125 0.39 0.791 

2/19/2022 103% -0.237 9.200 8.002 1.435 1.198 

3/19/2022 96% 0.327 8.036 7.184 0.525 0.852 
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Water Accountability

Total
Sourced
Water Sold

Unbilled
Water
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Utilities $115,422.27 

Permits $33,186.50 

Vendor Permit $660.00 

Flags Sold $271.00 

Community Building/ Park Rentals $3,225.00 

Community Building Deposit $300.00 

PD Reimbursement- 100-11-16502 $525.00 

PD Reimbursement- AUR Hearing $10.00 

PD Reimbursement- Larry Evans/ MM&MF $300.00 

Due to Utility Fund $22,218.00 

Golf Cart Fee $25.00 

ROW Fees $4.08 

Street Festival Permit $100.00 

Goat Statues $800.00 

Antiques Festival $2,365.00 

Street Festival Deposit $300.00 

Online Transaction Fees Web Payments $567.50 

Monthly Total: $180,279.35 

TOTAL REVENUE

UTILITY/GENERAL FUND REPORT – MARCH 2022
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60 Days 90 Days 120+ Days

Number of Accounts 7 3 33

Amount $559.14 $174.85 $4,323.74 

$5,057.73 

Building-Commercial 2

1New Occupancy 

19

Building-Residential

Plumbing

Mechanical

Electrical

7

25

13

Irrigation

Pool 2

Solar 1

Generator 3

3

       ARREARS

GRAND TOTAL:

Permit Total

       PERMITS

Type

Total Number of Active Accts. 992

TOTAL

30

11

        UTILITIES

New Water Accts.

Disconnected Water Accts.

76
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ACCOUNT NAME ACCT # Feb-22 Mar-22 Mar-21

Community Building Irrigation (01-8732-00) 5,000 16,000 1,000

Community Building (01-0130-00) 1,000 1,000 6,000

City Cemetery (01-1110-00) 0 0 0

City Welcome Sign Irrigation (01-8733-00) 0 0 0

Cedar Brake Park Irrigation (01-8736-00) 0 1,000 0

Cedar Brake Park Restrooms (01-8735-00) 1,000 2,000 2,000

Fernland Park (01-8737-00) 0 2,000 1,000

Welcome Flags (01-8734-00) 0 0 0

Community Building Stage Irrigation (01-6180-00) 0 1,000 0

Buffalo Springs Sewer Plant (01-8821-00) 47,000 1,000 2,000

Homecoming Park Restrooms (01-8820-00) 0 1,000 1,000

Homecoming Park Drinking 

Fountain
(01-8738-00) 0 0 1,000

City Hall & Irrigation (01-6190-00) 5,000 19,000 4,000

Cooling Tower Feed (01-0355-00) 51,000 44,000 21,000

Memory Park (01-5885-00) 9,000 46,000 28,000

         CITY ACCOUNT WATER USAGE
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ACCOUNT NAME

City Hall & Irrigation

Cooling Tower Feed

Memory Park
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